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In order to succeed in the
world’s most dynamic beer
market, you need the right
strategies, the right brands
and the right culture.
Welcome to
Asia Pacific Breweries.
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Continuing successful
regionalisation
Our vision is to become
the leading brewer in the
Asia Pacific region.
Our strategy of continuing
regional investment has
resulted in dynamic
growth at consistently
high levels.
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Continuing successful regionalisation

For the sixth consecutive year, we have delivered double-digit growth in
attributable profits before exceptional items. The return on shareholders’ equity
increased by a compounded annual growth rate of 8% over five years. This would
not have been possible without our policy of vigorous regional expansion, mergers
and acquisitions, effective cost management and constant investments. In 2005,
profit before interest, taxation and exceptional items exceeded $200 million for
the first time.

Attributable profit before exceptional items
($m)
2000 61.9
2001 74.5
2002 84.4
2003 93.6
2004 104.8
2005 115.5

Return on average shareholders’
equity before exceptional items
(%)
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005

9.4
11.3
12.0
12.5
13.3
13.8

Attributable profit before exceptional items has
represented well over 5% of revenue for the past
five years.

From 1999 to 2005
– rising profits and
shareholder value
six years in a row
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From 32% to 80% – the
growth in profit contribution
from regional markets
With a small home market, our regional strategy has been to grow from a local
brewery to a regional company. As a result of its success, the proportion
of profits before interest, taxation and exceptional items (PBIT) generated outside
of Singapore has increased steadily from 32% in 1989 to 80% in 2005.
PBIT generated by the Group has increased 150% since 1989 and profit from
the rest of our business outside of Singapore has increased five fold.

Singapore
20%

Regional
80%
Regional
32%

Singapore
68%
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Continuing successful regionalisation

From a brewery
in one country –
to breweries in nine
China

•
•• •
•

••••

•
•
Thailand

•

Cambodia

Sri Lanka

•

Vietnam

•

•
• Malaysia
Singapore •
• Papua New Guinea
•

•
New Zealand

We have steadily expanded from a single brewery in Singapore to 23 throughout
Asia Pacific. The latest, acquired in September 2005, is in Sri Lanka, which is our
first venture into South Asia. With a beer market set to grow at 6% a year, it fits well
into our strategy for the next wave of growth for APB.
We have benefited from the rapid economic development of countries in the
region. A case in point: our operations in Indochina are now the largest contributor
to Group PBIT.
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Continuing successful regionalisation

•

•
•
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A growing global
footprint for Tiger Beer
A central plank of our
mission is to develop
Tiger Beer into a leading
Pan-Asian brand. We
shall maintain an
aggressive approach to
brand-building in existing
markets while intensifying
distribution efforts into
new markets.
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A growing global footprint for Tiger Beer

Singapore

Bangladesh

Brunei

Bhutan

Malaysia

East Timor

India

Indonesia

Labuan

Laos

Japan

Maldives

Mongolia

Nepal

New Zealand

North Korea

Pacific Islands

Pakistan
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Soloman Islands

South Korea

Sri Lanka

Taiwan
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USA
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Denmark
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Finland

France

Germany
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Italy

The Netherlands

Norway

Poland

Russia

Ireland

Spain

Sweden

Switzerland

UK

Turkey

Dubai/UAE

Oman

Qatar

Nigeria

South Africa

Sierra Leone

Burkina Faso

China

Cambodia

Vietnam

Thailand

Australia

From one country –
to 60

Today Tiger Beer is available in more than 60 countries, which range from
South Africa to North Korea and from western Europe to the eastern seaboard
of the USA. In many Western markets, Tiger Beer now symbolises Asian Cool.

Tiger Beer is available in almost every country in the Asia Pacific region, and is
brewed in seven of them – Singapore, Malaysia, Cambodia, Vietnam, Thailand,
China and Myanmar*. By 2007, it will also be produced at our new brewery
in Mongolia.
* Managed by Fraser and Neave, Limited
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A growing global footprint for Tiger Beer

From home in Singapore
to offices in the UK and
USA – Tiger’s travelled
a long way

Tiger Beer’s export growth has been consistently led by its strong performance
in the UK where it is now the leading Asian beer brand. In October 2005, we
opened an office in the UK to spearhead development of the brand, directly
overseeing its marketing, sales and distribution for the first time.
Tiger Beer is now found in over 8,000 premium bars/clubs and distribution outlets
in UK’s major cities such as London, Manchester, Leeds, Newcastle, Glasgow,
Edinburgh, Belfast and Cardiff.
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A growing global footprint for Tiger Beer

From number one
in one country –
to a leader in many
Tiger Beer has long been the No.1 brand in Singapore, and a leader in Malaysia.
It is also one of the leading brands in Vietnam and Cambodia, and is the No.1
imported Asian beer brand in the UK and Ireland.
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Strong Asia Pacific
presence of Heineken
Consistent high quality
has made Heineken the
world’s most international
premium beer, and
throughout the Asia
Pacific, the quality of our
marketing support and
brewing operations has
ensured consistent
profitable growth.
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Strong Asia Pacific presence of Heineken

From big to bigger –
steady growth from
a high base
By 2000, Heineken was already a powerful presence in the Asia Pacific region.
Since then, we have more than doubled the volumes that we sell.
We first brewed Heineken in Singapore. Now we brew it in countries across
the region: Singapore, Malaysia, Vietnam, Thailand, New Zealand and
since early 2004, in China.
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Strong Asia Pacific presence of Heineken

From nowhere
to everywhere –
delivering in Thailand

Since Heineken entered the Thai market in 1993, we have grown its share of
the premium beer segment to 94% in 2005. We shall continue to innovate
aggressively to stimulate growth and further raise our market share.
Consistent marketing investment and strong execution has seen a steady
increase in Heineken’s share of the premium beer market in Thailand over
the years.
Heineken’s share of the
Thai premium beer market
(%)
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
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71
75
77
85
94
Strong Asia Pacific presence of Heineken

In each of the past five years, sales of Heineken in Vietnam have shown double
digit growth. In the north, it is still our fastest growing brand; and in the south, we
are increasing the production capacity of the brewery by 50% to keep pace with
demand of Heineken, as well as our other beer brands.
For three consecutive years since 2002, our South Vietnam brewery has won
the Heineken Brewery Award. It also won the Heineken Quality Award in 2002
and 2003. Both awards recognise the brewery as the best Heineken brewery
in the world.

From south to north –
keeping up with demand
throughout Vietnam
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Strong Asia Pacific presence of Heineken

Strong portfolio
of beer brands
From Heineken, the most
widely available beer brand
in the world,to Tiger Beer,
brewed in more Asian
countries than any other
Asian beer, to beers that
are only sold in their home
countries, we have a
portfolio of brands whose
breadth and depth is
perfectly matched to the
markets they serve.
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Strong portfolio of beer brands

From one brand to
over 40 – meeting
more needs
We have a powerful portfolio of global and international brands, national and local
brands, each carefully targeted to the different consumers in the different markets.
We will also constantly innovate and develop new brands to meet new needs.
We build brands to drive growth in every segment of the beer market that
we engage in.
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By combining local and international brands, we effectively cater to our customers’
needs and have built leading positions in several of our markets. We’re the No.1
brewer in Singapore, Cambodia and Papua New Guinea, and one of the two
major brewers in Malaysia and New Zealand.
In Cambodia, for instance, we have developed a No.1 position by offering Tiger
Beer to the goal-getters who seek a premium brand; Anchor to those who value
fun and friendship; Gold Crown to those who are looking for quality at an affordable
price and ABC Extra Stout to those who have achieved social status.

From combinations
of brands –
to market leadership
16
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Strong portfolio of beer brands

From 1939 to
2005 – 66 years of
recognising quality
We won our first medal for the quality of Tiger Beer in 1939, and the most recent
in 2005. There have been over 30 others in between, won in London, Hong Kong
and Barcelona. It’s not just Tiger Beer, and it’s not just brewing that win recognition
for us. Our brands increasingly win accolades for the quality of their marketing or
world class packaging.
Our other brands have won many quality awards. Anchor, ABC Extra Stout,
Baron’s Strong Brew, Gold Crown and Monteith’s have all been winners of
international beer awards.
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Strong portfolio of beer brands

China bearing fruit
Already the largest
beer market in the world,
China continues to offer
significant long-term
growth potential. We are
investing to secure our
position as one of the
major players in a market
that is rapidly consolidating.
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China bearing fruit

In the past two years we have acquired strategic stakes in breweries covering
both the Yangtze River Delta and Pearl River Delta. The latest, Jiangsu Dafuhao
Breweries, is one of the most profitable breweries in one of the richest provinces of
China. It has four plants and a 12% share of the 14.6 million-hectolitre beer market
in Jiangsu – which accounts for 5% of the total Chinese market.
Kingway Brewery, in which we bought a stake in 2004, sells its main brand,
Kingway, in Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan as well as in the 18 million-hectolitre
Guangdong market.

From two breweries to 10
– strategic acquisitions in
the past two years
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China bearing fruit

From 4.2m to 13.5m hl –
our brewing capacity has
tripled since 2003*
The Chinese beer market has grown by 10% from January to September 2005
on top of a 15.2% increase in 2004. Despite the tripling of our capacity since 2003,
we have still seen demand outstripping supply. So we’re building new breweries to
cater to this growing demand.
For the full year, our beer volumes in China grew by over 80%# – the highest
increase in any market.

2003
4.2 million hectolitres

2005
13.5 million hectolitres

* Includes the brewing capacity of Kingway Brewery and
Jiangsu Dafuhao Breweries. Heineken-APB (China) holds
a 21% interest in the former and 40% share in the latter.
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China bearing fruit

Includes sales of Kingway Brewery and Jiangsu
Dafuhao Breweries.

All of the Heineken sold in China is now brewed in China. The success of Heineken
and of the other two brands brewed at the Shanghai brewery – Reeb and Tiger
Beer – led to a record level of production at the brewery last year, of 2 million hectolitres.

From import to licence –
local brewing of Heineken
in the world’s biggest
beer market
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China bearing fruit

Where next?
We shall continue to seek
growth through regional
investments made over
the last decade and
bolster our positions in our
key markets. By investing
in our brands, we shall
further strengthen our
foundation and grow
market shares.
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Where next?

From where we are
to where we want to be
We will maintain leadership positions in the key markets where we are already
strong – Singapore, Malaysia, Thailand, Vietnam, Cambodia, Papua New Guinea
and New Zealand – by offering our customers a portfolio of brands that caters to
all segments of the beer market.
We will continue to invest in expansion within markets and through external
growth. Within our existing markets we will increase capacity where necessary,
seek to grow market share, innovate, open up new income streams and introduce
new brands. Externally we will establish strategic alliances, look at mergers and
acquisitions, and at new export markets.
Our regional development strategy sees us acquiring strategic interests in
domestic breweries within selected markets to create defendable and profitable
businesses, and also developing greenfield brewery opportunities. In the second
half of 2005 we have done both, announcing a US$15 million investment in a new
brewery in Mongolia, in which we own a 55% stake, and the purchase of a 60%
stake in one of Sri Lanka’s leading breweries. This is in addition to our continuing
investment in China, which in 2005 has seen us acquire a 40% stake in Jiangsu's
top brewery, Dafuhao, and a new plant in Wujiang.
We will develop our flagship Tiger Beer into a leading Pan-Asian brand –
introducing it into as many countries in the Asia Pacific region as possible. We will
also establish it in more markets around the world as is sensible – in Europe, USA
and the Middle East.
A wholly-owned subsidiary has been opened in the UK in 2005, giving us direct
control over the sales and marketing of Tiger Beer there. We are confident that the
‘close-to-market’ strategy we have previously employed with great success in the
US, will allow us to cater more effectively to European consumers’ needs.
We will continue building on the strength of our multi-brand portfolio, which caters
to diversified consumer preferences in different markets by having a combination
of local, regional and international brands.
The acquisition of United Breweries Lanka [renamed to Asia Pacific Brewery
(Lanka)], for example, gives us a number of new local beer brands that we believe
can benefit from the application of our brand expertise. Their distribution system
also provides an opportunity for us to cross sell our beer brands into the various
segments of the Sri Lankan market.
We will continue to innovate – to constantly improve the productivity of our
operations, and to enhance our brand offerings through new products and
packaging.
In the recent years, for example, we have launched Amber Stout in Vietnam,
Tiger Crystal Lite and a range of Anchor beers in China, and Cheers in Thailand
– all specifically to cater to consumer demands and preferences within individual
markets.
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Where next?

Top & middle:
Mr Edmond Neo, CEO of
Asia Pacific Brewery (Lanka) will
be overseeing our operations and
marketing of our beers in Sri Lanka.
Bottom:
Mongolia will be the eighth country
to brew Tiger Beer.
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Organisation structure
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited
APB’s shareholding

100%

Asia Pacific Breweries (Singapore) Pte Ltd,
Singapore

60%

Asia Pacific Brewery (Lanka) Limited,
Sri Lanka

80%

Cambodia Brewery Limited,
Cambodia

100%

DB Breweries Limited,
New Zealand

25.5%

Guinness Anchor Berhad,
Malaysia

100%

Hatay Brewery Limited,
Vietnam

50%*

Heineken-APB (China) Pte. Ltd.,
China
100%

Heineken-APB (China) Management Services, Co., Ltd,
China

97%

Shanghai Asia Pacific Brewery Co. Ltd,
China

100%

Hainan Asia Pacific Brewery Company Ltd,
China

100%

Heineken Trading (Shanghai) Co. Ltd,
China

21.5%

Kingway Brewery Holdings Limited,
China

40%

Jiangsu Dafuhao Breweries Co., Ltd,
China

55%

MCS-Asia Pacific Brewery LLC,
Mongolia

75.8%

South Pacific Brewery Limited,
Papua New Guinea

35%

Thai Asia Pacific Brewery Co. Ltd,
Thailand

60%

Vietnam Brewery Limited,
Vietnam

100%

Tiger Export Pte Ltd,
Singapore
100%

Tiger Beer USA Inc.,
United States of America

100%

Tiger Beer UK Ltd,
United Kingdom
* The other 50% is owned by Asia Pacific Investment Pte Ltd,
which is jointly and equally owned by Fraser and Neave,
Limited and Heineken
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Organisation structure

Group at a glance

Established markets
We have been in Singapore since the 1930s,
Papua New Guinea since the 1950s, Malaysia
since the 1960s, and entered New Zealand in
the 1990s. These countries are our established
markets in which we generate predictable earnings
and are established leaders.

Growth engines
Thailand, Vietnam and Cambodia – markets
that we entered in the first half of the 1990s –
are our growth engines. These are markets in
which we are well positioned, that we understand,
and in which we benefit from rapid economic
development and increased disposable incomes.

Next wave
We have been involved in China since opening
our Shanghai brewery in the late 1980s, and
know more about this complex, challenging and
tremendously important market than most of our
competitors. China is where we are investing for
the future, and together with our core export
markets of Europe and the USA, this is where we
expect to reap our long term rewards as a global
business.
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Countries
covered

Brands

– Singapore
– Malaysia
– New Zealand
– Papua New
Guinea

– Tiger Beer
– Heineken
– Anchor
– Guinness FES
– ABC Extra Stout
– Baron’s
Strong Brew
– DB Draught
– Export Gold
– Monteith’s
– Tui
– Amstel Light
– SP Lager
– Niugini ICE
– South Pacific
Export Lager

– Vietnam
– Cambodia
– Thailand

– Tiger Beer
– Heineken
– Anchor
– ABC Extra Stout
– Amber Stout
– Bivina
– Cheers
– Gold Crown

18%

– China
– Export

– Tiger Beer
– Heineken
– Anchor
– Reeb
– Aoke
– Hainan Beer
– Dafuhao
– BBOSS
– Kingway
– Tongzhou
– Changjiang

59%

Group at a glance

PBIT percentage change
from 2004 to 2005

13%

Five-year group statistics
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited & Subsidiary Companies
Revenue
Profit before interest, taxation
and exceptional items
Profit before taxation
and exceptional items
Attributable profit
– before exceptional items
Attributable profit
Attributable profit
– before exceptional items/ Revenue
Share capital and reserves
Total assets employed
Attributable profit
– before exceptional items as a percentage
of average shareholders’ equity
Per $1 share
– Attributable profit before
exceptional items
– Attributable profit
– Dividends for year
(net, after tax)
– Net tangible assets
Gross dividend yield
– based on highest share price for the year

2001

2002

($m) 1,011.3

1,095.7

177.1

199.6

220.4

($m)

130.6

144.1

181.9

203.1

225.0

($m)
($m)

74.5
95.2

84.4
84.9

93.6
94.1

104.8
102.5

115.5
116.2

(%)
7.4
($m)
679.9
($m) 1,017.1

7.7
723.2
1,056.2

11.3

12.0

12.5

13.3

13.8

(cents)
(cents)

29.4
37.6

33.3
33.5

36.8
37.0

41.1
40.2

45.1
45.4

(cents)
($)

18.0
2.66

24.0
2.81

26.0
3.00

28.0
2.80

30.0
2.98

(%)

5.4

5.4

4.9

3.8

4.2

($m)

($m)
74.5
84.4
93.6
104.8
115.5

2001
2002
2003
2004
2005

679.9
723.2
773.5
806.7
865.2

Attributable profit before
exceptional items as % of revenue

Attributable profit before exceptional
items per $1 share

Market
capitalisation

(%)

(cents)

($m)

7.4
7.7
7.3
7.6
8.0

2001
2002
2003
2004
2005

29.4
33.3
36.8
41.1
45.1

2001
2002
2003
2004
2005

Return on average shareholders’
equity before exceptional items

Gross dividend yield based on highest
share price for the year

(%)

(%)

2001
2002
2003
2004
2005

11.3
12.0
12.5
13.3
13.8

Asia Pacific Breweries Limited
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2002
2003
2004
2005
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7.3
7.6
8.0
773.5
806.7
865.2
1,155.6 1,158.1 1,274.1

(%)

($m)

2001
2002
2003
2004
2005

1,278.9 1,370.7 1,436.4

140.3

Share capital
and reserves

2001
2002
2003
2004
2005

2005

123.7

Attributable profit before
exceptional items

123.7
140.3
177.1
199.6
220.4

2004

($m)

Profit before interest, taxation
and exceptional items
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005

2003

5.4
5.4
4.9
3.8
4.2

Five-year group statistics

1,078.3
1,259.4
1,552.6
1,954.6
2,295.2

Note: Market capitalisation is based on share price at close
of business on first trading day after preliminary
announcement of full-year results.

Group financial highlights
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited & Subsidiary Companies
Notes

Profit statement
Revenue
Profit before interest, taxation and exceptional items
Profit before taxation
Profit after taxation
Attributable profit
– before exceptional items
– after exceptional items

2005

($m)
($m)
($m)
($m)

Balance sheet
Shareholders’ equity
Total assets
Market capitalisation at 14 Nov 2005 (16 Nov 2004)
Financial ratio
Return on average shareholders’ equity
– Profit before taxation
– Attributable profit before exceptional items
Profit before interest, taxation and exceptional items
as a percentage of revenue
Profit before taxation as a percentage of revenue
Profit after taxation as a percentage of revenue
Per share data
Profit before taxation
Attributable profit before exceptional items
Net tangible assets
Dividends
– gross
– net
– cover
Singapore Exchange prices
Year to 30 September
– High
– Low
At 14 Nov 2005 (16 Nov 2004)

2004

Change (%)

1,436.4 1,370.7
220.4
199.6
225.8
200.8
155.3
144.7

4.8
10.4
12.4
7.3

1
1

($m)
($m)

2

($m)
($m)
($m)

1

(%)
(%)

27.0
13.8

25.4
13.3

(%)
(%)
(%)

15.3
15.7
10.8

14.6
14.7
10.6

(cents)
(cents)
($)

88.2
45.1
2.98

78.7
41.1
2.80

12.0
9.7
6.4

3

(cents)
(cents)
(times)

37.8
30.0
1.5

35.0
28.0
1.5

8.0
7.1
–

2

($)
($)
($)

9.00
7.35
8.95

9.10
5.85
7.65

1

115.5
116.2

104.8
102.5

10.2
13.4

865.2
806.7
1,274.1 1,158.1
2,295.2 1,954.6

7.3
10.0
17.4

Notes
1 Attributable profit: Profit after taxation and minority interests.
2 Close of business on first trading day after preliminary announcement of full-year results.
3 Dividend cover: Attributable profit before exceptional items per share divided by net dividends per share.
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Group financial highlights

Chairman’s statement
2005 has been another milestone year
for APB as we continued to extend the
boundaries of our markets. Driven by
stronger sales in almost all markets,
we are reporting our sixth consecutive
year of double-digit growth.
Our strongest contributors to PBIT were
Indochina, New Zealand and Singapore.
Tribute to the late Tan Sri Dr Tan Chin Tuan
It is with much regret that we learnt of the demise of Tan Sri Dr Tan Chin Tuan on
13 November 2005, at the age of 98. Tan Sri Dr Tan first joined the Board in May
1951 and went on to serve as Chairman for 25 years before retiring in 1982. For
the prodigious efforts that he made on behalf of the Group over the 31 years, he
was respectfully appointed Honorary Life President.
Tan Sri Dr Tan was respected for his sharp business acumen as much as he was
renowned for his philanthropy. Even as the Group expanded and built a new
brewery in Kuala Lumpur as well as acquired others in Papua New Guinea, New
Zealand and France under his leadership, Tan Sri Dr Tan gave generously to many
charities and schools.
On behalf of the Board of Directors, management and staff, we wish to place
on record our sincere appreciation for his past advice and counsel.
Overview
2005 has been another milestone year for APB as we continued to extend the
boundaries of our markets. Driven by stronger sales in almost all markets, we
are reporting our sixth consecutive year of double-digit growth.
Attributable net profit before exceptional items grew by 10% or $10.7 million
above last year to hit $115.5 million. Similarly, profit before interest, taxation and
exceptional items (PBIT) rose by the same margin or $20.8 million to reach $220.4
million on the back of revenues of $1.44 billion which grew 5% or $65.7 million from
$1.37 billion previously. Return on equity, before exceptional items increased from
13.3% to 13.8%.
Our strongest contributors to PBIT were Indochina, New Zealand and Singapore.
Together, they now account for 91.5% of Group PBIT. In addition to the healthy
sales in our markets, our investments in Kingway Brewery and Jiangsu Dafuhao
Breweries in China have also contributed to our bottomline, thereby reducing our
China losses by more than 50% to $3 million.
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Dividend
The Directors recommend, for shareholders’ approval, a final dividend of
16 cents per share after tax. This is inclusive of a 2-cent dividend accorded in
commemoration of APB’s 75th anniversary which falls on 14 April 2006. Including
the interim dividend of 14 cents per share after tax, this will give an enhanced total
distribution for the year of 30 cents per share after tax or 37.8 cents gross (last
year: 28 cents per share after tax or 35 cents gross).
Extending our base
We started the year with 17 breweries in eight countries namely Singapore,
Malaysia, Thailand, Cambodia, Vietnam, China, New Zealand and Papua New
Guinea. As our intent has been on increasing our presence in the Asia Pacific
region and fulfilling our mission of making Tiger Beer a Pan-Asian beer, we have
been on the lookout to invest in breweries that will enhance shareholder value.

Dividend
($m)

We have acquired a 40% stake in Jiangsu Dafuhao Breweries, one of the top five 2001
45.6
2002
60.9
breweries in Jiangsu province, which is one of the wealthiest provinces in China.
66.1
It has a flourishing beer market that comprises 5% of the total China beer market 2003
2004
71.6
of about 300 million hectolitres a year. Its beers, brewed in four plants with a total
2005
76.9
production capacity of 3.5 million hectolitres, commands 12% of the Jiangsu beer
market. Dafuhao went on to acquire an additional 1 million-hectolitre brewery at
Earnings per share before exceptional items
Wujiang in August 2005.
(cents)

We also took a 60% stake in a brewery in Sri Lanka, which also marks our first
foray into South Asia. This 120,000-hectolitre brewery, though small in comparison
to our other breweries, gives us the opportunity to break into a market that is new
to us. Its brands offer a potential upside as we bring in marketing expertise to
enable the brands to make further inroads in the beer market. Furthermore, the
brewery’s distribution system allows us to bring our brands into Sri Lanka for local
production and cross-selling purposes.

2001
2002
2003
2004
2005

29.4
33.3
36.8
41.1
45.1

We have also set our sights on Mongolia. Mongolians have started to cultivate a
more health-conscious lifestyle which has led many of them to switch from vodka
to beer. Believing that there is potential in the Mongolia beer market, we have
signed an agreement to build a 300,000-hectolitre brewery in about 18 months’
time. The brewery, of which we shall own 55%, will brew Tiger Beer. In the
meantime, focus will be placed on building up the brand, which has been available
in Mongolia for the past 13 years.
Expanding our capacities
Several of our breweries which are well-placed to harness growth in the markets
where we have established our operations, have made plans to increase their
capacities.
Our brewery in South Vietnam has completed the commissioning of a second
bottling line in August 2005. Its production capacity is currently undergoing a 50%
expansion from 1.5 million hectolitres to 2.3 million hectolitres. Our brewery in
North Vietnam has installed a new canning line that was completed in October
2005; thereby facilitating the launch of the 330ml Anchor can which has proven
to be commercially successful.
Similar expansions are also taking place in China. Our Shanghai operations
commissioned a new bottling line in May 2005 and celebrated its largest brewing
capacity of 2 million hectolitres. The Hainan brewery, that is now profitable, put in
a second bottling line in April 2005 and expanded its production capacity to 1.6
million hectolitres to cater to booming demand for its Anchor beer and its variants.
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At Kingway Brewery, in which we have a 21% stake through Heineken-APB
(China) Pte Ltd, expansion is also underway for its new breweries in Shantou,
Dongguan, Tianjin and Xi’an. The breweries in Shantou and Dongguan have
collectively added another 4 million hectolitres in capacity by end-2005; Tianjin and
Xi’an will only commence commercial production in early 2006 and the first half of
2007, respectively.
To oversee our China operations and investment activities, we have set up a
regional headquarters in Shanghai, Heineken-APB (China) Management Services,
Co., Ltd (HAPBC MC). The move is aligned with APB's One China Organisation to
achieve a sustained focus on the China beer market and orientate its companies
to participate in the accelerated consolidation that is taking place in the China
beer market. It is timely that HAPBC MC is now formed to facilitate APB's future
progression in China given its growing economy that is becoming larger, more
complex and increasingly open.
Regional landscape
Though the business climate of the Asia Pacific region is healthy, there are several
threats looming on the horizon. Competition from other global beers is intensive as
they divert their attention from the European and American markets that have seen
flat or declining sales, to focus their attention on this region for their own growth.
We are seeing increasing regulation in some parts of Asia, most notably the
smoking bans in the pubs of New Zealand and over the next two years, in coffeeshops, pubs and bars in Singapore. Heavily restricted alcohol advertising in
Thailand, high excise duties in Malaysia, competition laws in Singapore and market
liberalisation for Papua New Guinea are other issues that the Group will be facing.
Other possible threats to our business environment come in the form of terrorism,
avian flu and other health and environmental factors that affect the tourism sector.
Appreciation
We shall be celebrating 75 years of operation on 14 April 2006. Our good
performance over these years would not have been possible without the support
and guidance of our major shareholders, Fraser and Neave, Limited and Heineken
N.V. The hard work and dedication of the management team and all our
employees must not be forgotten – they are the lifeblood of this company.
Our customers, partners, unions and you, our shareholders must also be given
credit for your continued support and belief in our ability. We remain committed
to enhance brand equity, improve efficiencies and harness innovation to unlock
shareholder value.

Dr Michael Fam
Chairman
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Chief Executive Officer’s review
Our regional markets had an outstanding
year, continuing to develop leadership
positions in almost all our markets
through operations and acquisitions.
Last year, APB’s success was marked by an increase in revenue and our sixth
consecutive year of double-digit earnings growth. Our operations outside
Singapore continue to be the main contributor to the bulk of earnings; they were
responsible for about 80% of profit before interest, taxation and exceptional items
(PBIT) which stood at $220.4 million. Earnings per share (before exceptional items)
increased 4 cents to 45.1 cents versus 2004.
Our regional markets had an outstanding year, continuing to develop leadership
positions in almost all our markets through operations and acquisitions. As we
forge ahead, we remain focused on our core objectives designed to enhance
shareholder value. We have been participating in an increasingly global beer
market to drive profitability that, combined with continued market share growth,
will provide the base for long-term earnings per share growth and improvement
in return on capital employed.
Operations
Singapore
Singapore continued to see competition intensify in the domestic industry brought
about by foreign beer imports and other alcoholic beverages. During the year,
a 1% increase in domestic volume was registered. Thanks to effective cost
management, Singapore reported a marginal increase in PBIT which stood at
$44 million.
To meet competitive challenges, we have focused our marketing on contemporary
adults with a wide range of initiatives in the on-premise and off-premise segments.
Playing up innovation, which is critical to setting us apart from our peers, a new
$40 million packaging line was launched during the year to introduce novel and
Koh Poh Tiong
varied product packaging to enhance consumer interest and expand beer use
Chief Executive Officer
occasions, which in turn will trigger demand.
Indochina
Indochina posted a significant 17% growth in volume, attributable mainly to rising
levels of disposable income in Cambodia and Vietnam, as well as successful
marketing promotions executed in the markets.
The domestic beer industry of Vietnam grew 9% last year. During the period under
review, our Vietnam operations reported an 11% increase in volume. Tiger Beer
and Heineken continued to enjoy overwhelming demand as propensity for
premium brands continued to grow. Also noteworthy is Anchor’s 35% growth in
northern Vietnam as a result of the launch of the unique 450ml bottle for the brand
by our brewery in the north.
Benefiting from a growing economy is also Cambodia where we registered a 37%
increase in volume. Despite competition led by new entrants in the market, all our
brands including Tiger Beer, Anchor, Gold Crown and ABC Stout robustly
defended their market positions in the respective segments and achieved doubledigit growth during the year.
Malaysia
In Malaysia, despite a decline in volume of 5% due to continuing weak consumer
sentiment primarily led by the increase in excise duties, PBIT grew 3% to $17 million
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited
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owing to our diversified portfolio, improved margins from price increases and
effective cost management. During the year, intensive marketing campaigns
enabled brands such as Tiger Beer, Heineken and Guinness to further gain market
share in both the beer and stout segments of the industry.
New Zealand
Our operations in New Zealand (NZ) continued to outperform the mature beer
industry which shrank 0.9% last year. Our breweries recorded a strong 20%
increase in PBIT even though volume increased by only 3%. This was due mainly
to an improved sales mix, price increases and the stronger NZ dollar. Our
brands have proven to be resilient and continued to win the palettes of the New
Zealanders. The higher sales volume registered by Tui, Tiger Beer, Heineken and
Monteith’s reaffirmed the claim.
Papua New Guinea
An improved beer market supported by a growing economy in Papua New
Guinea has helped our volume grow by another 3%. PBIT rose 19% owing to
effective cost management and marginal price increases. Last year, our brands,
SP Lager, South Pacific Export Lager and Niugini ICE continued to achieve growth
in their respective segments.
Thailand
Thailand registered an 11% increase in volume growth achieved through
continued Heineken growth coupled with the first full-year volume for Tiger Beer.
However, PBIT fell marginally due mainly to increased marketing investments
which are important elements of our strategy.
Today, Heineken has captured 94% of the premium segment while Tiger Beer,
which caters to the standard segment, also showed satisfactory performance
although local production of the brand only commenced in July 2004. To capture a
slice of the huge mainstream segment of the 16 million-hectolitre Thai beer market,
a new brand named Cheers was introduced in October 2005. It is intended that
the enhanced portfolio will further strengthen our brand strategy for the
competitive Thai market and enable us to further drive volume collectively.
China
China achieved a significant 63% reduction in losses to $3.1 million against $8.3
million in the previous year. This was a result of healthy volume growth of 29% and
36% in Shanghai and Hainan respectively; coupled with profit contribution from our
investment in Kingway Brewery as well as Dafuhao Breweries.
Similarly, Anchor has once again secured its No.1 spot, cornering some 74% of
Hainan’s mainstream beer segment. The improved result was attributable to the
concerted marketing efforts and the introduction of a new Anchor variant named
Anchor Red Crown during the year.
Through our 40% stake in Dafuhao Breweries acquired in March this year and
21% shareholding in Kingway Brewery, we saw our total production capacity in
China triple to 13.5 million hectolitres in just over a year. At the same time, our
presence has been extended to the affluent provinces of Jiangsu and Guangdong.
In the next two years, our brewery operations in China are expected to add up to
13 with Dafuhao expecting to commission its fifth plant in Wujiang in the Jiangsu
province next year while Kingway Brewery is anticipating to commence two new
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brewery operations in the Tianjin province and the Xi’an district of the Shaanxi
province from the middle of 2006 to 2007.
Tiger Beer – Distinctly Asian, Unmistakably World Class
Tiger Beer continues to dominate the beer markets in Southeast Asia, especially
Singapore, Malaysia and Vietnam amongst others. Since it commenced local
brewing in Thailand, Tiger Beer has penetrated into all 76 provinces and is steadily
gaining volume.
In the western markets such as the UK and USA, Tiger Beer has been embraced
as a leading premium brew that hails from the Far East. Currently, Tiger Beer is the
No. 1 imported Asian beer brand in the UK in terms of volume sold and enjoys
high double-digit growth in the USA.
Meanwhile, we continue to accelerate our brand building efforts and distribution
for Tiger Beer in new markets such as Europe, Australia and North America where
double-digit sales growth has been registered.
To further enhance its appeal and connection with an ever-increasingly diverse
range of consumers, Tiger Beer has adopted a more contemporary and distinctive
image and packaging. The new Tiger Beer logo and packaging, which has been
launched in Singapore in late October 2005, will be introduced to over 60 markets
where Tiger Beer is currently available. In line with the makeover, Tiger Beer will
build a more intimate rapport with its drinkers worldwide through football and
lifestyle platforms such as music, entertainment, fashion, travel as well as design
and technology.
All these initiatives are aligned with our interest and strategy to boost Tiger Beer’s
volume worldwide and achieve our goal of making Tiger Beer a Pan-Asian and
global brand one day.
Heineken
Alongside Tiger Beer, we have invested heavily in the Heineken brand in all the
markets in which we are responsible for distributing and marketing the brand, ie
Singapore, Malaysia, Thailand, Vietnam, New Zealand and China. The brand has
grown strongly under our management and the compound annual growth rate,
which measures the year-on-year growth rate of our investment in the brand,
currently stands at 30%.
Thailand and South Vietnam are the two largest contributors of Heineken volume
to the APB Group and the top 10 contributors to the Heineken group of
companies.
We believe that China is the next market to focus on for Heineken. Now that our
Shanghai brewery is brewing Heineken locally, we are looking forward to strong
support from the brand owner and our shareholder, Heineken N.V., to work with
us and invest in the continued growth of the brand in the China beer market.
The Next Phase
As we mark our 75th anniversary next year, we look towards the next phase of
growth for APB. We see long term opportunities arising from current challenges.
Barring unforeseen circumstances, we shall continue to build on the long-term
positives in our business as we seek new avenues of growth by venturing into
new markets and creating profitable business opportunities through mergers,
acquisitions and strategic alliances.

Koh Poh Tiong
Chief Executive Officer
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1. Dr Michael Fam (Chairman)
Michael Fam, Chairman of APB since 1990,
has served in public as well as private sector
positions, notably as Chairman of the Housing &
Development Board from 1975 until 1983, Mass
Rapid Transit Corporation from 1983 until 1991,
Council of Nanyang Technological University from
1982 until 1993, Singapore Airlines Limited from
1998 until 2001 (as director from 1972 – 1998),
Director of Temasek Holdings (Pte) Ltd from 1985
until 1996, Oversea-Chinese Banking
Corporation Limited from 1989 – 2001 and
Singapore Press Holdings Limited from 1984 –
2004, and a Member of the Council of
Presidential Advisers of the Republic of Singapore
from 1992 – 2003.
He is currently Executive Chairman of the Fraser
and Neave Group and Chairman of Centrepoint
Properties Limited. He also sits on the Board of
Times Publishing Limited. For his contributions
to Singapore, he was bestowed several awards,
including the Order of Nila Utama (First Class).
2. Mr Koh Poh Tiong
Koh Poh Tiong has held the position of Chief
Executive Officer and Director of APB since
October 1993. He joined the company, then
known as Malayan Breweries Limited, in 1985
and served as General Manager of the Singapore
brewery until 1991, whereupon he was
appointed Deputy Group General Manager.
He holds directorships in most of the Group’s
subsidiaries. He is Chairman of the Agri-food
and Veterinary Authority (AVA) and a Director of
National Healthcare Group Pte Ltd, PSA
International Ltd and PSA Corporation Ltd.
He was a member of the APEC Business
Advisory Council representing Singapore from
January 1999 – August 2001. His previous
directorships include the Media Corporation of
Singapore Pte Ltd, Television Corporation of
Singapore Pte Ltd, Wildlife Reserves Singapore
Pte Ltd and Jurong BirdPark Pte Ltd.
3. Mr Siep Hiemstra
Siep Hiemstra was appointed to the Board of
Directors in June 2005. He joined the Heineken
Group in 1978 and had held senior management
positions in Europe, Africa and Asia Pacific.
Mr Hiemstra was APB’s Regional Director,
SEA & Oceania (1998 – 2001), responsible
for supervising the operations in New Zealand,
Papua New Guinea, Malaysia, Thailand and
Cambodia. His prior appointment was Corporate
Director of Heineken Technical Services
(2001 – 2005).
Mr Hiemstra currently holds the position of
President, Heineken Asia Pacific, and he is also
a member of Heineken Executive Committee on
a global basis. He is currently the Chairman of
Heineken Asia Pacific Pte Ltd, and holds

00
00
34
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited

Annual Report 2005

Board of Directors

directorship in Asia Pacific Investment Pte Ltd
and Asia Pacific Breweries Group’s subsidiaries
and associate companies, including HeinekenAPB (China) Pte. Ltd., Kingway Brewery Holdings
Limited, DB Breweries Limited, as well as
Heineken Group of companies in Asia Pacific,
including PT Multi Bintang Indonesia Tbk.
4. Dr Han Cheng Fong
Han Cheng Fong was appointed to the Board
of Directors in September 2002. He joined the
Fraser and Neave Group in May 2001 as Deputy
Chairman of Centrepoint Properties Ltd. In April
2002, he was made the Managing Director of
Fraser and Neave, Limited concurrent with his
position in Centrepoint Properties. In October
2004, he became its Group Managing Director
cum Group Deputy CEO. He currently holds
directorship positions in Centrepoint Properties
Ltd, Fraser & Neave Holdings Berhad, Asia
Pacific Investment Pte Ltd, Times Publishing
Limited and DB Breweries Ltd and he is also
Chairman of Frasers Property (China) Limited
which is listed in Hong Kong.
Up to 11 January 2004, he was the Deputy
Chairman of the Board of Trustees of Singapore
Management University. Until April 2000, he held
directorships in companies related to DBS Land
Limited, including Deputy Chairman and Group
Chief Executive Officer of DBS Land Limited,
Chairman of Raffles Hotel (1886) Ltd, Raffles City
Pte Ltd, RC Hotels Pte Ltd and Ascott Ltd; and
was Deputy Chairman of Raffles Holdings Ltd
and Parkway Holdings Ltd. On the regional
business scene, he was Chairman of Australand
Holdings Ltd and Deputy Chairman of United
Malayan Land Bhd.
5. Mr David Richard Hazelwood
David Richard Hazelwood has held various
positions in Heineken companies between
1980 and 1993, and is currently Director Group
Finance based in The Netherlands. A British
citizen, and chartered accountant by training,
his other directorships are with Heineken Finance
N.V.., Heineken España S.A. and Zywiec S.A.
Poland.
6. Mr Lee Yong Siang
Lee Yong Siang was appointed to the Board in
1995. He serves as Chairman of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of
the Company. He also sits on the Board of AGF
Asset Management Asia Limited and is an
adviser to both Willis (Singapore) Pte Ltd and Asia
Plant Maintenance Service Pte Ltd.
He was the Chief Executive of the Public Utilities
Board, from 1982 until his retirement in February
1995, Chairman of Tuas Power Ltd from 1995
until 1999, Chairman of Changi (Toa Payoh)
General Hospital from 1994 until 1999 and
Chairman of City Gas Pte Ltd from 2002 – 2005.

7. Mr Goh Yong Hong
Goh Yong Hong joined the Board in 1993.
He serves in the Audit and Remuneration
Committees of the Company. Presently, he also
sits as an independent Director in listed SC
Global Ltd, Guocoland Ltd and Dragon Land Ltd.
He was also Commissioner of Police from 1979
to 1992, and Executive Deputy Chairman of
Singapore Turf Club until 2002. He was also Vice
President of the Singapore National Olympic
Council and Singapore Sports Council. He is
currently Patron of the Singapore Swimming
Association and Chairman of the Advisory
Committee of Raffles Town Club Pte Ltd.
8. Mr Robert S Lette
Robert S Lette, an Executive Vice President of
Clariden Bank, Zurich in Switzerland, formerly
a Banker with Credit Suisse, MeesPierson &
Dresdner Bank and a Member of the Board of
Commissioners of PT Multi Bintang Indonesia,
is an Alternate Director to David Richard
Hazelwood. A Dutch citizen, his other
directorships include Chairman of Magnecomp
International Ltd and Non-executive Director of
Heineken Beverages Switzerland.
9. Mr Anthony Cheong Fook Seng
Anthony Cheong, appointed Alternate to
Dr Han Cheng Fong in March 2004, is the Group
Company Secretary of the Fraser and Neave
Group. He joined the Fraser and Neave Group
in Times Publishing Ltd as Corporate General
Manager (Group Finance) and Company
Secretary in 2001. Mr Cheong currently holds
directorships in a number of the Group’s other
subsidiaries as well as Fraser and Neave, Limited,
Centrepoint Properties Ltd, Fraser and Neave
Holdings Bhd and Asia Pacific Investment
Pte Ltd.
10. Mr Kenneth Choo Tay Sian
Kenneth Choo is the Director – Business
Development (Asia Pacific) of Heineken. He held
various positions in MNCs prior to joining
Heineken. Mr Choo is a member of Certified
Public Accountants of Singapore, and has
completed the Advanced Management Program
at Harvard Business School. Mr Choo is also
a Director of Heineken Asia Pacific Pte Ltd.
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11. Mr Huang Hong Peng
Huang Hong Peng, appointed Alternate to
Dr Michael Fam in April 2005, is currently the
Chief Operating Officer, Food & Beverage of
Fraser and Neave Group (F&N Group). Mr Huang
sits on the boards of subsidiaries of Asia Pacific
Breweries Group and Fraser & Neave Group.
Before his transfer to the F&N Group, he was
the Deputy Regional Director, China of Asia
Pacific Breweries Limited (APB) and was
responsible for brewery operations of the APB
Group in the People’s Republic of China (PRC)
now consolidated under Heineken-APB (China)
Pte. Ltd. He joined the APB Group in November
1994 and has served in various positions in
Myanmar and the PRC.
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information

Board of Directors
Dr Michael Fam (Chairman)
Mr Goh Yong Hong
Dr Han Cheng Fong
Mr D R Hazelwood
Mr Siep Hiemstra
Mr Koh Poh Tiong
Mr Lee Yong Siang
Mr Huang Hong Peng
(Alternate to Dr Michael Fam)
Mr Anthony Cheong Fook Seng
(Alternate to Dr Han Cheng Fong)
Mr R S Lette (Alternate to Mr D R Hazelwood)
Mr Kenneth Choo Tay Sian
(Alternate to Mr Siep Hiemstra)
Executive Committee
Mr Koh Poh Tiong (Chairman)
Dr Han Cheng Fong
Mr Siep Hiemstra
Remuneration Committee
Mr Lee Yong Siang (Chairman)
Mr Goh Yong Hong
Dr Han Cheng Fong/Mr Siep Hiemstra*
Nominating Committee
Mr Goh Yong Hong (Chairman)
Mr Lee Yong Siang
Dr Han Cheng Fong/Mr Siep Hiemstra*

Technical Managers
Heineken Technical Services B.V.
Registered Office
#21-00 Alexandra Point
438 Alexandra Road
Singapore 119958
Tel: 65-6318 9393
Fax: 65-6271 0811
Company Secretary
Mr Anthony Cheong Fook Seng
Share Registrars and Transfer Office
Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services
8 Cross Street
#11-00 PWC Building
Singapore 048424
Tel: 65-6236 3333
Fax: 65-6236 3405
Principal Banker
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Ltd
Auditor
Ernst & Young
Partner-in-charge
Mr Kevin Kwok

Audit Committee
Mr Lee Yong Siang (Chairman)
Mr Goh Yong Hong
Dr Han Cheng Fong/Mr D R Hazelwood**

* Dr Han Cheng Fong and Mr Siep Hiemstra are alternating
Committee members on annual rotational basis.
**Dr Han Cheng Fong and Mr D R Hazelwood are
alternating Committee members on annual rotational basis.
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Senior
management

Asia Pacific Breweries Limited
1 Mr Koh Poh Tiong
Chief Executive Officer
2 Mr Chris E Kidd
Regional Director, Indo-China
3 Mr Quek Peck Leng
Regional Director, S.E.A/Oceania
4 Mr Rick Linck
Regional Director, China

Mr Alan Gourdie
General Manager, Asia Pacific Breweries
(Singapore) Pte Ltd, Singapore
Mr Lieven Van der Borght
General Manager, Cambodia Brewery Limited,
Cambodia
Mr Brian Blake
Managing Director, DB Breweries Limited,
New Zealand

5 Mr Lee Meng Tat
Deputy Regional Director, China
6 Mr Vivek Chhabra
Director, Business Development

Mr Theo de Rond
Managing Director, Guinness Anchor Berhad,
Malaysia
Mr Malcolm Tan
General Manager, Hainan Asia Pacific Brewery
Company Ltd, China

7 Mr Tang Swee Seng
Director, Group Finance
8 Dr Les Buckley
Director, Group Commercial
9 Ms Kuek Chiew Hia
Director, Group Human Resource
1

Operating Companies

10 Ms Sarah Koh
Assistant General Manager,
Group Corporate Communications
11 Ms Geraldine Lim
Assistant General Manager,
Group Legal

2

Mr Joseph Lim
General Manager, Business Development –
Indo-China
Mr Michael van der Poel
General Manager, Hatay Brewery Limited,
Vietnam
Mr Chu Chun Ho
General Manager, Heineken Trading (Shanghai)
Co. Ltd, China
Mr Lim Yew Hoe
General Manager, Shanghai Asia Pacific Brewery
Co. Ltd, China
Mr Nigel Yeo
General Manager, South Pacific Brewery Limited,
Papua New Guinea
Mr Panya Pongtanya
General Manager, Thai Asia Pacific Brewery
Co. Ltd, Thailand

3

Mr Peter Ong
General Manager, Vietnam Brewery Limited,
Vietnam

4

Mr James Wong
General Manager, Tiger Export Pte Ltd,
Singapore
Mr Ong Chui Seng
Vice President, Tiger Beer USA Inc.,
United States of America
5

6

Mr Bennett Neo
Managing Director, Tiger Beer UK Ltd,
United Kingdom
(with effect from 1 June 2005)
Mr Edmond Neo
Chief Executive Officer, Asia Pacific Brewery
(Lanka) Limited, Sri Lanka
(with effect from 1 October 2005)
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Business review
Established markets — Singapore
Singapore continued to make a healthy
contribution to group profits. Volumes in
our home market grew by 1% in 2005
with an improvement in PBIT.

Key achievements
— Received a Silver award at the AVA Food Safety Award 2005 for
consistently maintaining high standards in food safety management
— Heineken clinched two Gold and one Silver at the Promotion Marketing
Awards of Asia 2005
— The Singapore brewery emerged first in the Guinness Asia Pacific
North America League of Excellence for 2004

We will continue to leverage on the strengths of
our multi-brand portfolio, create powerful
partnerships with our customers and manage
costs through effective and efficient measures.

Alan Gourdie
General Manager
Asia Pacific Breweries (Singapore) Pte Ltd

The amount that the Singapore brewery
has invested to develop the first-of-its-kind
innovative packaging facility in Southeast Asia

$40m
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Market overview
Along with an improving economy, the beer market in Singapore recovered in
2005 and was notable for a marked increase in activities and sales in the premium
and mainstream segments of the market. Consumers are becoming more
discerning when it comes to their beer choices and our brands are well positioned
to take advantage of these emerging trends.
Our performance
Facing the challenges of a sophisticated and highly competitive market, we will
continue to leverage on the strengths of our multi-brand portfolio, create powerful
partnerships with our customers and manage costs through effective and efficient
measures.
Tiger Beer continued to enjoy clear market leadership in Singapore. The busy year
saw Tiger Beer launching several new initiatives. Starting the year with Euphoria –
a giant outdoor concert which seeks to build affinity with the younger consumers
through mainstream music - this was followed by a highly successful Chinese New
Year campaign notable for the introduction of innovative new promotional
packaging. We then launched the Tiger FC - a powerful new football platform
designed to leverage on Tiger Beer’s association with the English Premier League,
Arsenal FC and the Singapore Lions (our national football team). The Lions’ win in
the Tiger Cup in February 2005 also provided excellent momentum for Tiger Beer
in Singapore.
In October, Tiger Beer had its major event in 2005 with the unveiling of a brand
new look. The Tiger icon and pack design was refreshed and a major new
advertising campaign featuring Jessica Alba was successfully launched.
Heineken enjoyed excellent growth in Singapore as it continued to lead and drive
the fast developing international premium category. Growth was fuelled by a series
of initiatives. Singapore was the first market to launch the new global campaign
“Meet you there” in November 2004 and momentum was accelerated with a string
of innovative pack introductions including a new long neck bottle, the Ito aluminium
bottle in premium bars, and the highly successful 5-litre draught kegs in take-home
outlets.
The stout category was largely flat during the year; however following review and
restaging the Guinness brand, the volume improved significantly in the later half
of the year, driven by a new campaign and effective marketing promotions.
Our other brands in the portfolio, including Baron’s Strong Brew, Corona and
Erdinger all enjoyed strong growth during the year.

Below:
Events like the Guinness Halloween Graveyard
Party helped drive Guinness volumes upwards.

Significant events
A world-class packaging facility, the first of its kind in Southeast Asia, was opened
in April. The investment in two highly sophisticated bottling lines will make it
possible for the brewery to present its portfolio of beers in the most creative,
exciting and contemporary packaging to rival that of Western Europe and USA.
The new lines will enable us to compete more effectively in our export markets, as
well as creating new opportunities at home. The immense flexibility of the lines will
allow us to develop new packtypes with any combination of bottles, as well as to
introduce rapid production changeovers and short runs.
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Business review
Established markets — Malaysia
PBIT profits grew last year by 3% to
$17 million. This growth came in spite of
a 5% decline in volumes that resulted from
continuing weak consumer sentiment.

Key achievements
— Growth in profits despite an increase in excise duties
— Growth in market share for our flagship brands –
Guinness, Tiger Beer and Heineken
— Achieving ISO 9001:2000 and HACCP accreditation yet again

We continued to focus on our three core
strengths – organisational effectiveness,
operational efficiency and our diverse portfolio
of brands.

Theo de Rond
Managing Director
Guinness Anchor Berhad

Guinness is the leading
stout in Malaysia

No.1
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited
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Business review — Malaysia

Market overview
In September 2004, the Malaysia Government announced the highest ever
increase in beer excise duty – an unprecedented 26.7% hike that seriously
impacted the industry, resulting in an overall drop in beer volumes of 6%. A further
duty increase of 9% in September 2005 made the business climate even more
difficult.
Our performance
We continued to focus on our three core strengths – organisational effectiveness,
operational efficiency and our diverse portfolio of brands.
In order to reinforce our position in the market, we intensified our marketing and
promotional activities to target new consumers and launched new brand initiatives
to enhance our brand profiles.
Despite the prevailing market conditions, Heineken remains the leader in the
premium segment and continues to focus on value-added promotions. We also
drove differentiation with packaging innovations, including the 5-litre Draught Keg,
the 1.5-litre Magnum bottle and the unique aluminium PACO bottle. Together
these helped to increase Heineken’s market share over the year.
Tiger Beer also outperformed the market as it continues to maintain close
association with music and football. A new initiative under the brand includes
uniting ardent football fans throughout the country through the launch of Tiger FC.
This saw close to 10,000 fans joining as members. They not only got to attend
football viewing parties at Tiger Beer outlets, they could also enjoy the wholesome
football viewing experience in the comfort of their homes.
Guinness had a commendable year and continued to strengthen its position in
the stout market. Its both above- and below-the-line advertising campaigns
were recognised with a Gold Award in the Malaysian Media Awards 2005 for its
cinema advertising campaign and five major awards for its direct marketing from
DM Asia 2005.
Significant events
We have now automated our fermentation and bright beer tankrooms and have
started a project to install a fully automated filtration plant. Once this is completed
in 2006, we can then reap the benefits of better efficiencies of a fully automated
brewing department.
During the year, we also rolled out a new corporate identity. This update was
necessary to ensure that our corporate identity better reflects the company
and our business.

Left:
Guinness strengthened its position in the market
with activities like the Guinness Black Party series.
Below:
Tiger FC engaging the football fans.
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Business review
Established markets — New Zealand
New Zealand has been one of the top three
PBIT contributors to the Group and continues
to turn in an impressive performance as it
recorded a 20% increase in PBIT with
volumes rising 3%.

Key achievements
— Amstel Light captured over 40% of the light beer segment in just
two years after being introduced to the New Zealand market
— Received commendation for excellence in waste management from
the Packaging Council of New Zealand and in eco-efficiency from
the New Zealand Institute of Food Service and Technology

We achieved a positive volume growth in all our
key regions and further increased our market
share in the New Zealand beer market.

Brian Blake
Managing Director
DB Breweries Limited

New Zealand is the second highest
PBIT contributor to the Group,
after Indochina

25%
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited
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Business review — New Zealand

Market overview
When it comes to choices of beer, more New Zealanders are developing a
sophisticated palate and showing an increasing preference for premium beers
such as Heineken and Monteith’s. This fuelled accelerated growth in the premium
beer segment where better margins are achieved although this was also
moderated by a growing savings segment.
Overall, the beer market registered a marginal decline as competition further
intensifies with the entry of several new brands and their aggressive pricing
activities.
The impact on the beer market was felt in the on-premise segment in particular
with the introduction of a smoking ban in pubs and restaurants in late 2004. This
legislation inevitably altered the consumption patterns, which saw more drinkers
opting for packaged beers, which in turn boosted beer sales in the off-trade
channels, including independent liquor retail outlets and supermarkets.
Our performance
We achieved a positive volume growth in all our key regions and further increased
our market share in the New Zealand beer market.
Effective management of our strong brand portfolio remains a key strategy for us
in driving additional volumes. With consumers gaining an increasing affinity towards
premium beers, Heineken has continued to turn in a positive performance and
continues to be a key player in this segment. The Monteith’s family of craft beers
registered a higher growth volume aided by the arrival of a new winter beer and
further development of our Monteith’s craft bars located in major metropolitan
and suburban areas.
Sol and Budejovicky Budvar, imported from Mexico and Czechoslovakia
respectively, were added to extend our portfolio of brands and to leverage the
growing preference for premium beers in the New Zealand market. These,
together with relatively new brands such as Tiger Beer and Amstel Light, made a
significant contribution in driving the company’s earnings.
This year, we entered our quality brews into three major competitions – the
BrewNZ New Zealand Beer Awards, the Monde Selection and the Australian
Brewing Awards, where we clinched a total over 15 awards.

Top:
Guests at our Tiger Beer party in Auckland.
Middle:
Toasting to our wins at the 2005 BrewNZ
Beer Awards.
Below:
DB Breweries celebrated its 75th anniversary
in August.

Significant events
Recognising the prospects of the beer market in New Zealand and reinforcing its
already strong commitment to its operations there, APB acquired the remaining
stake in DB Breweries. Confident that the capital expenditure of the company can
be met without raising capital on the NZ Stock Exchange, APB successfully
completed the privatisation of DB Breweries, gaining 100% ownership of the latter
in October 2004.
In August 2005, DB Breweries celebrated its 75th anniversary with a series of
internal and external events held throughout New Zealand. Of notable mention is
our tremendously successful 'Shout the Nation' campaign where we offered to
buy our loyal DB drinkers nationwide a beer on our birthday.
One of our key brands, Export Gold, won the NZ Lager trophy for the second year
running at the New Zealand Beer Awards, with Export Premium Dry taking the
Premium Lager trophy and Amstel Light, the Light Beer trophy at the same event.
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Business review
Established markets — Papua New Guinea
Papua New Guinea (PNG) continues
to be a significant contributor to the Group’s
bottom line with volume increase of 3% and
PBIT growth of 19% in 2005. These results
were achieved through more aggressive
marketing activities and effective cost
management in its operations.
Key achievements
— Highest sales volume achieved for the past 12 years
— Its first export thrust outside of PNG to the Solomon Islands
— Achieved HACCP certification for the second consecutive year

The improved results are due to our
increased focus on customers’ needs and
our efforts in driving performance both internally
and externally.

Nigel Yeo
General Manager
South Pacific Brewery Limited

Increase in PBIT

19%
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited
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Business review — Papua New Guinea

Market overview
There is currently little competition other than low-cost spirits and ready-to-drink
products in PNG. An improving economy has provided a boost to the growth
of the beer market.
Favourable world prices for minerals and commodities increased export revenue
for the country, while better management of government finances and higher
foreign currency reserves resulted in a stronger and steady Kina. An increased
number of trading licences in the Highlands allowed growth in distribution, while
strong commodity prices drove demand.
Our performance
The improved results are due to our increased focus on customers’ needs and our
efforts in driving performance both internally and externally.
With the restrictions imposed on above-the-line advertising, the company focused
on below-the-line activities and ensured strong brand presence at points of sale in
order to maintain top-of-mind awareness.
This year, the company re-launched the SP Cup – PNG’s premier rugby league
tournament in which SP Lager is the main sponsor. Given the huge following for
this national sport, the association between the SP Lager brand and its consumers
was further strengthened through the sponsorship.

Above:
The Independence Brew was launched in
commemoration of PNG’s 30th Independence
Anniversary.

Guided by the company’s strategy to protect its business against foreign
competition and to maintain long-term profitability of our business, the company
will continue to invest in its brands, staff and assets. This strategy helped deliver
highest sales volume in the past 12 years, with all brands contributing to the
growth.
Significant events
We have gained distribution outside of PNG for the first time, into the Solomon
Islands. A marketing programme will soon be launched to kick-off its market
presence development.
Niugini ICE emerged in 2005 with a new packaging, consisting of classic black
complemented by white and yellow, to portray a hip and cool image. To coincide
with the launch of this new look in June, Niugini ICE launched a series of activities
including enlisting Ngaiire Joseph, a finalist in the popular Australian Idol Show, as
its brand ambassador performing for thousands of her fans in PNG.
In August 2005, we also launched the Independence Brew in commemoration of
the country’s 30 years of independence. Available for a limited period of time only,
the feature of this brew was its special flavour of Highlands Honey from Goroka.
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Business review
Growth engines — Vietnam
With volume up by 11% and revenue
achieving a similar increase, Vietnam continues
to be a strong growth engine and a star
performer once again. With a brewery each
entrenched in both the northern and southern
parts of Vietnam, we are confident of meeting
the anticipated long-term demands of this
booming beer market.
Key achievements
— Both breweries were awarded the Golden Dragon Award 2004 in recognition
of excellent foreign companies – a first for the North Vietnam brewery whilst it
is the fourth consecutive win for the South Vietnam brewery
— The South Vietnam brewery received the 2004 Saigon Times Top 40
Award and Vietnamese High Quality Product Award 2004

Tiger Beer and Heineken remain as the key
volume drivers for us in Vietnam and have
established themselves as the undisputed
market leaders in the premium beer segment.
Left to right:
Peter Ong
General Manager
Vietnam Brewery Limited
Michael van der Poel
General Manager
Hatay Brewery Limited
Joseph Lim
General Manager
Business Development – Indo-China

Vietnam is the largest producer of
Tiger Beer in the world

No.1
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited
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Business review — Vietnam

Market overview
Vietnam, with an average GDP growth of about 7% per annum, is deemed as the
fastest growing Asian economy outside of China. The beer market grew robustly
this year with the bulk of the growth in the bia hoi (fresh beer) and mainstream
segments. Along with rising disposable incomes, drinkers are also showing an
increasing desire for premium brands where they are trading up more frequently
when it comes to their choice of beer.
The competitive landscape of the beer industry in Vietnam is changing rapidly with
anticipated further liberalisation. Despite the intense competition, Vietnam presents
many great opportunities to expand on distribution and grow our market share.
Our performance
Tiger Beer and Heineken remain as the key volume drivers for us in Vietnam and
have established themselves as the undisputed market leaders in the premium
beer segment.
Above:
Our South Vietnam brewery expanded capacity
to cater to increasing demand for its beers.
Middle:
Heineken and Tiger Beer – awaiting delivery
in Vietnam.
Bottom:
Tiger Beer built a close rapport with its
consumers through the Tiger Cup.

Tiger Cup and English Premier League (EPL) sponsorships provide effective ways
of reaching out to our target consumers. Heineken’s close association with
international tennis and cutting-edge music ensures that the brand remains the
No.1 international premium beer in the minds of the Vietnamese. Our brewery in
South Vietnam also affirmed the quality of its Tiger Beer and Heineken, by winning
both the Tiger Quality Award and Heineken Brewery Award respectively for the year.
In North Vietnam, to ensure we capture a bigger slice of the mainstream segment,
we introduced Anchor in 450ml bottles in March 2005. This was followed by the
launch of the 330ml cans in October after a canning line was installed in our North
Vietnam brewery thereby giving consumers further alternatives. The major local
brewers continue to dominate the bia hoi segment in the key cities and the
challenge is to find the right outlets to further increase sales of Anchor on draught.
In order to differentiate Anchor from the other competitive brands, it is important
that we continue to serve Anchor fresh in a hygienic environment at an affordable
price.
As we continue to expand distribution and enhance the management of our multibrand portfolio which also includes the likes of Amber Stout and Bivina, efforts for
effective management of overheads and marketing expenses also remain a top
priority.
Significant events
Our breweries have been undergoing a series of capacity expansions during
the year to ensure that we meet the demands of future growth.
In March 2005, we started work on an extension in the South Vietnam brewery
that will expand its capacity by 50% from 1.5 million hectolitres to 2.3 million
hectolitres. A new finished product store and a third brewhouse will be completed
as part of the expansion. A second bottling line with a capacity of 50,000 330ml
bottles/hour has also gone into operation in August 2005.
The extension, which is expected to cost around US$45 million, is scheduled for
completion in March 2006 and represents the second capacity expansion since
the initial 500,000-hectolitre brewery which began commercial operations in 1993.
Less than two years after it opened, the North Vietnam brewery located near
Hanoi also had its capacity increased with the addition of a US$2 million canning
line. The line began production in October 2005.
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Business review
Growth engines — Cambodia
Another exceptional year saw volumes
in Cambodia increase 37% and revenue
grow 33%.

Key achievements
— Sales volumes up 37%
— Revenue up 33%
— Double digit growth for all brands
— Overall market share increased to 54%

We have continued to increase our market share
which now stands at around 54%, and all of our
brands delivered strong performances in 2005,
each showing double-digit growth.

Lieven Van der Borght
General Manager
Cambodia Brewery Limited

The growth of our sales volume
achieved in Cambodia

37%
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited
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Business review — Cambodia

Market overview
The Cambodia economy is expanding and the beer market is robust, growing
by an estimated 25% last year, driven largely by our Cambodia operations in the
country. Although there was increasing competition from new entrants into the
premium imported segment, most of the growth remains in the standard and
economy segments as a result of the lower purchasing power of the population.
Cambodia’s entry into the World Trade Organisation is expected to lead to further
long-term investment in the country and even greater economic growth.
Our performance
We have continued to increase our market share which now stands at around
54%, and all of our brands delivered strong performances in 2005, each showing
double-digit growth. This, in part, is the result of more efficient distribution which
has increased the availability of all of our brands nationwide.
We ran effective marketing programmes for our main corporate brands Tiger Beer,
Anchor and ABC Stout, in order to strengthen brand preference and equity.
Tiger Beer remains the market leader in the premium beer segment and benefited
from the highly successful Tiger Wedding promotions and the Tiger Cup
sponsorship.
Anchor also ran a number of successful promotions as well as a new advertising
campaign. Remaining a choice brand for the younger drinkers, Anchor will be
introduced in draught to more outlets in the urban precincts to drive further growth.
Our local brand, Gold Crown, produced a sparkling performance. A quality beer
that is priced affordably, it is perfectly tailored to its consumers who are
predominantly opting for economical choices. This has seen Gold Crown become
both the best selling and the fastest growing beer brand in Cambodia.
Significant events
As a result of the continuing growth in demand for our products, there has been
considerable focus on increasing supply by improving the capacity and efficiency
of the plant.
We have invested in four new fermentation and storage tanks to increase capacity
from 350,000 hectolitres to 450,000 hectolitres, and have increased the
productivity of the brewery by reducing the number of packtypes, thereby
increasing the performance of the packaging line.
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Business review
Growth engines — Thailand
Thailand delivered an 11% increase in volume
in 2005, mainly as a result of continued growth
in sales of Heineken, together with sales from
the first full-year locally brewed Tiger Beer.
However, profits fell marginally due to
increased investment in brand marketing
and investing in the new brand launch.
Key achievements
— Beer volumes achieved a growth of 11%
— Launched new beer, Cheers, in October 2005

2005 was another excellent year for
Heineken, which dominated the premium
segment, and grew its market share in 2005
from 85% to 94%.

Panya Pongtanya
General Manager
Thai Asia Pacific Brewery Co. Ltd

The percentage share of the Thai
premium beer market currently
captured by Heineken

94%
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited
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Business review — Thailand

Market overview
Notwithstanding our performance, the Thai beer market is becoming increasingly
challenging. Consumer sentiments were affected by the aftermath of bird flu and
the tsunami disaster. There were also restrictions with the Government imposing
limitations on the availability and advertising of alcohol. All these factors resulted
in the overall beer industry showing no growth for 2005.
Our performance
2005 was another excellent year for Heineken, which dominated the premium
segment, and grew its market share in 2005 from 85% to 94%. Once again,
Heineken outperformed the beer market as a whole, achieving a 5% gain in
volume. The success of the brand has been mainly attributable to its ability to
connect with the modern Thais through insightful advertising and enjoyable beer
experiences via the music platform. Events such as the Heineken Green Carpet
Party, Heineken Jazz Festival Hua Hin and Heineken Music Thirst Asia Finals are
garnering increasing popularity amongst the consumers.
In Thailand, Tiger Beer competes in the standard segment of the market, which
grew by 5% last year. The main focus for Tiger Beer this year was on brandbuilding and increasing penetration into more outlets.
By the end of its first full year in the Thai market, Tiger Beer achieved high brand
awareness and is available nationwide. We launched our first TV commercial for
Tiger Beer and used the brand’s close association with football to bring the English
Premier League to Thailand. In April, the Tiger Skins 2005 golf tournament, which
gathered some of the world’s most outstanding golfers, was staged in Phuket,
Thailand – the first time the event was held outside Singapore. In a goodwill
gesture to help those affected by the tsunami disaster, the golfers donated the
total prize money of US$180,000 to the Thai Red Cross Society.
Significant events
In August, we celebrated our 10th anniversary. The brewery has grown
tremendously with the recent doubling of our technical capacity which now stands
at 2 million hectolitres, making our Thai brewery the largest brewer of Heineken
in the Asia Pacific region.
In October, we expanded our brand portfolio with the launch of a new beer –
Cheers. Developed to capture a slice of the large economy segment in the Thai
beer market, Cheers is being positioned as a ‘cheerful and fun’ beer which targets
the 22 – 30 year-old urban consumers.

Above:
The introduction of Cheers in Thailand.
Middle:
Heineken Green Carpet Party is a favourite
amongst the consumers.
Below:
Tiger Skins in Phuket.
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Business review
Next wave — China
In a year of tremendous, positive activity,
our operations in China saw volume growth
of 29% and 36% in Shanghai and Hainan
respectively, profit contributions from our
investments in Kingway Brewery and Jiangsu
Dafuhao Breweries, and an overall reduction
in losses of 63% to $3.1 million in 2005.
Key achievements
— Record output of 2 million hectolitres at the Shanghai brewery
— The Shanghai brewery received certifications in both the ISO
14001:2004 Environment Management System and ISO 9001:2000
Quality Management System
— The Hainan brewery was conferred by APB as the Best Brewery
in the Asia Pacific for the second year running and the Cost & Control
Management Champion
— 32% increase in profits achieved at Jiangsu Dafuhao Breweries
— Our production capacity in China tripled in just over a year

China, our long-term growth market, is now
the largest beer market in the world with sales
volume in excess of 290 million hectolitres.
Left to right:
Lim Yew Hoe
General Manager
Shanghai Asia Pacific Brewery Co. Ltd
Chu Chun Ho
General Manager
Heineken Trading (Shanghai) Co. Ltd
Malcolm Tan
General Manager
Hainan Asia Pacific Brewery Company Ltd

The total number of breweries in China that
we own interests in, of which three are under
construction or have not been commissioned

13 breweries
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited

Annual Report 2005

Business review — China

Market overview
China, our long-term growth market, is now the largest beer market in the world
with sales volume in excess of 290 million hectolitres. There is intense competition
and low margins, with more brands entering the market as brewers seek to
generate volume and gain market share. Consolidation of breweries is expected
to continue as well.
Our operations and joint venture companies are clustered in the more affluent
provinces of Shanghai, Guangdong and Jiangsu, as well as Hainan. With China's
GDP growth continuing to increase at a rate in excess of 8% a year, the prosperity
and opportunities that were once confined to the larger urban areas are now
starting to filter into regions further afield.
Our performance
The Shanghai brewery delivered record production of 2 million hectolitres. In
addition to its core portfolio consisting of Tiger Beer, Heineken and its family of
Reeb beers, the year also saw the production of Tiger Beer’s first variant in China –
Tiger Crystal Lite.
In Hainan, a second bottling line was installed during the year increasing
production capacity to1.6 million hectolitres. The year also saw the introduction
of a new variant – Anchor Red Crown, which further helped to reinforce Anchor’s
No.1 position in Hainan.
The newly acquired Jiangsu Dafuhao Breweries increased its sales volumes by
almost 30% over the year – and grew its profits by more than 32%. In September,
the company’s key brand, Dafuhao, was named one of the ‘Top 10 famous
products in the Chinese Beer Industry’ in 2005.
Kingway Brewery saw the completion of the first phase of its breweries in Shantou
and Dongguan. The two breweries have added another 4 million hectolitres in
capacity. In addition, Kingway Brewery is building two more breweries in Tianjin
and in Xi’an. The Tianjin plant will begin operations in early 2006, and Xi’an in the
first half of 2007. Kingway Brewery’s key brand, Kingway, was also named one
of the ‘Top 10 famous products in the Chinese Beer Industry’ in 2005.
Through its investments in Kingway Brewery in January 2004 and Jiangsu
Dafuhao Breweries in March 2005, Heineken-APB (China) Pte. Ltd. (HAPBC),
which oversees all of our business activities in China, saw its total production
capacity in China triple from 4.2 million hectolitres to 13.5 million hectolitres in just
over a year. HAPBC holds a 21% interest in Kingway Brewery and a 40% share
in Jiangsu Dafuhao Breweries.
Top:
Anchor – No.1 in Hainan.
Middle:
Dafuhao – the flagship brand of Jiangsu
Dafuhao Breweries.
Below:
Reeb – popular in Shanghai.

Significant events
In March 2005, we acquired a 40% stake in Jiangsu Dafuhao Breweries, which
is one of the top five breweries in the Jiangsu Province. Adding to its stable of four
breweries, it further acquired a plant in Wujiang in August. Jiangsu Dafuhao
Breweries brews, markets and distributes major beer brands including BBOSS,
Tongzhou and Changjiang.
Following the successful implementation of the One China Organisation strategy
in 2004 which brought all of our activities in China together under HAPBC, a
Regional Headquarters (RHQ) was established in Shanghai in June 2005 to bring
them under one roof. The RHQ, Heineken-APB (China) Management Services,
Co., Ltd, will drive our growth plans to enhance our brewing operations and forge
strategic alliances with domestic players. The new status will place us in a good
position to operate more efficiently and gather greater momentum for our
expansion in China.
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Business review
Next wave — Export markets
Export sales continue to grow, especially to
non-traditional markets in the Asia Pacific
region. The company’s ongoing challenge is
to continue seeding more markets around the
world and expand the global footprint of our
flagship Tiger Beer.

Key achievements
— Tiger Beer is the No.1 imported Asian beer brand in the UK in terms
of sales volume and brand popularity
— Acclaimed as a CoolBrand for the second consecutive year in the UK
— Distributed in 20 states in the US

It is a key feature of our strategic drive to develop
global coverage for the Group as it seeks to
become the leading brewer in the Asia Pacific.

James Wong
General Manager
Tiger Export Pte Ltd

The number of countries in which
Tiger Beer is available in

60 countries
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited
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Market overview
While the world beer market has been static – at best – in many regions for some
time, the premium segment continues to show healthy growth; and premium
packaged imports contribute to the fastest growing segment in many mature
markets.
Our performance
It is a key feature of our strategic drive to develop global coverage for the Group
as it seeks to become the leading brewer in the Asia Pacific.
The main focus of our export operations is on the Tiger Beer brand – specifically
in the UK, USA and Australia. In the UK, Tiger Beer continues to maintain close
association with Asian films through sponsorship of the Tiger Beer Tartan Asia
Extreme Film Festival and the Tiger Eye which presents film screenings held at
unique underground venues in Manchester and London. The well-received Tiger
Beer Singapore Chilli Crab Festival continues to be a major highlight in the USA,
while Transit parties which are based on an Asian subway theme continue to thrill
Australians in Sydney, Melbourne and Brisbane.
In many Western markets, Tiger Beer has been successfully positioned as an
‘intriguing’ premium Pan-Asian import lager. In fact, the brand is synonymous with
‘Asian Cool’. For the second year running in 2005, it was named a CoolBrand by
SuperBrands Ltd in the UK from a short-list of hundreds of brands. It is now the
No.1 imported Asian beer in the UK, Ireland and Denmark.
Europe has also been identified as a longer term market for Tiger Beer and in
2005, we started exporting to Italy, Russia and Turkey for the first time.
Significant events
The setting up of Tiger Beer UK Ltd in May 2005 was a significant milestone for
APB, and was a further step in the implementation of both of our regionalisation
strategy and our efforts to develop Tiger Beer into a leading international brand.
Tiger Beer UK will spearhead the marketing, sales, distribution and brand
development of Tiger Beer in the UK. This is an extension of the group’s
‘close-to-market’ strategy, enabling the company to accelerate the sales
and the development of the Tiger Beer brand equity.
To date, Tiger Beer USA (TUSA), which is based in New York, has obtained alcohol
distribution licences in 20 states including the key states of New York, California,
Georgia, Florida and Massachusetts, and expects to add more sales territories
in the next year. TUSA currently has 45 distributors for Tiger Beer.

Left:
Tiger Beer offers edgy Asian films to its
consumers in United Kingdom.
Below:
A taste of Singapore at the Chilli Crab Festival
in USA.
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Brand review
Combining local brands
with global brands, niche
brands with mainstream
brands, we keep our
consumers satisfied and
our business growing.

00
00
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Brand review
Great brands and a synergistic
portfolio are key to our
continued success

Our business is about brands, the brands that we own, the brands that we license
and the brands that we sell. Individually, these brands are amongst the world’s
best; collectively, they bring together a potentially unassailable portfolio catering
to consumers’ increasingly sophisticated needs.
Some are amongst the best known brands in the world. Heineken is more widely
available than any other beer in the world, Guinness is stout, and in Tiger Beer we
have a world-class international brand of our own. Tiger Beer is well on the way
to becoming a leading Pan-Asian brand, and one that has the potential to make
a truly substantial mark in the major beer markets of Europe and North America.
But our success is not based solely on these international premium brands alone.
Rather, it comes from our ability to offer a combination of global, regional and
powerful local brands. Brands such as Gold Crown or SP Lager might not be
household names outside of Cambodia or Papua New Guinea, but they can –
and do – dominate their local markets. Brands such as Tui in New Zealand and
Reeb in Shanghai are well on the way to achieving the ambition of mirroring that
dominant success.
These are brands that consistently deliver what their customers want. They are
quality beers that their drinkers know and prefer. They are brands that are perfectly
Above:
tailored to their markets by a business that has the understanding, the ability,
Our brand portfolio consists of a wide array
flexibility and confidence to cater to the needs of the different parochial beer
of global, regional and local brands.
drinkers – as part of a wide portfolio of beer brands.
But the reason behind what we do is always the same – to keep the
business growing.

Below:
Tiger Beer is well on the way to becoming
a leading Pan-Asian brand.
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Tiger Beer

With the unveiling of a brand new look, Tiger Beer
enlisted Hollywood celebrity, Jessica Alba, for its
new TV commercial in Singapore.

Overview
Today, Asia is the most exciting, fluid and dynamic beer marketplace in the world.
The brands that succeed in this high energy environment will be the ones that
most closely capture the essence of life in what is widely predicted to be the
Asian century.
The way in which we are marketing Tiger Beer shows what this means to us, as
we focus on our mission to turn our flagship beer into a leading Pan-Asian brand
and the foundation of our portfolio of leading international beer brands.
Brewed in more Asian countries than any other Asian beer and selling more beer
(outside of home market) than any other Asian brand are two key measures that
show us that we are well on the way to achieving our aim.
Accolades and awards
Tiger Beer has won dozens of awards for its product quality since it was first
launched in 1932. Tiger Beer has also become such a recognisable and soughtafter import premium beer in UK that it was named UK CoolBrand in 2004 and
again in 2005 – a recognition only given to the coolest brands in UK. The most
recent industry accolade was a Silver medal in the premium lager category at the
2005 Wine & Spirit International Beer Challenge.

The Asian Tiger
for the 21st century
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited
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Marketing objectives
Over the year, Tiger Beer continued to bring excitement to its drinkers in Asia by
celebrating the attitude, lifestyle and aspirations of the new-age Asian, who wants
to live life to the fullest. It seeks to make a connection with the young adults whose
interests lie in fashion, entertainment, design, music and international soccer.
In the competitive market of China, we have developed a marketing campaign that
positions the brand as a fashionable beer that is cutting edge, with a style that is
distinctly East-West ‘fusion’. This campaign is specifically in support of Tiger
Crystal Lite, a light-flavoured extension of the Tiger Beer range created specially for
the Chinese market, and launched in October 2004. The purpose of this extension Top:
Singapore’s celebrities were amongst the first
was to make Tiger Beer acceptable to large groups of consumers who generally
to hold the fresh, sleek packaging of Tiger Beer.
demand a lighter taste that is acceptable to all.
Middle and bottom:
Tiger Beer employs different activities to appeal
Early sales have been more than encouraging. We intend to maintain advertising
and promotional spending over the next three years at a high level, and we predict to those who enjoy extreme Asian films and the
that Tiger Beer and Tiger Crystal Lite will contribute significantly to the bottom line football-loving mass.
of our Shanghai operation. This early success has also led us to launch Tiger
Crystal Lite in South China, again with an encouraging start.

In the western markets such as the UK, USA and Europe, as well as in Australia
and New Zealand, Tiger Beer has been embraced as a leading premium brew that
hails from the Far East. It is marketed as a truly unique and leading premium Asian
brand and has adopted cutting edge approaches to portray its Asian roots, as well
as the adventurous and exciting personalities of the brand. This has resulted in an
enlarged footprint for the brand as we gained distribution in Italy, Russia, Turkey
and Switzerland in the past year.
In turn, success in Western markets is publicised in Asia, ensuring our Asian
consumers know that their brand is becoming world acclaimed, underlining
the strong credentials of our leading brand.
Brand activities
A key element of Tiger Beer’s promotional strategy is its association with
international soccer – the most popular sport in the world – and in particular with
the broadcasts of the English Premier League (EPL) and Arsenal FC. Tiger Beer
has been the official sponsor of Arsenal in Singapore, Thailand and Vietnam since
August 2004, has hosted tours of the region by the Premiership Trophy and the
FA Cup, and has brought the game to life for millions of Asian fans.
Since 2002, Tiger Beer has been delivering up to six ‘live’ matches a week from
the EPL, as sponsor of ESPN Star Sports’ TV coverage. Tiger FC events –
showing ‘live’ EPL games on big screens with a big match atmosphere and plenty
of Tiger Beer – are held throughout the season in Singapore, Malaysia and
Vietnam. This season, for the first time, similar Tiger Dome events (held in a giant
air-conditioned tent), have brought the EPL to the heart of Bangkok. In this way,
we are creating a soccer experience for our fans, unique to Tiger Beer.
The brand is also the title sponsor of ASEAN’s most prestigious international
football tournament, the Tiger Cup, which in 2005 saw Singapore defeat Indonesia
to win the country’s first international trophy on home soil. This was the culmination
of 10 years of involvement in ASEAN soccer and has established Tiger Beer as a
top-of-mind brand within ASEAN.
The strategic link to football will continue, with huge opportunities in 2006 –
a World Cup year. But football is not our only link to our consumers. In Europe,
where Tiger Beer has maintained a close association with cutting-edge Asian
culture, it has sponsored a Bruce Lee film festival in UK, as well as Tiger Eye,
a celebration of Asian Film. In Ireland, 350,000 people attended the Tigersponsored 2005 Dublin Electronic Arts Festival. Over in the United States, the
Tiger Beer Chilli Crab Festival was held in New York and Orlando, sponsored
jointly with the Singapore Tourism Board.
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Heineken

Right:
Music lovers enjoying themselves at
the Heineken Green Room session.

Overview
Heineken is a leading global brand and has the widest international presence in
comparison with any other beer. It is perceived as the definitive premium brand in
all the markets in which we operate and is sought after by young adults from
Hanoi to Auckland.
Maintaining and enhancing this position is crucial to APB, and we achieve it by
continuing to invest in high quality advertising, strong sponsorships and
promotions, and in product innovations that keep the brand relevant to its target
market. Additionally, Heineken is supported by, and enhances, our world class
portfolio of brands which has enabled Asia to become a leading growth market
for the Heineken brand.
Accolades and awards
The effectiveness of our marketing support for Heineken is widely acknowledged
– not least by the award this year of two Gold and one Silver medal in the Asia
2005 Promotional Marketing Awards.
The Gold awards recognised the Heineken Green Room sessions as the Most
Effective Long Term Marketing Campaign, and the Heineken All Stars
Programme as the Best Activity Generating Brand Loyalty.
These are awards that crystallise what our activity is about – the promotion of
brand loyalty over the long term.

Heineken,
a premium approach
to a premium brand
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited
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Marketing objectives
Our marketing activities are designed to build the credentials of the brand as
a high quality premium beer and to reinforce its world class status. In Malaysia,
for example, despite punitive duty increases by the government this year and
aggressive price discounting by other European brands to gain market share, we
have remained committed to our strategy of premium price positioning – of adding
value rather than discounting in our promotions and of ensuring that our marketing
activities excite and surprise our target consumers, and this commitment has been
repaid by consumers with strong volume and market share growth.

Top and middle:
Heineken continues to remain in the forefront of
premier tennis tournaments and jazz music events.
Bottom:
‘Meet you there’ – the new global campaign
by Heineken.

Heineken is a modern, urban brand that in all of our markets connects to the
lifestyles of young adults and offers more enjoyable and inspiring experiences than
other international beers.
Brand activities
Key elements of our brand-building strategy for Heineken are world class
advertising, music-based promotions and the sponsorship of international sporting
events, in particular tennis. These include New Zealand’s premier tournament, the
Heineken Tennis Open in Auckland, the Vietnam Open and World Masters Tennis
Cup in Shanghai. In Thailand, however, our main focus is on golf, a premium sport
enjoyed by youthful adult consumers reflecting our brand positioning and the ability
of Heineken to adapt to different international consumer groups.
Music promotions range from sponsorship of the WOMAD world music festival to
the exclusive Heineken Green Room sessions all designed to build a personal and
close connection between consumers and the brand.
In Singapore, the Heineken Green Room sessions are invitation-only events that
offer opinion leaders elite access to cutting-edge music, reinforcing the premium
status of the brand. Young adults clamour to receive an invitation – such is the
prestige of these events.
Similar events are held in Malaysia and New Zealand, and in 2005, for the first time,
Heineken in Thailand held a Heineken Green Carpet Party. This took place on the
roof of Central World Plaza, from where more than 1,000 trendsetters in the world
of fashion, music and sport, enjoyed an exclusive music party overlooking the
Bangkok skyline. We are focused on sharing best practices across our wideranging businesses.
Innovation is key to the brand: not only in advertising and promotion, but in areas
such as packaging. The Malaysian Green Room sessions, for example, featured
Heineken in the revolutionary PACO aluminium bottle, which was also made
available in China during the year. In both of these countries, and also in Singapore,
we launched a 5-litre keg which gives consumers the opportunity to have prechilled premium quality draught beer at virtually any drinking occasion.
With many countries in the region seeing incomes rising and improving beer
market growth, there are still considerable opportunities for Heineken to continue
to develop and expand as markets become more sophisticated, and drinkers
upgrade.
In recognition of this in the Chinese market, we are gearing up brand investment
in Beijing to match investments in Shanghai and Guangzhou; for example, to
improve awareness of Heineken, which has spurred growth. Enhanced price
perception in Shanghai and the successful launch of 50cl bottles significantly
improved distribution and volumes in China.
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Anchor

Fans cheering at the Anchor Cup National Sand
Volleyball Tournament at Haikou Gymnasium.

Overview
Anchor holds a special place in our portfolio. A brand with a heritage derived from
the 1930s, Anchor enables our businesses to have a high quality international
brand at accessible pricing with the flexibility to meet differing market conditions.
Anchor is an international mainstream beer that focuses on quality and freshness.
In addition to the home markets of Singapore and Malaysia, it is brewed and sold
in Vietnam, Cambodia and in South China where it is the top-selling beer.
Accolades and awards
In June 2005, Anchor Ice Beer was accredited as a Grade A ‘Green Product’ by
the China Green Foods Development Centre.
Chinese consumers are increasingly interested in healthy and high quality
products, and ‘Green Food’ is a booming sector. The recognition of Anchor is
providing a valuable platform to differentiate the brand from its competitors.

Life needs an Anchor
and Anchor gives life
to our portfolio
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited
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Brand activities
During 2005 Anchor strengthened its position in Hainan and southern China with
the launch of a new product – Anchor Red Crown – which helped the brand to
achieve a market share in excess of 73%. Flexibility of variants, mirroring China
practices, has enabled Anchor to grow faster than most international brands in
China.
This is considerably higher than forecast at the beginning of the year as the brand
seeks ownership of the mainstream category by focusing on our international
heritage. This growth is a measure of the success both of the Anchor Red Crown
launch campaign, and of the continuing association of Anchor with music in
Hainan.
In addition to the South China Anchor Red Hot Concert series, the brand
sponsored a series of sold-out concerts run in conjunction with MTV, that were
highly effective in maintaining the brand’s image of being young, dynamic and fun.
Anchor will continue to invest in such brand building activities, delivering to the
consumers of Hainan top class events that its competitors cannot match.
Significant brand development activity also took place during the year in Anchor’s
other markets – Cambodia and Vietnam.
The launch of Anchor in a 450ml bottle in March 2005 was another step in the
brand’s efforts to fully penetrate the mainstream beer segment in North Vietnam,
and this was followed in October by the introduction of Anchor in a 330ml can.
Anchor Draught, which was introduced in 2004 and has successfully extended
its distribution to more than 5,000 outlets, is competing in a segment of the
market that is dominated by cheap, local brews. But by focusing on Anchor’s
internationalism, its premium-yet-accessible pricing, high quality, smoothness,
freshness - and coldness – we expect to build the brand further and to
aggressively drive the number of outlets for Anchor Draught.
In Cambodia, volume growth was achieved with the aid of a successful new TV
and poster campaign, which firmly established the connection between young
city dwellers, Anchor beer, friendship and fun.
In addition, the brand benefited from nationwide promotions for both Chinese and
Khmer New Year, the continuation of the highly effective wedding campaign, and
new packaging for the canned product.

Top:
Anchor is our No.1 brand in Hainan, China.
Middle and bottom:
A new campaign drove Anchor’s volume growth
in Cambodia while a new variant, Anchor Red
Crown, was introduced in Hainan.
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Stouts
— Guinness
— ABC Extra Stout
— Amber Stout

Above:
Celebrities from Hong Kong, Taiwan and
Singapore performed at the Guinness Gala Dinner.
Below left:
Guinness Halloween Graveyard Party.

Guinness
Guinness stout enables our Singapore and Malaysian companies to dominate the
market with a wider portfolio than key competitors and drive volume and value
growth.
When consumers think of stout, they think of Guinness. It is the world’s No.1
premium stout and dominates the stout category wherever we manage the brand.
The brand had another good year in Malaysia where it strengthened its position in
the stout market.
During the year, our twin goals in both Singapore and Malaysia, have been to
increase consumption among regular – older – Guinness drinkers through a highly
successful relationship marketing programme, and to recruit new occasional – and
younger – drinkers by means of promotional events such as the Guinness
Halloween Graveyard Party and Guinness Irish Festivals in Singapore, and the
Black Party series in Malaysia, which encourage sampling.
In line with the Guinness positioning strategy, there was a consistent differentiation
of product variant versus target consumer: with Guinness Foreign Extra Stout the
focus for regular drinkers and Guinness Draught for younger adult experimenters
who are new to the alcohol category.
Intense competition in the marketplace has demanded continuous heavy
investment in marketing support – the quality of which was recognised with a
series of awards. Amongst these were a Gold award in the Malaysian Media
Awards for the “Why Not You” cinema campaign; and five major awards from DM
Asia 2005 for direct marketing activity in Singapore and Malaysia.
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ABC Extra Stout
In a world where choice is increasingly important, ABC enables us to offer choice
in stout as well as to expand our portfolio in developing markets.
ABC Extra Stout is sold in Cambodia, where it is positioned as the leading superpremium stout for affluent 30 and 40-somethings, and also in Singapore where
it is a mainstream local stout with a loyal consumer base of 30 – 49 year-old
hardworking workers. In all three markets, the ABC brand consistently delivers
high margin growth for us.
A new TV and poster advertising campaign in Cambodia under the theme of
‘Savour Success’ has had a dramatic impact on sales and consumer preference
during 2005. The campaign will continue in order to attract more young people
to the Cambodian stout market.
Promotional activities in Singapore too are aimed at recruiting younger drinkers
by using Chinese music as a sponsorship platform and this has had good effect.
ABC Extra Stout retains its No.2 position in the Singapore stout market and has
benefited from product placement activity on television, targeted promotions in
the food and take-home channels, travel offers and special packaging showcasing
the zodiac sign of the year (the Rooster).
Amber Stout
Amber Stout is positioned as a premium stout in Vietnam, targeted at expatriates
and middle-class Vietnamese. It is only available on draught and promises
‘Creamy Smoothness in a Glass of Darkness’. It is an easier-drinking variant
of the traditional stronger heavier stout brands.
The brand has a high level of awareness among foreigners, and is building an
intelligent brand personality by means of below-the-line activity. Engaging with
St. Patrick’s Day in 2005, for example, helped to position the brand as
international, distinctive and fun.
In a dynamic economy where consumers are increasingly able to trade up,
Amber Stout is well placed to consolidate its standing in this market segment.

Left:
Power Station from Taiwan performed for fans
of ABC Extra Stout.
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Other brands
— Baron’s
Strong Brew
— Bivina
— Cheers
— DB Draught
— Export Gold
— Gold Crown
— Monteith’s

Baron’s Strong Brew
Baron’s Strong Brew delivered another impressive performance in Singapore’s
high alcohol beer market with year-on-year volume growth of 10%. We expect this
to continue, despite an increase in the number of imported brands entering this
segment and this drives higher margin contribution to our bottom line.
Baron’s Strong Brew has established itself over the past eight years through its
consistent use of imagery that focuses on manliness and on the brand’s European
heritage. This consistency has kept the brand top-of-mind within the category and
among its target market of white collar males in their 30s.
The imagery was reinforced in 2005 through the sponsorship of events such as
the Strong Man Challenge, and a concert by one of the world’s top heavy metal
bands, Slipknot, reflecting an increase in the number of younger drinkers (18 – 24
year-old) being attracted to Baron’s. A new communication campaign has also
kept the brand fresh in consumers’ minds.
The brand is also available in Malaysia where performance was creditable despite
heavy duty increases resulting in price increases.
Bivina
In central and southern Vietnam, Bivina is the beer for hard-working men to enjoy
and share with their friends: a local mainstream brand for price sensitive
consumers who want a high quality product at an affordable price. The brand has
performed well, enabling our operation to take a greater share of consumers’ beer
drinking occasions, as well as enhancing profitability for our trade partners.
A soft re-launch of the brand in 2005 increased both brand awareness and sales.
A special promotion during the Tet season saw sales rise as compared to the
same period in 2004.
Bivina provides strong support to enable our premium brands to penetrate
markets outside of key cities by enabling our distributors to service new outlets
and by enhancing their business profitability.
Cheers
A new mainstream beer brand, Cheers, was launched in Thailand in October
2005.
With an alcohol content of 5.6%, full flavour, smooth taste, and moderate price,
Cheers has been designed to meet a need that is currently not being met
according to our market research.
The brand is positioned as a cheerful and fun beer for young (22 – 30 year-old)
urban consumers, and is being rolled out throughout Thailand in both on and
off trades.
With the mainstream segment in Thailand showing growth, Cheers enables us
to tap into this opportunity and ensure our operation enhances profitability. It also
enables trade partners to enhance their business profitability.
DB Draught
DB Draught remains a key volume contributor, particularly in the South Island
of New Zealand. It is a mainstream beer, positioned as the preferred brand for
hardworking males. It is a beer for those who have earned it, embodying the
traditional Kiwi values of strength, honesty, hard work and loyalty.
Its position as a reward for ‘good mates’ who make the effort to spend time
together, is reflected in the continuing sponsorship of the Canterbury Crusaders,
one of the top rugby teams in the top rugby nation.
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Export Gold
Export Gold is New Zealand’s top-selling lager, which in 2005 also won the
NZ Lager trophy at the BrewNZ Beer Awards for the second year running.
It is a mainstream brand in a sector that has seen a marked increase in
competition. In response, we have launched a new television advertising
campaign which seeks to aggressively bring the brand back into consumers’
minds, with greater focus on lager refreshment and male sociability.
Following the opening of our first Gold concept bar and state-of-the-art music
venue in 2004, we have continued to drive the association with music, through
the roll-out of further branded, ‘live’ music venues in cities such as Auckland,
Wellington and Christchurch.
In New Zealand, Export Gold epitomises summer fun and friendship in the sun
in this key beer-drinking season.
Gold Crown
Gold Crown is the best selling and fastest growing beer brand in Cambodia.
It is an economy brand – which is the most dynamic sector of the Cambodian
market – targeted mainly at rural consumers. Despite its relatively low price, it is
a high quality product that won a Bronze medal in the 2004 World Beer Cup, and
a Silver in the Monde Selection, and delivers consistently growing margin to our
business.
It has a strong distribution network and is receiving focused brand-building
support. This is intended to further increase visibility outside urban areas, and
extend market share in those areas where it is not yet market leader.
As a foundation of our Cambodia portfolio, it enables our more premium brands
wider distribution around key cities and delivers significant profitability to trade
partners.
Monteith’s
Monteith’s is the leader in New Zealand’s craft beer category, producing a wide
range of core and speciality beers that consistently win awards around the world.
Monteith’s Winter Ale, for example, won a Bronze medal in the Brewing Industry
International Awards held in Munich, Germany, in September. Monteith’s Radler,
a crisp, German-style lager won Gold in the Monde Selection, while Monteith’s
Summer Ale and Monteith’s Black Beer were both Silver medal winners in the
2005 Australian Brewing Awards.
2005 saw this quality converted into sales as Monteith’s grew its volumes, with
strong performances in both on and off-premise channels. This growth was further
helped by the continued roll-out of Monteith’s concept bars into major
metropolitan precincts and suburban areas. These venues help to drive draught
volumes and reinforce the matching of beer and food.
Monteith’s niche craft position enables our New Zealand operations and trade
partners to enjoy enhanced margins with this strong brand commanding a price
premium over the competition.
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Other brands
— Niugini ICE
— Reeb
— SP Lager
— Tui

Niugini ICE
Although our brewery in Papua New Guinea enjoys an overwhelming share of the
beer market, its brands do face competition. In the case of the premium ice beer
Niugini ICE, this comes from ready-to-drink (RTD) products targeting the same
market of ‘aspiring youth’.
To combat this RTD development, a new packaging for Niugini ICE was launched.
The brand also sponsored a television talent show called ‘Ice Discovered’, and
exclusive tie-ins and promotions were agreed with on-trade premises that
disrupted the distribution of locally produced RTDs.
As a result, 2005 saw sales of Niugini ICE grow by 19%, delivering a significant
boost to bottom line performance as the brand delivers a higher margin than other
brands in the portfolio.
Reeb
Shanghai is a key Chinese market with intense competition. Reeb, which plays
as a strongly parochial mainstream beer brand to a target audience of 20 – 49
year-old staunch Shanghai consumers, is therefore a vitally important brand for us.
Credibility is crucial, and the quality perception of Reeb has been improved
considerably in recent years through re-packaging and taste adjustments. Reeb’s
sponsorship of the Chinese scientific exploration team to the Antarctic was also
intended to enhance the perception of brand quality. In 2005 this resulted in the
production of Antarctic Limited Edition Reeb – the first beer in the world to use
Antarctic water in the brewing process.
Over the past two years we have continued to shift the focus of our advertising
and promotion towards higher margin variants of the Reeb brand such as Reeb
Full Malt and Reeb Superlite – which has also benefited from an effective drive
for increased distribution in the on-premise segment.
The brand strategy is to inch the positioning of Reeb upwards and lift the overall
brand equity. While Reeb is “the reason I love Shanghai” (its tagline), this margin
enhancement is a great reason to invest in Reeb.
SP Lager
SP Lager is the most popular beer in Papua New Guinea, a mainstream brand
aimed at an 18 – 30 year-old audience that loves sport. Sport – and particularly
rugby league – is an important part of PNG culture, and during the year, SP Lager
maintained its investment in rugby league sponsorship, including the re-launch
of the country’s main tournament, the SP Cup.
Despite competition from low-cost spirits, the brand still achieved growth of 2%
in a market it dominates.
Tui
Volume growth of 7.8% during 2005 keeps us on track to achieving our ambition
of developing Tui into the No.1 mainstream beer in New Zealand by 2010.
Tui is an easy drinking, brown malty ale, that has been consistently expanding
its geographical coverage within New Zealand using the humour of the well
established irreverent “Yeah Right” advertising campaign and rugby sponsorship
to drive growth.
Tui is the beer brand behind Super 12 rugby teams – the Auckland Blues and
the Wellington Hurricanes, and it also supports Hawkes Bay, Wairarapa Bush,
Wellington, Auckland and Taranaki rugby. Its position as the official broadcast
sponsor of Super 12 coverage on Sky Television gives the brand mass exposure
nationwide and drives strong affinity with consumers.
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Milestones

October 2004
— Shanghai Asia Pacific Brewery
launched Tiger Crystal Lite – the first
Tiger Beer variant created specifically
for the Chinese market.

May 2005
— Shanghai Asia Pacific Brewery
commissioned a new bottling line.

June 2005
— Heineken-APB (China) set up a
December 2004
Regional Headquarters in Shanghai
— For the third consecutive year, APB
to manage all of the Group’s activities
was recognised as one of Singapore’s
in China.
Most Valuable Brands at the annual
Singapore Brand Awards. APB’s
August 2005
brand value grew to $1,137 million
— Thai Asia Pacific Brewery celebrated
from $943 million in 2003.
its 10th anniversary.
— Jiangsu Dafuhao acquired a brewery
January 2005
in the city of Wujiang in Jiangsu
— Vietnam Brewery and Hatay Brewery
Province.
were both conferred the Golden
—
Vietnam Brewery completed the
Dragon Award 2004 in recognition
construction
of its second bottling line.
of the contributions made by foreign
direct investments companies
— DB Breweries in New Zealand
in Vietnam.
celebrated its 75th anniversary.
— Phase one of Kingway Brewery’s
September 2005
plant in Shantou, China, was
commissioned at 2 million hectolitres. — Asia Pacific Breweries acquired a 60%
equity stake in United Breweries Lanka
[renamed to Asia Pacific Brewery
February 2005
(Lanka)] in Sri Lanka for US$5 million –
— APB took the 18th position amongst
our first foray into South Asia.
the Top 100 Companies by Highest
Overseas Revenue in the Singapore
— APB won the Distinguished Patron of
International 100 Ranking, as well as
the Arts Award from Singapore’s
one of the top 10 companies with the
National Arts Council.
largest revenue contributions from
— Dafuhao and Kingway were both
Southeast Asia.
named one of the ‘Top 10 famous
products in the Chinese Beer
March 2005
Industry’.
— Heineken-APB (China) acquired a
40% equity interest in Jiangsu
Dafuhao Breweries for US$28.6
million.
— Tiger Beer won a silver medal in the
premium lager category of Wine &
Spirit International & The International
Beer Challenge 2005.
April 2005
— Asia Pacific Breweries Singapore
launched an innovative beer
packaging facility, the first-of-its-kind in
Southeast Asia.
— Jiangsu Dafuhao Breweries was
recognised as one of the ‘Top 10
Enterprises in China Beer Industry’.
— Hainan Asia Pacific Brewery’s second
bottling line began production.
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Corporate social responsibility
We believe in engaging in the communities in
which we build our breweries. We understand
that we have a commitment to the people
who use our products and to the people
we employ.
This represents a set of attitudes that runs
throughout everything that we do in all of our
markets, and which is epitomised by the Asia
Pacific Breweries Foundation.

—Caring for people and communities
—Protecting and improving the environment
—Fostering human potential through the arts,
education and training
—Promoting responsible drinking
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Asia Pacific Breweries Foundation
Since the Asia Pacific Breweries Foundation (‘the APB Foundation’) was
established in 1994, it has provided grants and support to over 150 projects
in Singapore.
Its areas of focus are the development of creativity, the fostering of human
excellence and supporting humanitarian causes.
The APB Foundation has supported causes that cultivate artistic talent, grow
audiences and develop local artistic work, including the Singapore Symphony
Orchestra, the Singapore International Film Festival and the Singapore Dance
Theatre.
In 2005, its contributions to the arts were recognised with a Distinguished Patron
of the Arts Award from the National Arts Council of Singapore.
Acknowledging that Singapore's global competitiveness lies in the hands of its
people, the APB Foundation has been making investments that are designed to
discover and nurture talent, build human capital, and create a competitive edge.
These range from the funding of professorships as diverse as Pathology and
Forensic Science and Physical Education and Sports Science, to support for the
Society for the Physically Disabled in Singapore, which over four years is receiving
$220,000 to fund a scholarship programme. This enables physically-challenged
students to study at local universities. Since the programme’s launch in 2004,
five outstanding students have received scholarships.
The APB Foundation has also donated $300,000 to the Singapore Nurses
Association (SNA) to set up a Resource Centre, which allows more than 3,000
SNA members to research healthcare best practices around the world.

Top:
APB was conferred the Distinguished Patron
of the Arts Award in 2005.
Left:
APB Foundation was the presenting sponsor
of the 18th Singapore International Film Festival.
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Corporate social responsibility/continued

While much of the APB Foundation's work takes place in Singapore, support was
given this year (and until 2007) to a project that will see the transfer of specialist
medical skills to Vietnam.
Under the project, doctors and nurses from Singapore will visit hospitals in Vietnam
four times a year to pass on best practices in palliative care for terminally-ill cancer
patients. The aim of the project is to help Vietnam build up its own communitybased care programmes.
The first teams of Singaporean specialists arrived in Ho Chi Minh City in April and
in Hanoi in May.
Environment
APB has a long-standing commitment to protecting the environment, both in
terms of minimising the impact of our businesses on local communities, and also
on making positive contributions to environmental improvements.
In April 2005, both Kingway plants located in Shenzhen in China were granted
the ISO 14001 Environmental Management System Certificate, which reflects its
commitment to environmental protection.
DB Breweries in New Zealand implemented a comprehensive waste management
system at its Waitemata brewery during the year, which involves the recycling of
organic and inorganic materials. DB Breweries has already received two awards
for this work and is considered a benchmark company for its environmental
approach. The system is now being rolled out at the company’s three other
breweries.
This year, DB Breweries also entered into a five-year partnership with the Mt Bruce
-Pukaha facility near the Tui brewery, to support the restoration of New Zealand’s
native bush and a native bird-breeding programme which includes the Tui bird.
In Thailand, we launched a mangrove planting project to commemorate our 10th
year of operation. Under this initiative, over 10 rai of mangrove forest were planted
near Petchaburi to restore the area’s mangrove ecosystem.
Education
In line with the work of the APB Foundation in developing human excellence,
our breweries in China and Vietnam have also been providing financial assistance
to needy students. For instance, proceeds from the Reeb Charity Auction in
Shanghai were used to set up a RMB 500,000 educational trust fund for
outstanding students in financial need.

72
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited

Annual Report 2005

Corporate social responsibility

Top:
Singapore medical specialists in Vietnam
to impart palliative care practices to local
medical staff.
Bottom:
The Reeb Charity Auction in Shanghai, China.

In Malaysia, the Tiger Sin Chew Chinese Charity Concert series continued to raise
funds for Chinese schools throughout the country. Since this programme began
in 1994, it has raised RM142 million for the benefit of 320 schools. The Guinness
Torch Fund also raised RM130,000 this year for deserving students in Malaysia.
Responsible drinking
As a producer of alcoholic drinks, we recognise our social responsibilities. As
a company that operates in many countries, we are very aware of the different
attitudes to alcohol in different societies. We take great care in ensuring that
we market and promote our beers responsibly. We support sensible drinking
campaigns that promote public awareness, and are particularly active in our
stance against underage drinking and drink driving.
For example, in Singapore we have sponsored the Traffic Police in their anti-drink
drive campaign since 1995. Similar campaigning takes place in New Zealand and
Thailand. Together with four other alcohol producers, we have recently established
REACT – Responsible and Ethical Alcohol Consumption in Thailand – to promote
self regulation, responsible marketing and responsible drinking.
People
We are, of course, also responsible for the well-being of our employees. In Papua
New Guinea, for example, we have been increasing awareness of the company’s
own alcohol policy.
In China, both Kingway plants achieved the internationally recognised OHSAS
18001 Occupational Health and Safety Management System Certificate, which
reflects our commitment to safety in the workplace.
We also believe that continuous learning is vital in developing our people to their
fullest potential, and a comprehensive learning roadmap is developed for each
individual in guiding his or her career within the Group. Not only does this benefit
the individual, but it benefits the company as a whole, giving our people an added
edge to deliver business results and meet challenges in demanding and highly
competitive environments.

Left and below:
We believe in developing our staff to
their fullest potential.
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Major shareholders
Fraser and Neave, Limited
Fraser and Neave, Limited (F&N) had its origins more than a century ago, in the
spirited decisions of two enterprising young men, John Fraser and David Neave,
who diversified from their printing business to pioneer the aerated water business
in Southeast Asia in 1883. From a soft drinks base, F&N ventured into the business
of brewing in 1931, dairies in 1959, glass bottle manufacturing in 1972, property
development and management in 1990 and publishing & printing in 2000.
Having been around for 122 years, F&N has not only stood the test of time but
has grown from strength to strength to be a leading Pan-Asian Consumer Group
with core expertise and dominant standing in the Food and Beverage, Property
and Printing & Publishing industries. Leveraging on its strengths in marketing and
distribution; research and development; brands and financial management; as well
as acquisition experience, it provides key resources and sets strategic directions
for its subsidiary companies across all three industries.
F&N is among the top 25 companies listed on the Singapore stock exchange,
and ranks as one of the most established and successful companies in the region.
Present in over 20 countries spanning Asia Pacific, Europe and USA, the Group
employs close to 14,500 people worldwide.
Food & Beverage
A household name to many, F&N has established itself as a leader in the Food &
Beverage arena in Singapore and Malaysia since the 1930s. Beyond soft drinks,
it has successfully ventured into beer brewing, glass manufacturing as well as dairy
products such as milk, soya milk, juice drinks and ice cream, while building more
and more reputable brands in the region.The Group’s consistent dominance in
market share across various products has led to F&N Soft Drinks being awarded
the Singapore Brand Award for four consecutive years since 2002. Through
established distribution networks and joint partnerships, F&N aims to reinforce
its foothold in the Food & Beverage industry geographically across the Asia Pacific
region, expand its portfolio of brands and strengthen its Research and
Development capabilities.
Properties
Through Centrepoint Properties, F&N owns a suite of residential properties,
retail malls and serviced residences in the region. Its strategic thrust is to
strengthen its expertise in all aspects of the real estate business, including property
development, investment properties, serviced residences, property management
and property funds. To-date, the Group has developed 18 residential projects and
built over 6,000 quality homes in Singapore. Leveraging on the Group’s extensive
network of alliances, Centrepoint Properties will continue to make inroads into
selective overseas markets (China, Australia, UK) to broaden its earnings base.
Publishing & Printing
The rich intellectual capital of Times Publishing paved the Group’s entry into the
knowledge-based economy. Singapore’s largest publishing and printing company,
Times Publishing has a well-established track record in publishing, printing,
direct sales, distribution and retailing of books, magazines and the provision of
educational services.The Group’s diverse publishing business is based on the
concept of total service – from conceptualisation to consumption. Times
Publishing has been reorganised to realise synergies from its centres around
the world, including UK, US, Europe, China, and Australia.
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Heineken

Heineken, which traces its roots to 1864, is one of the world's leading international
brewers. Available in almost every country on the planet, Heineken is the most
valuable international beer brand.
The story of Heineken began in 1864 when Gerard Adriaan Heineken bought
a brewery in the heart of Amsterdam. Over 140 years, four generations of the
Heineken family have strengthened and expanded our brands and company
in Europe and around the world.
Our business is about building great brands and in addition to the Heineken brand,
we brew and sell more than 170 international premium, regional, local and
specialty beers. Our Amstel brand is Europe’s third-largest brand. Other famous
brands in our portfolio include Cruzcampo, Tiger Beer, Zywiec, Birra Moretti,
Ohota, Murphy's and Star.
We have the widest presence of all international brewers, thanks to our global
network of about 115 breweries and distributors. The popularity of our beers is
growing daily in rapidly-expanding beer markets, such as Russia and China.
In the highly profitable beer markets of Western Europe, we are the largest brewer
and beverage distributor. We earn more than half of our revenues there. Heineken
wholesalers also distribute wine, spirits and soft drinks to the on-trade. We have
now extended that leadership to Central and Eastern Europe. We also have a
major international export operation, shipping beer to major profitable markets
such as the US. In some markets, we also produce soft drinks.
We are committed to growth and have embraced innovation as a key component
of our strategy. We work to continually anticipate and meet the changing needs
of consumers. Our innovations are in the areas of marketing communication,
packaging and draught beer systems, where we are an acknowledged leader.
We also take seriously our commitment to conduct business responsibly and in
a sustainable manner. We continuously expand our initiatives to combat alcohol
abuse and misuse and work to set and exceed ever-higher standards in the social
and environmental areas of our business.
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Report on Corporate Governance
Year ended 30 September 2005

Resolute in its mission to build a global presence, Asia Pacific Breweries Limited (“APB”) continues to
surge forward, to seek new markets, invigorate and strengthen its brands and uphold the quality in its
brews. In its drive into new realms and new business opportunities, APB is committed to good corporate
governance. Upholding the values of integrity, transparency and accountability, and pursuing entrepreneurial
and strategic direction for the Group, APB adheres to the principles and guidelines set out in the new Code
of Corporate Governance 2005 (“Code 2005”).
APB’s corporate governance practices are described with reference to Code 2005. In areas where APB
deviates from Code 2005, the rationale is provided.
Code 2005 Principle 1
The Board’s Conduct
of Affairs

The Board of Directors comprises:
Dr Michael Fam
Mr Goh Yong Hong
Dr Han Cheng Fong
Mr D R Hazelwood
Mr Siep Hiemstra*
Mr Koh Poh Tiong
Mr Lee Yong Siang
Mr Huang Hong Peng**
Mr Anthony Cheong Fook Seng
Mr R S Lette
Mr Kenneth Choo Tay Sian
*

**

(Chairman – Non-executive)
(Non-executive)
(Non-executive)
(Non-executive)
(Non-executive)
(Chief Executive Officer)
(Non-executive)
(Alternate to Dr Michael Fam)
(Alternate to Dr Han Cheng Fong)
(Alternate to Mr D R Hazelwood)
(Alternate to Mr Siep Hiemstra)

On 21 June 2005, Mr Siep Hiemstra was appointed to the Board, replacing Mr Herman PPM Hofhuis who retired from the
Heineken organisation and relinquished his position from the Board. Mr Kenneth Choo, alternate to Mr Hofhuis has been
reappointed as alternate to Mr Hiemstra. The Board placed on record its appreciation of Mr Hofhuis’ contributions to the APB
Group.
On 1 April 2005, Mr Huang Hong Peng was appointed alternate to Dr Michael Fam.

Effectively leading the APB Group, the Board provides entrepreneurial leadership, sets strategic goals and
works with Management to achieve the mission and vision for the APB Group.
Code 2005 Guideline 1.3:
Delegation of authority on
certain Board matters

The Executive Committee (“EXCO”) is a specialised Committee of the Board. EXCO is responsible for
formulating and recommending to the Board, the APB Group’s strategic development initiatives, provides
direction for new investments and material financial and non-financial matters. EXCO comprises the
following members:
Mr Koh Poh Tiong
Dr Han Cheng Fong
Mr Siep Hiemstra

(Chairman)
(Member)
(Member)

As previously reported, the Special Committee of Directors comprising:
Mr Lee Yong Siang
Mr Goh Yong Hong
Mr D R Hazelwood

(Chairman)
(Member)
(Member)

was constituted on 4 September 2003 to oversee investigations with the purpose of obtaining legal advice
and dealing with anticipated litigation following the arrest of the former Finance Manager of wholly-owned
subsidiary, Asia Pacific Breweries (Singapore) Pte Ltd (“APBS”) for various forgery charges. Four banks have
since commenced separate actions against APBS. Drew & Napier LLC has been instructed to defend the
claims (please refer to Note 36 of the Notes to the Financial Statements).
Code 2005 Guideline 1.4:
Meetings of the Board
and of Specialised
Committees

Regular meetings of the Board and of specialised committees established by the Board, are convened,
and the number of meetings and attendance by Board members are set out in the table on page 83.
APB’s Articles of Association will be amended to provide for telephone, video conference or any other
form of electronic or instantaneous communication meetings.
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Code 2005 Guideline 1.5:
Chart of Authority

A Chart of Authority approved by the Board, setting out the levels of authorisation for specified types
of transaction has been disseminated to relevant employees.
The APB Group has in place a programme for Directors, to orientate and update Directors on the APB
Group’s facilities and operations, and major new projects.
A session for Directors and senior management, on the Companies (Amendment) Act 2005 and the
revised Code of Corporate Governance 2005, was conducted in August 2005. With a few exceptions,
all Directors are members of the Singapore Institute of Directors (“SID”), and eligible to receive updates
and training from SID.
A formal letter is provided to each Director, upon his appointment, setting out the Director’s duties and
obligations. Directors and Senior Management are encouraged to attend SID courses and receive journal
updates on matters of topical interest.

Code 2005 Principle 2
Board Composition
and Guidance

Notwithstanding that independent Directors make up less than one-third of the Board, the Board believes
that the Board is able to exercise objective judgment on corporate affairs, independently from Management.
This is in view of the shareholding structure of APB, the active participation of the nominee directors of the
major shareholders, and the independent directors on the Board, the various specialised Committees that
have been set up by the Board, and the scope and nature of the operations of APB.
Given the scope and global reach of the APB Group, the Board believes that the size and composition of the
Board is appropriate, and facilitates effective decision making. The Board comprises directors of stature in
the business community, and their combined experience and expertise in various fields (including finance,
management, industry knowledge, strategic planning as well as customer-based experience and expertise),
provide the leadership, resilience and dynamism for the APB Group’s continued thrust forward in its mission
and vision. The non-executive directors constructively challenge, help strategise, and review the performance
of management, in meeting agreed goals and objectives, as well as monitor the reporting of performance.

Code 2005 Principle 3
Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

To ensure an appropriate balance of power, increased accountability and greater capacity of the Board for
independent decision making, the role of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer is separate.
The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer has been clearly
established, set out in writing, and agreed by the Board. The Chairman, with his wealth of experience and
expertise will, among other responsibilities, continue to lead the Board, ensure effective communication with
shareholders, encourage constructive relations between the Board and Management, as well as between
Board members, and promote high standards of corporate governance.
All Board and specialised Committee meetings are formally convened, with the prior circulation of agenda and
relevant supporting papers to members. There is control over the quality, quantity and timeliness of information
flow between Management, the Board and between Management and the specialised Committees.

Code 2005 Guideline 3.1:
Relationship between
the Chairman and
Group CEO

The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer have no familial relationship with each other.
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Code 2005 Principle 4
Board Membership

The Nominating Committee comprises the following Directors, the majority of whom, including the
Chairman, are independent:
Mr Goh Yong Hong
Mr Lee Yong Siang
Dr Han Cheng Fong*
*

Code 2005 Guideline 4.1:
Association with
Substantial Shareholder
(with interest of 5% or
more in the voting shares
of APB)

(Chairman)
(Member)
(Member)

Dr Han Cheng Fong and Mr Siep Hiemstra are alternating members on annual rotational basis.

Dr Han Cheng Fong and Mr Siep Hiemstra are both non-executive Directors of Asia Pacific Investment
Private Ltd (“APIPL”) which is the holding company of APB. APIPL is in turn equally held by Fraser and
Neave, Limited (“F&N”) and the Heineken Group (“Heineken”). Both Dr Han and Mr Hiemstra are *directly
associated with F&N and Heineken, respectively.
Note:
* A director will be considered “directly associated” to a substantial shareholder when the director is accustomed or under an
obligation, whether formal or informal, to act in accordance with the directions, instructions or wishes of the substantial
shareholder.

The Nominating Committee makes recommendations to the Board on all board appointments. The
Nominating Committee is responsible for re-nomination of directors at regular intervals and at least every
three years. In recommending to the Board any re-nomination and re-election of existing Directors, the
Nominating Committee takes into consideration the Directors’ contribution and performance at Board
meetings, including attendance, preparedness, participation and candour.
It is also responsible for determining annually, the independence of directors. In its annual review, the
Nominating Committee, having considered the guidelines set out in the Code, has confirmed the status of
the following non-executive Directors:
Dr Michael Fam
Mr Goh Yong Hong
Dr Han Cheng Fong
Mr D R Hazelwood
Mr Siep Hiemstra
Mr Lee Yong Siang

Non-independent
Independent
Non-independent
Non-independent
Non-independent
Independent

The Nominating Committee is satisfied that sufficient time and attention are being given by the Directors to
the affairs of the APB Group, notwithstanding that some of the Directors have multiple board representations.
Code 2005 Guideline 4.5:
Description of Search &
Nomination Process for
New Directors

In its search and nomination process for new directors, the Nominating Committee has, at its disposal,
search companies, personal contacts and recommendations, to cast its net as wide as possible for the
right candidates.

Code 2005 Guideline 4.6:
Key Information regarding
Directors

Key information regarding directors is set out on pages 84 and 85.

Code 2005 Guideline 5.1:
Process for Assessing
Effectiveness of the
Board & Each Director

An objective performance criteria was used in such assessment, which criteria includes achieving of
financial targets set, performance of the Board as a whole, and of individual directors vis-a-vis their
attendance and contributions during Board meetings, as well as consideration of other factors as set out
in the Guidelines to Principle 5 of the Code 2005. The differing roles, skills and expertise of the Board
members as well as their commitment to their respective roles, facilitate effective decision making for APB.

The Nominating Committee has assessed the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution
of each director.

79
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited

Annual Report 2005

Report on Corporate Governance

Report on Corporate Governance (continued)

Code 2005 Principle 6
Access to Information

Board members are provided with adequate and timely information prior to board meetings, and on an ongoing basis. They have separate and independent access to the Company’s senior management, including
the Company Secretary who, in the normal course of duties, attends all Board meetings, and ensures board
procedures are followed and applicable rules and regulations are complied with. Under the direction of the
Chairman, the Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring good information flows within the Board and
its committees and between senior management and non-executive Directors, as well as facilitating
orientation and assisting with professional development as required.
Directors may, in the furtherance of their duties, take independent professional advice at APB’s expense.

Code 2005 Principle 7
Remuneration Matters

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring a formal and transparent procedure for developing
policy on executive remuneration, and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors and senior
management. The Remuneration Committee recommends to the Board for endorsement, a framework of
remuneration which should cover all aspects of remuneration, including directors’ fees, salaries, allowances,
bonuses, options and benefits in kind, and the specific remuneration packages for each director. It also
administers the Executives’ Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”), which has expired, but which options continue
to be exerciseable by the option holders.
The Remuneration Committee comprises entirely non-executive Directors, the majority of whom, including
the Chairman, are independent:
Mr Lee Yong Siang
Mr Goh Yong Hong
Mr Siep Hiemstra*
*

Code 2005 Principle 8
Level and Mix of
Remuneration

(Chairman)
(Member)
(Member)

Dr Han Cheng Fong and Mr Siep Hiemstra are alternating Committee members on annual rotational basis.

Consistent with the national wages restructuring policy, APB is continuing its adoption of a flexible and
competitive wage system with its implementation on 1 October 2004, of the monthly variable component.
In setting remuneration packages, the Remuneration Committee considers the level of remuneration as
appropriate, to attract, retain and motivate the directors needed to run APB successfully. The Remuneration
Committee recognises that APB should avoid paying more than is necessary, and a significant proportion
of executive directors’ remuneration is structured to link rewards to corporate and individual performance.
In respect of Executive Directors, the performance-related elements of remuneration is designed to align
their interests with those of shareholders, and to link rewards to corporate and individual performance.
There are appropriate and meaningful measures for assessing the Executive Directors’ performance.
In respect of non-executive Directors, their remuneration is appropriate to their level of contribution, taking
into account factors such as effort and time spent, and responsibilities of the Directors.
In the case of service contracts for Executive Directors, there is a fixed appointment period which is not
excessively long or with onerous removal clauses. The Remuneration Committee aims to be fair and avoids
rewarding poor performance.

Code 2005 Principle 9
Disclosure on
Remuneration

APB’s remuneration policy is based on the criteria of five core values, competencies, key result areas,
performance rating and potential, and training needs, using the annual appraisal system. The remuneration
of directors and key executives is set out below. Disclosure is provided to enable investors to understand
the link between remuneration paid to Directors, and key executives, and performance.
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a) Directors of the Company
i) Between $1,000,001 to $1,250,000
Koh Poh Tiong
ii) Below $250,000
Michael Fam
Goh Yong Hong
Han Cheng Fong
D R Hazelwood
Herman PPM Hofhuis*
Siep Hiemstra*
Lee Yong Siang
Huang Hong Peng (alternate)**
Anthony Cheong Fook Seng (alternate)
R S Lette (alternate)
Kenneth Choo Tay Sian (alternate)
*
**

Fee
%

Salary
%

Bonus
%

Allowances
& Benefits
%

Total
%

–

61

30

9

100

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
–
100

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
–
100

On 21 June 2005, Mr Siep Hiemstra was appointed to the Board to replace Mr Herman PPM Hofhuis.
On 1 April 2005, Mr Huang Hong Peng was appointed as alternate director to Dr Michael Fam.

b) Key Executives of the Group
i) Between $500,001 to $750,000
Chris Kidd
Quek Peck Leng

–
–

63
61

18
26

19
13

100
100

ii) Between $250,001 to $500,000
Leslie Buckley
Vivek Chhabra
Tang Swee Seng

–
–
–

53
51
67

16
18
20

31
31
13

100
100
100

Code 2005 Guideline 9.4:
Details of Employee
Share Option

Information on the APB ESOS is set out in the Directors’ Report on pages 90 and 91. Information on key
executives is set out on page 86.

Principle 10
Accountability and Audit

The Board is responsible for providing a balanced and understandable assessment of APB’s performance,
position and prospects, including interim and other price sensitive public reports, and reports to regulators,
if required. Management provides to members of the Board for their endorsement, budgets and targets,
and monthly management accounts which present a balanced and understandable assessment of APB’s
performance, position and prospects.

Code 2005 Principle 11
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises the following non-executive directors, two of whom including the Chairman,
are independent:
Mr Lee Yong Siang
Mr Goh Yong Hong
Dr Han Cheng Fong*
*

(Chairman)
(Member)
(Member)

Dr Han Cheng Fong and Mr D R Hazelwood are alternating Audit Committee members on annual rotational basis.
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Code 2005 Guideline 11.8:
Disclosure of Names of
Members of Audit
Committee & their
Activities

The Board ensures that members of the Audit Committee are appropriately qualified to discharge
their responsibilities, possessing the requisite accounting and related financial management expertise
and experience.
The Audit Committee is empowered to investigate any matter within its terms of reference, and has full
access to, and the co-operation of Management, with full discretion to invite any director or executive officer
to attend its meetings. It has reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its functions properly.
The responsibilities of the Audit Committee include reviewing the scope and results of the audit and its cost
effectiveness, the independence and objectivity of the external auditors, significant financial reporting issues
and judgements to ensure the integrity of the financial statements, any formal announcements relating to
APB’s financial performance, the adequacy of APB’s internal controls, the effectiveness of APB’s internal
audit function, and recommending to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
external auditor.
Management is putting in place, arrangements for endorsement by the Audit Committee, by which staff
of APB may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting
or other matters with the Audit Committee. The objective for such arrangement is to ensure independent
investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow-up action.
In performing its functions, the Audit Committee met with the internal and external auditors, without the
presence of Management, and reviewed the overall scope of both internal and external audits, and the
assistance given by Management to the auditors.
The internal and external auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee
has full access to and co-operation of Management, and has full discretion to invite any director and
executive officer to attend its meetings. Reasonable resources have been made available to the Audit
Committee to enable it to discharge its functions properly.
The Audit Committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and
recommends to the Board of Directors, the nomination of the external auditors for re-appointment.

Code 2005 Principle 12
Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for ensuring that Management maintains a sound system of internal controls to
safeguard shareholders’ investments and the assets of APB. The Audit Committee reviews the adequacy
of such controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls, and risk management policies
and systems established by Management.

Code 2005 Guideline 12.2:
Internal Controls, including
financial operational and
compliance controls, and
risk management

Enterprise-wide risk management (“ERM”) continues to cascade to all levels of the APB Group, in Singapore
and overseas, in a consistent and integrated manner, to embed and operationalise ERM throughout the
APB Group. Key risks, control measures and management actions are continually identified, updated and
monitored, validated by Management, with oversight from the Chief Executive Officer. The internal auditors
review the adequacy of ERM, as part of their routine audit.
The Audit Committee, with the assistance of the internal and external auditors, have reviewed, and the
Board is satisfied with, the adequacy of APB’s material internal controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls, and risk management systems.

Code 2005 Principle 13
Internal Audit

The Internal Audit Department of the APB Group is independent of the activities it audits. The Head of
Internal Audit has a direct reporting line to the Chairman of the Audit Committee, with administrative
reporting to the Company Secretary.
The Internal Audit function is adequately resourced, and has appropriate standing within the APB Group.
The Head of Internal Audit is a certified public accountant.
The Audit Committee has reviewed and is satisfied with the adequacy of the Internal Audit function.
The Board is satisfied that APB is in compliance with the Singapore Exchange’s Best Practices Guide
on Audit Committees.
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Code 2005 Principle 14
Communication with
Shareholders

APB engages in regular, effective and fair communication with its shareholders, striving for timeliness and
transparency, in its disclosures to shareholders and the public. Regular meetings and dialogues are held
with investors, analysts, fund managers and the press. When material information is disseminated to SGX,
such information is simultaneously posted on the Company’s website at www.apb.com.sg.

Code 2005 Principle 15
Communication with
Shareholders

APB encourages greater shareholder participation at its annual general meetings, and allows shareholders
the opportunity to communicate their views on various matters affecting APB. The Chairpersons of the
Audit, Nominating and Remuneration Committees are present and available to address questions at general
meetings. The external auditors are also present to address shareholders’ queries on the conduct of audit
and the preparation and content of the auditors’ report.

Code of Business
Conduct

The Directors, officers and employees are required to observe and maintain high standards of integrity,
as are in compliance with the law and the regulations, and company policies.

SGX Best Practices Guide
on Dealings in Securities

In line with SGX’s Best Practices Guide on Dealings in Securities, the APB Group issues a quarterly circular
to its Directors, officers and employees prohibiting dealings in listed securities of the APB Group from one
month or two weeks, as the case may be, before the announcement of APB’s quarterly, half-year and full-year
financial results, and at any time they are in possession of unpublished material price sensitive information.

Attendance at Board and Specialised Committee Meetings

Directors

Board
No of
Meetings Attendance

Michael Fam
Goh Yong Hong
Han Cheng Fong
D R Hazelwood
Herman PPM Hofhuis(1)
Siep Hiemstra(1)
Koh Poh Tiong
Lee Yong Siang
Huang Hong Peng(2)
Anthony Cheong Fook Seng(3)
R S Lette(4)
Kenneth Choo Tay Sian(5)

6
6
6
6
6
6
6
6
6
6
6
6

6
6
6
5
4
2
6
6
–
–
1
–

Exco
No of
Meetings Attendance

NA
NA
6
NA
NA
6
6
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA

NA
NA
6
NA
NA
3
6
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA

Audit
No of
Meetings Attendance

NA
4
4
4
NA
NA
NA
4
NA
NA
NA
NA

NA
4
2
3
NA
NA
NA
4
NA
NA
NA
NA

Remuneration
No of
Meetings Attendance

NA
3
3
NA
NA
3
NA
3
NA
NA
NA
NA

NA
3
3
NA
NA
3
NA
3
NA
NA
NA
NA

Nominating
No of
Meetings Attendance

NA
1
1
NA
NA
NA
NA
1
NA
NA
NA
NA

NA
1
1
NA
NA
NA
NA
1
NA
NA
NA
NA

Special
No of
Meetings Attendance

NA
1
NA
1
NA
NA
NA
1
NA
NA
NA
NA

NA
1
NA
1
NA
NA
NA
1
NA
NA
NA
NA

Note:
(1) Mr Siep Hiemstra was appointed on 21 June 2005, replacing Mr Herman PPM Hofhuis who retired from the Heineken organisation and relinquished his
position from the Board
(2) Mr Huang Hong Peng is an alternate to Dr Michael Fam
(3) Mr Anthony Cheong Fook Seng is an alternate to Dr Han Cheng Fong
(4) Mr R S Lette is an alternate to Mr D R Hazelwood
(5) Mr Kenneth Choo Tay Sian is an alternate to Mr Siep Hiemstra
NA: Not applicable
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Particulars of Directors as at 30 September 2005

Academic &
Professional
Qualifications

Board Committees as
Chairman or Member

Directorship:
Date first appointed
Date last re-elected

Board appointment
whether executive
or non-executive.
Whether considered
by NC to be
independent

Due for
re-election
at next
AGM

Name of Director

Age

Dr Michael Fam

78

BBM, PJG, DUBC,
DUNU (1st Class),
Hon LLD, Hon D Eng,
Hon D Litt,
Bachelor of Engineering
with 1st Class Honours
in Civil Engineering
Fellow of The Institution
of Civil Engineers, London
Hon Fellow of The
Institution of Engineers,
Australia

Nil

15.08.1979
25.01.2005

Non-executive
Non-independent

Retirement
pursuant
to S153(6)

Mr Goh Yong Hong

66

Bachelor of Laws
(Honours) – University
of Malaya in
Singapore

Member:
Audit Committee
Member:
Remuneration Committee
Chairman:
Nominating Committee
Member:
Special Committee

01.10.1993
28.01.2003

Non-executive
Independent

Retirement
by rotation

Dr Han Cheng Fong

63

Bachelor of Science
(Hons)(1st Class) in
Physics – University of
Singapore
Master of Science
Doctor of Philosophy
– University of
Birmingham, UK

Member:
Executive Committee
Member:
Audit Committee*
Member:
Remuneration
Committee**
Member:
Nominating Committee**

30.09.2002
28.01.2003

Non-executive
Non-independent

–

Non-executive
Non-independent

–

Non-executive
Non-independent

Appointed
during the
year

Executive
Non-independent

–

*alternating Member on annual rotational basis
with Mr D R Hazelwood
**alternating Member on annual rotational basis
with Mr Siep Hiemstra
Mr D R Hazelwood

59

Fellow of the Institute
of Chartered
Accountants, England
and Wales

Member:
Audit Committee*
Member:
Special Committee

30.01.1995
25.01.2005

*alternating Member on annual rotational
basis with Dr Han Cheng Fong
Mr Siep Hiemstra

Mr Koh Poh Tiong

50

59

Bachelor’s degree in
Business Administration
at the School of Higher
Economic Studies,
Rotterdam
Various international
management
programmes
(Cambridge/IMD/Insead)

Member:
Executive Committee
Member:
Remuneration
Committee*
Member:
Nominating Committee*

Bachelor of Science
– University of Singapore

Chairman:
Executive Committee

21.06.2005

*alternating Member on annual rotational basis
with Dr Han Cheng Fong
01.10.1993
27.01.2004

Note:
(1) Information on Directors’ shareholdings in the Company and its related companies is set out on page 89.
(2) Information on Directorships or Chairmanships in other listed companies and other major appointments is set out on pages 34 and 35.
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Report on Corporate Governance (continued)

Particulars of Directors as at 30 September 2005 (continued)

Academic &
Professional
Qualifications

Board Committees as
Chairman or Member

Directorship:
Date first appointed
Date last re-elected

Board appointment
whether executive
or non-executive.
Whether considered
by NC to be
independent

Due for
re-election
at next
AGM

Name of Director

Age

Mr Lee Yong Siang

70

PPA, B.E. (Malaya)
M.Sc (Harvard)
Stanford/Insead
Advanced Management
Program
Fellow of The Institution
of Civil Engineers,
London

Chairman:
Audit Committee
Chairman:
Remuneration Committee
Member:
Nominating Committee
Chairman:
Special Committee

01.01.1995
27.01.2004

Non-executive
Independent

Retirement
pursuant
to S153(6)

Mr R S Lette

57

Commercial Diploma,
Institute Montana,
Zugerberg, Switzerland
Advanced Management
Programmes at both
IMD, Lausanne,
Switzerland and Insead,
Fontainebleau France

Nil

19.06.1995

Non-executive
Alternate to
D R Hazelwood

–

Mr Anthony Cheong
Fook Seng

51

Member of the Institute
of Chartered
Accountants in England
& Wales and the
Institute of Certified
Public Accountants
of Singapore

Nil

01.03.2004

Non-executive
Alternate to
Dr Han Cheng Fong

–

Mr Huang Hong Peng

46

Degree in Air Transport
from the Ecole
National de lAviation
Civile, Toulouse, France
Advanced Management
Program – Harvard
Business School, USA

Nil

01.04.2005

Non-executive
Alternate to
Dr Michael Fam

–

Mr Kenneth Choo
Tay Sian

38

Bachelor of
Accountancy (Hons)
– Nanyang Technological
University, Singapore
Advanced Management
Program – Harvard
Business School,
Cambridge, USA
Member of the Institute
of Certified Public
Accountants of
Singapore

Nil

01.04.2004

Non-executive
Alternate to
Siep Hiemstra

–
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Report on Corporate Governance (continued)

Key Management Staff
Academic &
Professional Qualifications

Name

Age

Working Experience

Area of Responsibility

Rick Linck

49

Business Economic (Masters)
Erasmus University
The Netherlands – 1984
HIMAC – 1996
IMD, Louisiana 1997

Post qualifications experience in the Sales
and Marketing functions in multi-national
organisations based in the Netherlands,
and senior management positions in the
Heineken Group and APB in several countries
including Cambodia, Papua New Guinea
and China.

Regional Director,
Heineken - APB (China)

Christopher
Edward Kidd

48

Bachelor of Arts (Honours)
(Major in Geography),
Durham University,
United Kingdom – 1978

More than 20 years of post graduate
qualifications experience which include
stints with British Petroleum in various
countries in the regional marketing function
and business development, before joining
APB in 1994.

Regional Director (Indo-China),
Cambodia, Thailand and
Vietnam

Quek Peck Leng

50

Bachelor of Arts, University of
Singapore, 1979
Graduate Diploma in Personnel
Management, Singapore Institute of
Management, 1992

More than 20 years of post qualifications
experience in the human resource
function, with Metal Box Singapore and
Transnational Co. Pte Ltd before joining
APB in 1990.

Regional Director
(S.E.A./Oceania)
Malaysia, Singapore,
New Zealand

Vivek Chhabra

46

Bachelor of Commerce (Honours),
Bombay University, 1979
Chartered Accountant, Institute of
Chartered Accountants of India, 1981
Diploma in Computer Management,
Bombay University, 1985

More than 20 years of post qualifications
experience in finance function in various
countries in the Asia Pacific region including
RJR Nabisco/Britannia, India and Britannia/
Beta Brands, Singapore, before joining
APB in 1995.

Director (Group Business
Development)

Tang Swee Seng

45

Bachelor of Accountancy,
National University of Singapore, 1984

Post qualifications experience include
working in the finance function in multi-national
corporations based in Singapore, including
Arthur Young & Co, Price Waterhouse, Booz,
Allen & Hamilton, Becton Dickinson Asia Pacific,
Baxter Healthcare Asia, before joining APB in
May 2003.

Director (Group Finance)
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Directors’ Report
Year ended 30 September 2005

Your directors have pleasure in submitting their report and the audited financial statements of the Company and of the group for
the financial year ended 30 September 2005.
1. DIRECTORATE
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:
Dr Michael Fam
Mr Goh Yong Hong
Dr Han Cheng Fong
Mr D R Hazelwood
Mr Siep Hiemstra
Mr Koh Poh Tiong
Mr Lee Yong Siang
Mr R S Lette
Mr Anthony Cheong Fook Seng
Mr Huang Hong Peng
Mr Kenneth Choo Tay Sian

(Appointed on 21 June 2005)
(Alternate to Mr D R Hazelwood)
(Alternate to Dr Han Cheng Fong)
(Appointed as alternate to Dr Michael Fam on 1 April 2005)
(Appointed as alternate to Mr Siep Hiemstra on 21 June 2005)

Mr Herman Hofhuis resigned from the Board on 21 June 2005.
At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting the following directors retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election:
— Pursuant to Section 153 of the Companies Act, Cap 50:
— Dr Michael Fam
— Mr Lee Yong Siang
— By rotation pursuant to Article 96 of the Company’s Articles of Association:
— Mr Goh Yong Hong
— Appointed during the year pursuant to Article 86 of the Company’s Articles of Association:
— Mr Siep Hiemstra
2. ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES
Neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any arrangements to which the Company or the
group is a party whereby directors of the Company might acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate except for the options granted under the Asia Pacific Breweries Limited Executives’
Share Option Scheme referred to under paragraph 5(a).
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3. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES OR DEBENTURES
The directors who held office at the end of the financial year and their beneficial or deemed interests in the issued capital of the
Company and its related corporations as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 164 of the Companies Act,
Cap. 50 were as follows:
Ordinary shares
of the Company
As at
1 Oct 2004

Michael Fam

50,000(1)

(Alternate:
Huang Hong Peng)

Other securities in
group companies

As at
30 Sep 2005

50,000(1)

105,435(4) 105,435

As at
1 Oct 2004

As at
30 Sep 2005

1,165,005 (2) 1,165,005(2)
516,000
774,000
2,315,794 (3) 2,315,794
123,750 (4)

Goh Yong Hong

Nil

Nil

Han Cheng Fong

Nil

Nil

(Alternate: Anthony
Cheong Fook Seng)

Nil

Nil

4,050
100,310

4,050
204,800

D R Hazelwood

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

(Alternate: R S Lette)

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Siep Hiemstra

Nil(5)

Nil

Nil (5)

Nil

(Alternate: Kenneth
Choo Tay Sian)

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

287,500

242,500

270,000

180,000

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Koh Poh Tiong
Lee Yong Siang

Nil

123,750

Name of company

Fraser and Neave, Limited Ordinary Shares
Fraser and Neave, Limited Share Options
Frasers Property (China) Limited Ordinary Shares
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited Share Options

Nil

371,520
526,320
3,000,000 (3) 3,000,000

Fraser and Neave, Limited Share Options
Frasers Property (China) Limited Share Options
Fraser and Neave, Limited Ordinary Shares
Fraser and Neave, Limited Share Options

Asia Pacific Breweries Limited Share Options

(1) Deemed interest in 50,000 ordinary shares held by Fraser & Neave (Singapore) Ltd Staff Provident Fund (“Fund”) whereby Dr Michael Fam is the Chairman of the
Trustees of the Fund.
(2) Includes deemed interest in 80,000 ordinary shares held by the Fund.
(3) Frasers Property (China) Limited (formerly known as Vision Century Corporation Limited) became a subsidiary of Fraser and Neave, Limited on 22 September 2005.
(4) As at date of appointment, i.e. 1 April 2005.
(5) As at date of appointment, i.e. 21 June 2005.
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4. DIRECTORS’ CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS
Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or has become entitled to receive a benefit required to be
disclosed by Section 201(8) of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related
corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is a member or with a company in which he had a substantial financial
interest except in respect of remuneration as shown in the financial statements and in respect of participation by Mr Koh Poh
Tiong in the Executives’ Share Option Scheme of the Company and participation by Dr Michael Fam, Dr Han Cheng Fong,
Mr Anthony Cheong Fook Seng and Mr Huang Hong Peng in the Executives’ Share Option Scheme of the Company’s ultimate
holding company, Fraser and Neave, Limited.
5. SHARE OPTIONS
(a) Asia Pacific Breweries Limited Executives’ Share Option Scheme (“Scheme”)
(i) Approved by Shareholders on 21 February 1995. The Scheme expired in July 2004 but Options already
granted under that Scheme remains exercisable until the end of the relevant Option Period.
(ii) The Scheme is administered by the Remuneration Committee, which comprises the following three directors:
Mr Lee Yong Siang (Chairman)
Mr Goh Yong Hong
Mr Siep Hiemstra / Dr Han Cheng Fong*
*

Dr Han Cheng Fong and Mr Siep Hiemstra are appointed alternating members on an annual rotational basis.

(iii) No option has been granted to controlling shareholders or their associates, or parent group employees and no employee
has received 5% or more of the total options available under the Scheme.
(iv) The following are details of options granted to and exercised by Directors:
Name of
participant

Number of
ordinary shares
granted under
options during
the financial year

Aggregate number
of ordinary shares
granted under
options since
commencement
of Scheme to end of
the financial year
under review

Aggregate number
of ordinary shares
granted under
options exercised
since commencement
of Scheme to end of
the financial year
under review

Koh Poh Tiong

Nil

877,500

427,500

270,000

180,000

Huang Hong Peng

Nil

315,685

154,435

37,500

123,750
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lapsed

Aggregate number
of ordinary shares
granted under
options outstanding
as at end of the
financial year
under review

Directors’ Report (continued)

5. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)
Information pertaining to Outstanding Options
At the end of the financial year, there were 1,892,999 unissued ordinary shares of the Company under options granted pursuant to
the Scheme. Details of the options to subscribe for ordinary shares of $1.00 each in the capital of the Company granted to
executives pursuant to the Scheme are as follows:

#

Options

Offer
date

Balance
as at
1.10.2004

Options
lapsed#

Options
exercised

1999

23.12.1998

12,879

–

(500)

2000

22.12.1999

103,460

–

2001

20.12.2000

184,730

2002

08.10.2001

2003
2004

Balance
as at
30.9.2005

Exercise
price

Exercise period

12,379

$3.61

22.09.2001 – 21.11.2008

(85,640)

17,820

$4.28

21.09.2002 – 20.11.2009

–

(131,030)

53,700

$3.91

19.09.2003 – 18.11.2010

532,700

–

(392,075)

140,625

$3.79

08.07.2004 – 07.09.2011

15.10.2002

1,003,050

(20,750)

(345,350)

636,950

$4.79

15.07.2005 – 14.09.2012

08.10.2003

1,041,950

(10,425)

–

1,031,525

$6.29

08.07.2006 – 07.09.2013

2,878,769

(31,175)

(954,595)

1,892,999

lapsed due to resignation

Statutory and other information regarding the Options
(i) The Exercise Price is equal to the market value of a share based on the average last done price on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited for the five market days preceding the Offer Date.
(ii) The grantee may exercise an option during the Exercise Period (which commences 33 months after the Offer Date)
by notice in writing accompanied by a remittance for the number of options at the full amount of the Exercise Price.
(iii) Options expire 119 months after the Offer Date unless an option has previously lapsed by reason of the cessation
of employment of the grantee after the grant of an option and before its exercise.
(iv) The number of shares which may be acquired by a grantee and the Exercise Price are subject to adjustment, as confirmed
by the auditors of the Company that such adjustment is fair and reasonable, by reason of any issue of additional shares in
the Company by way of rights or capitalisation of profits or reserves made while an option remains unexercised.
(v) The persons to whom the options have been issued have no right to participate by virtue of the options in any share issue
of any other company.
(b) Other than those disclosed at sub-paragraph (a) above, there were no unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in
the group under options as at the end of the financial year to which this report relates.
(c) Other than those disclosed at sub-paragraph (a) above, no shares of the Company or any corporation in the group were issued
during the financial year by virtue of the exercise of options to take up unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in
the group, whether granted before or during that financial year.
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6. AUDIT COMMITTEE
At a series of meetings convened during the twelve months up to the date of this report, the Audit Committee reviewed reports
prepared respectively by the external and the internal auditors and approved proposals for improvement in internal controls.
The announcement of quarterly results and the financial statements of the Company and of the group and the audit report
thereon for the full year were also reviewed prior to consideration and approval of the Board.
The Committee has nominated Ernst & Young for re-appointment by shareholders as auditors for the ensuing financial year.
7. AUDITORS
The auditors, Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants, Singapore have expressed willingness to accept re-appointment.
8. OTHER INFORMATION REQUIRED BY SINGAPORE EXCHANGE SECURITIES TRADING LIMITED
The interests of the directors of the Company in the share capital of the Company and of its related companies as at the
21st day after the end of the financial year remained unchanged from those at 30 September 2005 as set out at paragraph 3
hereof, except for –
Dr Michael Fam, Dr Han Cheng Fong, Mr Anthony Cheong Fook Seng and Mr Huang Hong Peng who were respectively granted,
under the Fraser and Neave, Limited 1999 Executives’ Share Option Scheme, 258,000, 174,150, 127,710 and 69,660 of Year 7
Options (2006) exercisable not earlier than 10 July 2008 at $17.32 per share.
Since the end of the previous financial year, the Company and its subsidiaries did not enter into any material contracts involving
interests of the directors or controlling shareholders and no such material contracts still subsist at the end of the financial year,
other than those disclosed in this Directors’ Report and in the Financial Statements.
On behalf of the Board

........................................
Michael Fam
Director

........................................
Lee Yong Siang
Director

........................................
Koh Poh Tiong
Director

Singapore, 11 November 2005
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Statement by Directors
Year ended 30 September 2005

We, Michael Fam, Lee Yong Siang and Koh Poh Tiong, being three of the Directors of Asia Pacific Breweries Limited, do hereby
state that in the opinion of the Directors:
(i) the balance sheet, profit statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement together with the notes thereto,
set out on pages 95 to 127, are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
group as at 30 September 2005 and of the results of the businesses and changes in equity of the Company and of the group
and the cash flows of the group for the year ended 30 September 2005;
(ii) at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and
when they fall due.

On behalf of the Board

........................................
Michael Fam
Director

........................................
Lee Yong Siang
Director

........................................
Koh Poh Tiong
Director

.................................................
Anthony Cheong Fook Seng
Company Secretary
Singapore, 11 November 2005
This statement is signed pursuant to Section 201(15) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and to Article 143 of the Company’s Articles of Association.
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Auditors’ Report
To the Members of Asia Pacific Breweries Limited

We have audited the financial statements of Asia Pacific Breweries Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiary companies (the
“group”) set out on pages 95 to 127 for the year ended 30 September 2005. These financial statements are the responsibility
of the Company’s directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion,
(a) the consolidated financial statements of the group and the financial statements of the Company are properly drawn up in
accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting
Standards and so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the group as at 30 September
2005, and of the results and changes in equity of the Company and of the group and the cash flows of the group for the year
ended on that date; and
(b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary companies
incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Singapore, 11 November 2005
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Profit Statement
Year ended 30 September 2005

The Group

The Company

2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

1,436,438
(854,261)

1,370,697
(823,513)

19,172
–

18,487
–

Gross profit

582,177

547,184

19,172

18,487

Operating expenses
— Distribution
— Marketing
— Administration

(48,165)
(247,173)
(99,145)

(40,722)
(236,893)
(97,405)

–
(27,247)
(26,239)

–
(15,792)
(21,702)

Trading profit/(loss)

187,694

172,164

(34,314)

(19,007)

Gross dividends from subsidiaries

–

–

114,036

125,498

Gross dividends from joint venture companies

–

–

15,596

15,182

28,813

22,913

–

–

3,911

4,527

66

1,541

220,418

199,604

95,384

123,214

Notes

Revenue
Cost of sales

3

Share of joint venture and associated companies’ profits
Gross income from investments

6

Profit before interest, taxation and exceptional items
Net interest income

4

4,571

3,542

238

901

Profit before taxation and exceptional items

4

224,989

203,146

95,622

124,115

Exceptional items

7

809

(2,317)

1,458

1,006

225,798

200,829

97,080

125,121

(70,467)

(56,090)

(7,516)

(5,507)

Profit after taxation

155,331

144,739

89,564

119,614

Minority interests, net of taxes

(39,135)

(42,214)

–

–

Attributable profit
Before exceptional items
Exceptional items

115,539
657

104,826
(2,301)

88,106
1,458

118,608
1,006

116,196

102,525

89,564

119,614

Profit before taxation
Taxation

8

Earnings per $1 share (basic):
Before exceptional items
After exceptional items
Earnings per $1 share (fully diluted):
Before exceptional items
After exceptional items

10

45.1¢
45.4¢

41.1¢
40.2¢

45.1¢
45.3¢

41.0¢
40.1¢

The accounting policies and notes on pages 101 to 127 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Balance Sheet
as at 30 September 2005

The Group
Notes

Share capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

11
12

Minority interests

The Company

2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

256,405
608,812
865,217
73,842

255,450
551,209
806,659
63,096

256,405
591,754
848,159
–

255,450
570,769
826,219
–

939,059

869,755

848,159

826,219

525,840
–
263,612
445
41,532
100,958
1,201

469,487
–
224,855
430
36,747
91,119
2,136

1,989
576,891
253,155
–
589
4,267
–

1,936
562,369
222,985
–
1,027
4,693
–

91,108
94,012
21,744
–
18,440
863
11,481
72,218
30,610
340,476

78,658
92,306
13,593
–
16,976
4,121
13,123
94,952
19,560
333,289

–
–
5,734
26,122
18,342
195
–
1,930
1,022
53,345

–
–
1,731
23,226
16,966
416
–
22,677
1,196
66,212

116,770
98,312
4,378
18,536
38,029
30,118
306,143

102,961
66,590
13,184
13,841
36,445
31,390
264,411

–
24,867
1,740
6,832
–
8,638
42,077

74
10,040
10,676
2,640
–
9,573
33,003

34,333
967,921

68,878
893,652

11,268
848,159

33,209
826,219

23,900
2,967
1,995
28,862

21,683
2,214
–
23,897

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

939,059

869,755

848,159

826,219

Represented by:
Fixed assets
Subsidiary companies
Joint venture companies
Associated companies
Other investments
Intangibles
Deferred tax assets
Current assets
Inventories
Trade debtors
Other debtors
Amounts due from subsidiary companies
Amounts due from joint venture companies
Amounts due from related companies
Short term investments
Bank fixed deposits
Cash and bank balances

Deduct: Current liabilities
Trade creditors
Other creditors
Amounts due to joint venture companies
Amounts due to related and associated companies
Bank borrowings
Provision for taxation

13
14
15
16
17
18
29

20
21
22
26
27
27
23
24

25
27
27
28

Net current assets
Deduct: Deferred liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Provision for employee benefits
Bank borrowings

29
30
28

The accounting policies and notes on pages 101 to 127 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 30 September 2005

The Group
Capital
Revenue
Reserves
Reserves
($’000)
($’000)

Share
Capital
($’000)

Share
Premium
($’000)

Exchange
Reserves
($’000)

Dividend
Reserves
($’000)

Total
($’000)

255,450

6,917

15,799

545,146

(52,416)

35,763

806,659

Currency exchange difference arising
from translating foreign assets and
liabilities of subsidiary, joint venture
and associated companies

–

–

–

–

9,986

–

9,986

Net gains not recognised in the
profit statement

–

–

–

–

9,986

–

9,986

955

3,066

–

–

–

–

4,021

–

–

–

116,196

–

–

116,196

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

(42)
(35,840)
(41,025)
(76,907)

–
–
–
–

(35,763)
–
41,025
5,262

(35,805)
(35,840)
–
(71,645)

256,405

9,983

15,799

584,435

(42,430)

41,025

865,217

254,337

3,650

18,769

513,465

(52,311)

35,607

773,517

Currency exchange difference arising
from translating foreign assets and
liabilities of subsidiary, joint venture
and associated companies

–

–

–

–

(105)

–

(105)

Capital reserves no longer required by
statutory requirements

–

–

(736)

736

–

–

–

Deferred tax on revaluation reserves

–

–

(2,234)

–

–

–

(2,234)

Net (losses)/gains not recognised in the
profit statement

–

–

(2,970)

736

(105)

–

(2,339)

1,113

3,267

–

–

–

–

4,380

–

–

–

102,525

–

–

102,525

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

(98)
(35,719)
(35,763)
(71,580)

–
–
–
–

(35,607)
–
35,763
156

(35,705)
(35,719)
–
(71,424)

255,450

6,917

15,799

545,146

(52,416)

35,763

806,659

Notes

Year ended 30 September 2005
Balance at 1 October 2004

Issue of shares in the Company upon
exercise of Executives’ Share Options
Attributable profit
Dividends
Final dividend paid for the previous year
Interim dividend paid for the year
Final dividend proposed for the year

9

Balance at 30 September 2005
Year ended 30 September 2004
Balance at 1 October 2003

Issue of shares in the Company upon
exercise of Executives’ Share Options
Attributable profit
Dividends
Final dividend paid for the previous year
Interim dividend paid for the year
Final dividend proposed for the year

Balance at 30 September 2004

9

The accounting policies and notes on pages 101 to 127 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)

The Company
Revenue
Exchange
Reserves
Reserves
($’000)
($’000)

Dividend
Reserves
($’000)

Total
($’000)

(450)

35,763

826,219

–

–

–

4,021

–

89,564

–

–

89,564

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

(42)
(35,840)
(41,025)
(76,907)

–
–
–
–

(35,763)
–
41,025
5,262

(35,805)
(35,840)
–
(71,645)

256,405

9,983

541,196

(450)

41,025

848,159

254,337

3,650

480,505

(114)

35,607

773,985

Currency exchange difference arising
from translating net investment in
a joint venture company

–

–

–

(336)

–

(336)

Net losses not recognised in the profit statement

–

–

–

(336)

–

(336)

1,113

3,267

–

–

–

4,380

–

–

119,614

–

–

119,614

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

(98)
(35,719)
(35,763)
(71,580)

–
–
–
–

(35,607)
–
35,763
156

(35,705)
(35,719)
–
(71,424)

255,450

6,917

528,539

(450)

35,763

826,219

Notes

Share
Capital
($’000)

Share
Premium
($’000)

255,450

6,917

528,539

955

3,066

–

Year ended 30 September 2005
Balance at 1 October 2004
Issue of shares in the Company upon
exercise of Executives’ Share Options
Attributable profit
Dividends
Final dividend paid for the previous year
Interim dividend paid for the year
Final dividend proposed for the year

9

Balance at 30 September 2005

Year ended 30 September 2004
Balance at 1 October 2003

Issue of shares in the Company upon
exercise of Executives’ Share Options
Attributable profit
Dividends
Final dividend paid for the previous year
Interim dividend paid for the year
Final dividend proposed for the year

Balance at 30 September 2004

9

The accounting policies and notes on pages 101 to 127 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Cash Flow Statement
Year ended 30 September 2005

The Group
2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

Profit before taxation and exceptional items
Adjustment for:
Depreciation of fixed assets
Provision for employee benefits
Amortisation of brand
Loss on disposal of fixed assets (net)
Provision for fixed assets write off/(back)
Amortisation of goodwill
Share of joint venture and associated companies’ profits
Investment income
Net interest income
Operating cash before working capital changes
Change in inventories
Change in trade and other debtors
Change in trade and other creditors
Change in related companies’ balances
Currency realignment
Cash generated from operations
Net interest received
Employee benefits paid
Income taxes paid

224,989

203,146

43,303
889
426
129
72
–
(28,813)
(3,911)
(4,571)
232,513
(11,650)
(6,417)
35,889
(2,317)
2,769
250,787
4,278
(193)
(60,274)

43,513
385
427
748
(951)
254
(22,913)
(4,527)
(3,542)
216,540
(6,900)
(4,703)
(2,944)
7,687
3,967
213,647
3,546
(241)
(52,418)

Net cash from operating activities

194,598

164,534

15,596
4,545
3,525
1,631
–
–
(89,912)
(30,170)
(6,525)
(5,482)
(2,842)

15,182
22,124
4,536
1,979
99,543
335
(56,541)
(138,049)
(20,777)
–
(119,815)

(109,634)

(191,483)

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Dividends from joint venture companies
Proceeds from disposal of investments
Investment income
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary company
Dividends and capital repayment by an associated company
Purchase of fixed assets
Additional loans to joint venture company
Purchase of investments
Purchase of subsidiary company (Note 14)
Purchase of minorities’ shares in a subsidiary company
Net cash used in investing activities
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Cash Flow Statement (continued)

The Group
2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares by Company
Proceeds from bank borrowings (net)
Payment of dividends:
— by Company to shareholders
— by subsidiaries to minority interests

4,021
598

4,380
1,780

(71,645)
(28,248)

(71,424)
(39,368)

Net cash used in financing activities

(95,274)

(104,632)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Effect of exchange rates on opening balance of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

(10,310)
(442)
112,898

(131,581)
(2,808)
247,287

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

102,146

112,898

72,218
30,610
(682)

94,952
19,560
(1,614)

102,146

112,898

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year consist of:
Bank fixed deposits
Cash and bank balances
Bank overdrafts (Note 28)

The accounting policies and notes on pages 101 to 127 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 30 September 2005

The following Notes form part of the financial statements on pages 95 to 100.
1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in Singapore. The holding company
is Asia Pacific Investment Pte Ltd. Under the provisions of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, Fraser and Neave, Limited is regarded
as the ultimate holding company by reason of its rights to appoint a majority of the directors of Asia Pacific Investment Pte Ltd.
Both the holding company and the ultimate holding company are also incorporated in Singapore.
The principal activities of the group are the brewing and sale of beer and stout. These activities are carried out through subsidiary
and joint venture companies to which the Company provides management and administrative services. There were no significant
changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year. The principal place of business of the Company is at 438
Alexandra Road, #16-00 Alexandra Point, Singapore 119958.
The group operates in 9 countries in the Asia Pacific region. As at 30 September 2005, the group and the Company employed
3,167 and 70 employees respectively (2004: group 2,868 and Company 75).
The financial statements of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the group were authorised for issue in
accordance with a resolution of the directors on 11 November 2005.
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a) Basis of accounting
The financial statements of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the group are expressed in Singapore
dollars. The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of certain fixed
assets and investments. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards
(“FRS”) as required by the Companies Act, Cap. 50.
The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Company and the group and except for the changes in accounting
policies discussed more fully below, are consistent with those used in the previous financial year.
b) Changes in accounting policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except that the group has adopted FRS
103 Business Combinations, revised FRS 36 Impairment of Assets and revised FRS 38 Intangible Assets.
The group adopted these FRS with effect from 1 October 2004 which resulted in a change in accounting treatment for goodwill.
FRS 103 requires goodwill acquired in a business combination to be measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is no longer amortised. Instead, impairment is tested annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the goodwill might be impaired. The effect of the adoption of these FRS has led to an increase in current year
attributable profit of the group by $6.1m.
c) Consolidation
Subsidiary companies are consolidated from the date the parent company obtains control until such time the control ceases.
Acquisitions of subsidiary companies are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting.
The financial year of the Company and all its subsidiary companies ends on 30 September unless otherwise stated. The
consolidated financial statements of the group incorporate the financial statements of the Company and all its subsidiary
companies made up to 30 September. The financial statements of subsidiary companies are prepared using consistent
accounting policies. Adjustments are made to any dissimilar material accounting policies to conform to the group’s accounting
policies. A list of the Company’s subsidiary companies is shown at Note 38.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
d) Investments
The Company’s investments in subsidiary companies are stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Other investments held on a long term basis are stated at cost or directors’ valuation.
Short term quoted investments are measured at the lower of cost and market value determined on an aggregate basis.
Short term unquoted investments are measured at cost.
An assessment of the book value of investments is performed when there is indication that the investment has been impaired
or the impairment losses recognised in prior years no longer exist.
e) Joint venture companies
These are companies (not being subsidiary companies) in which the group has a long term interest of not more than 50% of the
equity and has joint control in the companies’ commercial and financial affairs.
The group’s investments in joint venture companies are recorded at cost less accumulated impairment losses and adjusted to
recognise the group’s share of the post acquisition reserves of the joint venture companies.
The group’s share of the consolidated results, which also includes the group’s share of taxation and exceptional items, and net
assets of the joint venture companies and their subsidiary companies are included in the consolidated financial statements
under the equity method based on their latest audited financial statements except where their financial periods do not end on
30 September, then management accounts to 30 September are used.
Where an investment in a joint venture company is acquired or sold during the year, its results are included from the date of
acquisition or excluded from the date of sale. A list of the joint venture companies is shown at Note 38.
f) Associated companies
These are companies (not being subsidiary companies or joint venture companies) in which the group has a long-term interest
of not less than 20% of the equity and exercises significant influence on their financial and operating policy decisions.
The group’s investments in associated companies are recorded at cost less accumulated impairment losses and adjusted to
recognise the group’s share of the post acquisition reserves of the associated companies.
The group’s share of the results and net assets of associated companies is included in the consolidated financial statements
under the equity method on the same basis as joint venture companies. A list of the associated companies is shown at Note 38.
g) Fixed assets
Fixed assets are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an
asset comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to working condition for its intended
use. Expenditure for additions, improvements and renewal are capitalised and expenditure for maintenance and repairs are
charged to the profit statement. When assets are sold or retired, their cost or valuation and accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses are removed from the financial statements and any gain or loss resulting from their disposal
is included in the profit statement.
Where fixed assets are revalued, any surplus on revaluation is credited to asset revaluation reserves. A decrease in net carrying
amount arising on revaluation of fixed assets is charged to the profit statement to the extent that it exceeds any surplus held in
asset revaluation reserves relating to previous revaluations of the same class of assets. The revaluation of fixed assets is only
undertaken whenever a specific need arises.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
g) Fixed assets (continued)
Depreciation is calculated on the straight line method to write off the cost or valuation of fixed assets over their estimated useful
lives. No depreciation is charged for freehold land and uncommissioned capital work-in-progress. The annual depreciation rates
applied to write down fixed assets over their estimated useful lives are as follows:
Leasehold land
Building
Plant and machinery
Other assets

—
—
—
—

The term of the lease (no depreciation for leasehold land with 999 years tenure)
2% to 5%
3.3% to 20%
9% to 33%

Other assets comprise motor vehicles, forklift trucks, beer coolers and furniture and fixtures.
Capital work-in-progress is not depreciated until each stage of development is completed and becomes operational.
The carrying amounts, both revalued and those measured at cost, are reviewed at each balance sheet date to assess whether
they are recorded in excess of their recoverable amount, and if carrying value exceeds this recoverable amount, assets are
written down.
h) Intangibles
Intangible assets acquired separately are capitalised at cost. Intangible assets from a business acquisition are capitalised at fair
value at the date of acquisition. After initial recognition, an intangible asset is carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses.
The useful lives of these intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Amortisation charged on finite intangible
assets are taken to profit statement as amortisation expenses.
Internally generated goodwill and internally generated intangible assets arising from research are not capitalised and expenditure
is charged to the profit statement when it is incurred. Internally generated intangible asset arising from development is capitalised
only when its future recoverability can reasonably be regarded as assured.
Intangible assets are tested for impairment annually. Useful lives are also examined on an annual basis and adjustments, where
applicable, are made on a prospective basis.
Goodwill
Goodwill on acquisition is identified as being the excess of the cost of acquisition over the group’s share of net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired as at the date of acquisition. Where the cost of acquisition is lower
than the group’s share of net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired, the difference is
recognised as negative goodwill. Negative goodwill is recognised immediately in the profit statement.
Goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. From 1 October 2004, goodwill is not amortised but is subject
to impairment tests annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired.
Goodwill acquired is allocated to each of the cash-generating units expected to benefit from the acquisition’s synergies.
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill relates.
Brands
Brands with a finite life are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated to write off the cost of brands over their estimated useful lives, of not more than 15 years on a straight line basis.
Brands with indefinite lives are not amortised but tested for impairment annually.
Internally generated brands are not capitalised and expenditure is charged to the profit statement in the year in which the
expenditure is incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
i) Inventories
Containers comprise returnable bottles and crates. Returnable bottles are valued at repurchase price/deposit value (including
freight where significant, and the difference between the original cost and repurchase price/deposit value is written off over a
period not exceeding 5 years) and crates are amortised over a period not exceeding 8 years; alternatively these assets are valued
at net realisable value, if lower. Abnormally large purchases of bottles are accounted for by writing off, based on the estimated
lifespan, a portion of the cost in excess of repurchase prices.
Raw materials and manufactured inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. In arriving at net realisable
value, due allowance is made for obsolete and slow moving items. Cost in respect of raw materials is based on standard cost
which approximates actual cost. Cost in respect of manufactured inventories includes attributable production overheads.
Engineering and other inventories are valued on the weighted average cost basis less appropriate allowance for obsolete items.
j) Trade and other debtors
Trade and other debtors are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible
amounts. An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are
written off as incurred.
Receivables from related parties are recognised and carried at cost less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts.
k) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand and in bank and bank deposits which are held to maturity are carried at cost. For the purpose of the Cash Flow
Statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and deposits in bank, net of bank overdrafts.
l) Trade and other creditors
Trade and other creditors are carried at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for goods and
services received, whether billed or not.
Payables to related parties are carried at cost.
m) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to
reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect of time value of money is material, the amount of the provision is the present
value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.
n) Loans and borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received and including acquisition
charges associated with the loans and borrowings.
o) Leases
Finance lease
When the group is the lessee, a finance lease which effectively transfer to the group substantially all the risks and benefits
incidental to ownership of the leased item is capitalised at the inception of the lease term and disclosed as fixed assets.
Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are taken directly to the profit statement.
Operating lease
When the group is the lessee, a lease where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the
leased item, is classified as an operating lease. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the profit statement on
a straight line basis over the lease term.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
p) Foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the local currency of the respective group companies at rates of exchange
approximating those ruling at transaction dates. All other foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates
ruling at balance sheet date or at forward rates where applicable. Exchange differences are dealt with in the profit statement
except where exchange differences arising on foreign currency monetary items that, in substance, form part of the group’s net
investment in foreign entity are taken to exchange reserves as a separate component of the shareholders’ funds until the disposal
of the net investment, at which time the exchange differences are recognised in the profit statement.
Exchange differences arising from events which are treated as exceptional, are dealt with as exceptional items in the
profit statement.
Foreign entities
On consolidation of subsidiary companies and equity accounting for joint venture companies and associated companies, profit
statement items are translated into Singapore dollars at average exchange rates ruling during the year and assets and liabilities are
translated into Singapore dollars at exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising from translation
of foreign subsidiary companies, joint venture companies and associated companies are taken directly to exchange reserves as a
separate component of the shareholders’ funds.
q) Impairment of assets
The carrying amounts of the group’s assets, other than inventories and debtors, are reviewed at each balance sheet date to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The impairment
loss is charged to the profit statement unless it reverses a previous revaluation in which case it will be charged to equity.
Reversal of impairment losses previously recognised is recorded when the decrease in impairment loss can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the write down. Such reversal is taken to the profit statement. However, the increased carrying
amount is only recognised to the extent it does not exceed what amortised cost would have been had the impairment loss not
been recognised.
r) Employee benefits
Long service leave/severance allowance/gratuity benefits
Provision for long service leave, severance allowance and gratuity benefits is made in accordance with the statutory regulations
in the country where applicable.
Defined contribution plans under statutory regulations
As required by law in certain countries, companies within the group make contribution to the state pension scheme. Contributions
to state pension schemes are recognised as compensation expense in the profit statement, in the same period as the employment
that gives rise to the contribution.
Defined benefit plan
A subsidiary in New Zealand contributes to a defined benefit pension plan for employees. The cost of providing benefits includes
the contribution for the year plus any unfunded liabilities under the plan. Contributions to the plan over the expected average
remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plan are expensed as incurred.
Share options and phantom share options
The Company has in place an Executives’ Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) for granting of options to eligible executives of the
group to subscribe for shares in the Company. Details of the Scheme are disclosed under paragraph 5 (a) of the Directors’ Report.
The Scheme expired in July 2004 and is succeeded by the Phantom Share Option Plan. There is no charge to the profit statement
upon grant or exercise of the options as the exercise price equals the market value of the shares at the time of the grant.
Accrued annual leave
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for employee entitlements to annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
s) Revenue recognition
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised upon delivery.
Dividend income of the Company from its subsidiaries is recognised when the dividend is declared payable. Other dividend
income from investments is recognised upon receipt.
Interest, royalties and management fees are recognised on an accrual basis.
t) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are generally expensed as incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of fixed assets if they
are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of an asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the
activities to prepare the asset for its intended use are in progress until the assets are ready for their intended use.
u) Exceptional items
Exceptional items are items of income and expense of such size, nature or incidence that their disclosure is relevant to explain
the performance of the Company and the group for the year.
v) Taxation
The tax charge for the year is based on the profit for the year, as adjusted for tax purposes, together with a charge or credit for
deferred taxation. Deferred taxation is provided in full, using the liability method, on all temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. The principal temporary differences arise
from depreciation on fixed assets, revaluation of certain non-current assets, provision for employee benefits and tax losses carry
forward; and in relation to acquisitions, on the difference between the fair value of the net assets acquired and their tax base.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted at, or subsequently enacted after, the balance
sheet date.
Deferred taxation is provided on all temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiary, joint venture and associated
companies, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
w) Derivative financial instruments
The group uses foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge its risks associated primarily with foreign currency fluctuations. It is
the group’s policy not to trade in derivative financial instruments. Foreign exchange forward contracts entered into by the group
are recorded as off-balance sheet items at their notional principal amounts. Details of the foreign exchange contracts entered into
by the group and the group’s financial risk management objectives and policies are set out in Note 35.
3. REVENUE
Revenue from sale of goods represents the invoiced value of net sales (including excise but excluding container deposits, trade
discounts, and goods and services tax). Other revenue represents service fees and management fees. The revenue of joint venture
and associated companies and intra-group transactions are excluded from the consolidated revenue of the group.
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The Group

The Company

2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

43,303
129
426
–
2,366
2,921
889

43,513
748
427
254
1,577
1,340
385

467
25
426
–
–
–
–

428
28
427
–
–
–
–

112,043

108,221

11,003

9,124

4,374

4,644

559

568

457
1,160
5

421
1,186
6

260
1,160
5

242
1,186
6

2,391
48

2,543
38

2,391
48

2,543
38

228
–
434

253
(20)
438

124
5
28

141
(8)
23

64
461
2,002
506

25
244
1,693
–

37
376
94
323

–
146
38
–

6,573
–
2,820
579

5,235
121
929
298

332
–
–
–

939
265
–
–

–
6,516
57
6,573

–
5,095
140
5,235

15
316
1
332

346
590
3
939

(1,890)
(112)
(2,002)
4,571

(1,542)
(151)
(1,693)
3,542

(94)
–
(94)
238

(38)
–
(38)
901

4. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION AND EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
Profit before taxation and exceptional items
has been arrived at after charging:
Depreciation of fixed assets
Loss on disposal of fixed assets (net)
Amortisation of brand
Amortisation of goodwill
Provision for and write off of doubtful trade debts
Provision for and write off of inventories
Provision for employee benefits
Staff costs (excludes directors’ and key executive
officers’ remuneration)
Defined contribution plan (excludes directors and
key executive officers)
Directors of the Company –
Fees
Other remuneration
Central Provident Fund contribution
Key executive officers –
Remuneration
Central Provident Fund contribution
Auditors’ remuneration –
Auditor of the Company
— current year
— (over)/under provision for prior year
Other auditors
Other fees paid to –
Auditor of the Company
Other auditors
Interest expenses (see below)
Exchange loss on foreign currency loans and deposits (net)
and crediting:
Interest income (see below)
Exchange gain on foreign currency loans and deposits (net)
Provision for doubtful trade debts written back
Provision for inventories written back
Net Interest Income
Interest income
Subsidiary companies
Bank and other deposits
Others
Interest expenses
Bank loans and overdrafts
Others
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5. GROUP SEGMENTAL REPORTING
The group is organised on a geographical basis. The group operates breweries in each of the following locations and sells its beer
and stout essentially in the country it is produced.
Year ended 30 September 2005
Geographical segment

Revenue
Profit before interest, taxation and
exceptional items:
Subsidiary companies
Joint venture and associated companies

Singapore
($’000)

Malaysia
($’000)

Papua
New
Guinea
($’000)

413,899

–

138,805

414,220

466,654

–

–

–

2,860

1,436,438

37,674
6,350
44,024

–
16,943
16,943

30,503
–
30,503

55,318
–
55,318

102,418
–
102,418

–
–
–

–
(3,102)
(3,102)

–
8,622
8,622

(34,308)
–
(34,308)

191,605
28,813
220,418
4,571
809
(70,467)
(39,135)
116,196

177,306
4,305
–

–
41,625
–

33,394
–
–

279,913
445
–

283,522
–
–

4,032
–
– 177,180
–
–

–
40,502
–

31,120
–
96,691

809,287
264,057
96,691
1,201
102,828
1,274,064

(51,483)

–

(12,787)

(53,530)

(85,862)

(3,852)

–

–

(33,449)

(240,963)
(54,018)
(40,024)
(335,005)

30,371
24,711
8,931
–

12,815
–
–
–

14,298
4,113
2,014
–

39,061
16,742
16,440
–

51,529
43,704
15,451
–

–
–
–
–

(3,883)
–
–
–

5,149
–
–
–

(33,144)
642
467
426

116,196
89,912
43,303
426

Brewery Investment
($’000)
($’000)

Corporate
Office
($’000)

The
Group
($’000)

2,860
(34,308)
127,222
642

1,436,438
220,418
1,274,064
89,912

New
Zealand
($’000)

Indochina
($’000)

Sri Lanka
($’000)

China
($’000)

Thailand
($’000)

Corporate
Office
($’000)

The
Group
($’000)

Net interest income
Exceptional items
Taxation
Minority interests, net of taxes
Attributable profit
Total assets:
Subsidiary companies
Joint venture and associated companies
Goodwill on acquisition
Deferred tax assets
Bank deposits and cash balances

Total liabilities:
Subsidiary companies
Provision for tax and deferred tax
Bank borrowings

Other segment information:
Attributable profit
Capital expenditure
Depreciation of fixed assets
Amortisation of brand

Business segment

1,433,578
250,815
1,093,829
89,270

Revenue
Profit before interest, taxation and exceptional items
Total assets
Capital expenditure
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

5. GROUP SEGMENTAL REPORTING (continued)
Year ended 30 September 2004
Geographical segment

Revenue
Profit before interest, taxation and
exceptional items:
Subsidiary companies
Joint venture and associated companies

Singapore
($’000)

Malaysia
($’000)

Papua
New
Guinea
($’000)

New
Zealand
($’000)

Indochina
($’000)

China
($’000)

Thailand
($’000)

Corporate
Office
($’000)

The
Group
($’000)

417,889

–

128,248

383,148

406,324

32,379

–

2,709

1,370,697

37,510
6,410
43,920

–
16,423
16,423

25,597
–
25,597

46,212
30
46,242

85,308
–
85,308

417
(8,689)
(8,272)

–
8,739
8,739

(18,353)
–
(18,353)

176,691
22,913
199,604
3,542
(2,317)
(56,090)
(42,214)
102,525

163,717
3,476
–

–
38,483
–

35,243
–
–

254,701
430
–

249,269
–
–

–
147,087
–

–
35,809
–

26,774
–
86,426

729,704
225,285
86,426
2,136
114,512
1,158,063

(42,985)

–

(13,240)

(44,166)

(74,958)

–

–

(23,441)

(198,790)
(53,073)
(36,445)
(288,308)

31,540
23,891
7,987
–

12,210
–
–
–

12,201
2,469
1,966
–

23,341
13,754
14,745
–

43,310
14,636
15,460
–

(8,502)
1,535
2,927
–

5,639
–
–
–

(17,214)
256
428
681

102,525
56,541
43,513
681

Brewery Investment
($’000)
($’000)

Corporate
Office
($’000)

The
Group
($’000)

2,709
(18,353)
112,173
256

1,370,697
199,604
1,158,063
56,541

Net interest income
Exceptional items
Taxation
Minority interests, net of taxes
Attributable profit
Total assets:
Subsidiary companies
Joint venture and associated companies
Goodwill on acquisition
Deferred tax assets
Bank deposits and cash balances

Total liabilities:
Subsidiary companies
Provision for tax and deferred tax
Bank borrowings

Other segment information:
Attributable profit
Capital expenditure
Depreciation of fixed assets
Amortisation of brand and goodwill

Business segment

Revenue
Profit before interest, taxation and exceptional items
Total assets
Capital expenditure

1,367,988
213,430
1,000,513
56,285

–
4,527
45,377
–
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The Group

The Company

2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

66
–
3,845
3,911

304
1,190
3,033
4,527

66
–
–
66

304
1,190
47
1,541

1,458
716
(1,365)
809

1,770
(376)
(3,711)
(2,317)

1,458
–
–
1,458

1,006
–
–
1,006

5,924
53,988

9,003
43,297

357
7,155

1,816
4,028

2,996
–
(1,334)
61,574
8,893
70,467

1,833
(1,192)
(5,061)
47,880
8,210
56,090

–
–
4
7,516
–
7,516

–
–
(337)
5,507
–
5,507

6. GROSS INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS
Quoted equity investments in companies
Unquoted equity investments in companies
Unquoted non-equity investments in companies

7. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
Gain on disposal of long term investments and subsidiary company
Gain/(Loss) on disposal of properties
Restructuring costs and professional fees

8. TAXATION
On profit for the year
— Singapore tax
— Overseas tax
Provision for/(Write back of) deferred taxation
— current
— due to tax rate adjustment
(Over)/Under provision in prior years
On share of profits of joint venture companies

A reconciliation between the Singapore statutory tax rate and the effective tax rate for the years ended 30 September is
as follows:
The Group

Singapore statutory tax rate
Effect of different tax rates of other countries
Effect of tax losses of subsidiary and joint venture
companies not available for set-off
Effect of non-taxable income
Effect of non-deductible expenses
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses
Effect of over provision of tax in prior years
Write back of deferred taxation due to tax rate adjustment
Others
Effective tax rate

2004
(%)

2005
(%)

2004
(%)

20.0
7.0

20.0
4.6

20.0
7.4

20.0
3.2

1.2
(0.5)
3.5
–
(0.6)
–
0.6
31.2

1.7
(0.2)
4.3
(0.2)
(2.5)
(0.6)
0.8
27.9

–
(21.4)
1.0
–
–
–
0.7
7.7

–
(19.9)
1.6
–
(0.3)
–
(0.2)
4.4
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The Group & Company
2005
2004
($’000)
($’000)

9. DIVIDENDS
Final paid in respect of the last financial year (see note below)

42

98

Interim dividend paid of 14 cents per share after deducting
Singapore income tax at 20% (2004: 14 cents per share after
deducting Singapore income tax at 20%)

35,840

35,719

41,025
76,907

35,763
71,580

Final dividend proposed of 16 cents per share (comprising
14 cents per share after deducting Singapore income tax at 20%
and a special dividend of 2 cents per share after deducting
Malaysia income tax at 28%) (2004: 14 cents per share after
deducting Singapore income tax at 20%)

The final dividend paid in respect of the last financial year was an additional amount, not previously provided in the financial
statements, as a result of shares issued upon the exercise, after the balance sheet date, of share options which qualified for the
final dividend.
The final dividend is proposed by the directors after the balance sheet date and is subject to the approval of shareholders at the
next annual general meeting of the Company.
10. EARNINGS PER $1 SHARE
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to shareholders by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to shareholders by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
The income and number of ordinary shares used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computation are:
The Group
2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

Attributable profit before exceptional items

115,539

104,826

Attributable profit after exceptional items

116,196

102,525

Number of ordinary shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue applicable to basic earnings per share
Effect of dilutive securities:
Share options
Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares
applicable to diluted earnings per share

255,904,744

255,033,026

457,704

375,434

256,362,448

255,408,460
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The Group

The Company

2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

Authorised
400,000,000 ordinary shares of $1 each

400,000

400,000

400,000

400,000

Issued and fully paid
Balance at beginning of year
255,449,879 (2004: 254,337,446) ordinary shares of $1 each

255,450

254,337

255,450

254,337

955

1,113

955

1,113

256,405

255,450

256,405

255,450

11. SHARE CAPITAL

Issued during the year
954,595 (2004: 1,112,433) ordinary shares of $1 each
following the exercise of Executives’ Share Options
Balance at end of year
256,404,474 (2004: 255,449,879) ordinary shares of $1 each

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares carry
one vote per share without restrictions.
At the end of the year, there were 1,892,999 (2004: 2,878,769) unissued ordinary shares of the Company under options granted
pursuant to the Executives’ Share Option Scheme of the Company. Details of the Scheme are disclosed in paragraph 5 (a) of the
Directors’ Report.
12. RESERVES
Non-distributable
Share premium
Capital reserves
Exchange reserves
Distributable
Revenue reserves
Exchange reserves
Dividend reserves

9,983
15,799
7,954
33,736

6,917
15,799
7,279
29,995

9,983
–
–
9,983

6,917
–
–
6,917

584,435
(50,384)
41,025
575,076
608,812

545,146
(59,695)
35,763
521,214
551,209

541,196
(450)
41,025
581,771
591,754

528,539
(450)
35,763
563,852
570,769

Revenue reserves are distributable profits retained to finance growth of the business. Based on prevailing legislation and income
tax rates of 20% and 28% for Singapore and Malaysia respectively, the Company has sufficient tax credits to distribute by way
of dividend up to $35,824,000 (2004: $156,913,000) as Singapore tax-franked dividends and $49,417,000 (2004: $48,960,000)
as Malaysia tax-franked dividends out of revenue reserves. The Singapore tax-franked dividends would have been higher at
$89,229,000 if not for a change in the basis period of tax assessment from calendar year to accounting year basis for the
Company’s dividend income for the tax years of assessment 1997 to 2000. The change in basis period was made by the Inland
Revenue Authority of Singapore (“IRAS”) during the financial year and does not involve any additional tax payable by the
Company. The Company has objected to the change as it affects the amount of tax credits available for franking of dividend, and
is presently pursuing the matter with IRAS.The Company did not exercise the option to move to the 1-tier corporate tax system in
Singapore during the financial year.
The capital reserves of the group comprise statutory reserves and asset revaluation reserves of subsidiary companies.
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13. FIXED ASSETS
The Group
Leasehold
Land
($’000)

8,744
280
–
(68)
–
736
–
9,692

Other
Fixed
Assets
($’000)

Buildings
($’000)

Plant &
Machinery
($’000)

Capital
Work-in-progress
($’000)

12,662
(55)
3,239
(323)
58
–
–
15,581

225,864
1,905
1,905
(2,902)
1,299
545
–
228,616

598,527
6,689
18,587
(29,928)
5,266
45,517
–
644,658

38,548
279
60,962
–
–
(47,073)
(88)
52,628

92,838
977,183
1,532
10,630
5,219
89,912
(7,997)
(41,218)
685
7,308
1,011
736
–
(88)
93,288 1,044,463

9,692
–
–
9,692

15,581
–
–
15,581

223,765
–
4,851
228,616

632,256
115
12,287
644,658

52,628
–
–
52,628

93,288
–
–
93,288

1,027,210
115
17,138
1,044,463

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At beginning of year
–
Currency realignment
–
Charge for the year
–
Disposals
–
Acquisition of subsidiary
–
Reclassifications
736
Impairment charge/(writeback)
(696)
At end of year
40

5,879
(36)
284
(51)
11
–
–
6,087

70,592
764
6,051
(2,489)
456
–
(4,322)
71,052

368,141
5,192
29,767
(29,808)
3,825
–
121
377,238

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

63,084
1,105
7,201
(7,699)
474
–
41
64,206

507,696
7,025
43,303
(40,047)
4,766
736
(4,856)
518,623

Net book value
At 30 September 2005

9,652

9,494

157,564

267,420

52,628

29,082

525,840

At 30 September 2004

8,744

6,783

155,272

230,386

38,548

29,754

469,487

Cost or valuation
At beginning of year
Currency realignment
Additions
Disposals
Acquisition of subsidiary
Reclassifications
Transfer to inventories
At end of year
Representing:
Cost
Valuation 1976
Valuation 1988

Freehold
Land
($’000)

Total
($’000)

(a) The valuations for 1976 and 1988 were made by the directors of a subsidiary company based on appraisals by independent valuers.
(b) Other fixed assets comprise motor vehicles, forklift trucks, beer coolers and fixtures and fittings.
(c) Fixed assets of a subsidiary company are charged as security for its bank overdraft and borrowings (see Note 28).
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13. FIXED ASSETS (continued)
The Company’s fixed assets comprise motor vehicles, fixtures and fittings and office equipment.
The Company
($’000)

Cost
At beginning of year
Additions
Disposals
At end of year

3,808
642
(273)
4,177

Accumulated depreciation
At beginning of year
Charge for the year
Disposals
At end of year

1,872
467
(151)
2,188

Net book value
At 30 September 2005

1,989

At 30 September 2004

1,936

The Company
2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

584,521
–
(7,630)
576,891

567,243
2,757
(7,631)
562,369

14. SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
Unquoted shares
Long term loan to subsidiary company (unsecured)
Long term loan from subsidiary company (unsecured)
Details of subsidiaries are included in Note 38.
The loan from subsidiary company is interest-free and is not expected to be repaid within the next 12 months.
On 4 October 2004, the Company purchased the remaining 0.54% of DB Breweries Limited (“DB”) shares in issue,
hence completing the compulsory acquisition of DB which started in financial year 2004.
Total consideration
Net assets acquired
Goodwill on acquisition

2,842
946
1,896

On 5 November 2004, the Company increased its investment in Vietnam Brewery Ltd (“VBL”) via conversion of dividends declared
by VBL into its share capital.
On 6 May 2005, Tiger Beer UK Ltd (“TBUK”), a wholly-owned subsidiary, was incorporated in England by Tiger Export Pte Ltd.
TBUK trades and distributes beer and stout.
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14. SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (continued)
On 21 September 2005, the Company subscribed for new shares in United Breweries Lanka Limited (“UBL”), resulting in the
Company holding 60% of the enlarged share capital of UBL. UBL is a limited liability company incorporated in Sri Lanka that
brews and distributes beer in Sri Lanka.
The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of UBL as at the date of acquisition are:
Recognised
on acquisition
($’000)

Fixed assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

2,542
712
778
657
4,689

Trade and other payables
Bank borrowings
Provision for employee benefits

(3,784)
(3,066)
(69)
(6,919)

Net deficit
Goodwill arising on acquisition

(2,230)
8,369
6,139

Consideration paid
Less: cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired
Net cash outflow from acquisition of a subsidiary

6,139
(657)
5,482

The fair values to be assigned to the above net assets is based provisionally on the book values as the Company just acquired
UBL on 21 September 2005. A valuation to determine the fair values of the net assets is in the process of being carried out.
The goodwill paid is mainly for UBL’s established distribution network.
For the current year, the group did not recognise any profit contribution from UBL. If the combination had taken place at the
beginning of the reporting year, the group revenue would have been $1,439,847,000, and the group profit before tax and
attributable profit would have been $224,349,000 and $115,327,000 respectively.
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The Group

The Company

2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

–
56,393
231,548
–
(24,329)
263,612

–
56,393
201,378
–
(32,916)
224,855

89,607
–
231,548
(68,000)
–
253,155

89,607
–
201,378
(68,000)
–
222,985

15. JOINT VENTURE COMPANIES
Unquoted equity shares
At cost
At net asset values on acquisition
Loans (unsecured)
Provision for impairment
Share of net post acquisition deficit

Details of joint venture companies are included in Note 38.
The loans to a joint venture company are interest-free and are not expected to be repaid within the next 12 months.
(a) The group’s share of the consolidated results of the joint venture companies is as follows:
Revenue
Profit before exceptional item
Exceptional item
Profit before taxation
Taxation

455,649
28,813
(364)
28,449
(8,893)

392,204
22,883
(503)
22,380
(8,210)

(b) The group’s share of the consolidated assets and liabilities of the joint venture companies is as follows:
Fixed assets
Investment in joint venture company
Investment in associated company
Intangibles
Current assets
Current liabilities
Non current liabilities

197,160
24,740
67,707
3,698
145,760
(119,686)
(55,767)
263,612

188,928
–
38,195
28,295
129,117
(106,206)
(53,474)
224,855

(c) There are no contingent liabilities relating to the group’s interest in the joint venture companies.
16. ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
Unquoted equity investments
At cost
Share of net post acquisition reserves

282
163
445

Details of associated companies are included in Note 38.
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The Group

The Company

2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

564

1,002

561

999

28
40,940
41,532

28
35,717
36,747

28
–
589

28
–
1,027

17. OTHER INVESTMENTS
Quoted – at cost
Equity investments in companies
Unquoted – at cost
Equity investments in companies
Non-equity investments in companies

The unquoted non-equity investments carry interest rates of 8.5% to 14% (2004: 7.5% to 14%) per annum.
Market value of quoted investments
Equity investments in companies

2,422

1,891

2,412

1,883

Brand
Cost
Balance at beginning and end of year

6,631

6,631

6,631

6,631

Accumulated amortisation
Balance at beginning of year
Amortisation for the year
Balance at end of year

(1,938)
(426)
(2,364)

(1,511)
(427)
(1,938)

(1,938)
(426)
(2,364)

(1,511)
(427)
(1,938)

Net book value

4,267

4,693

4,267

4,693

Goodwill
Cost, net of accumulated amortisation
Balance at beginning of year
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Amortisation
Balance at end of year

86,426
10,265
–
96,691

4,607
82,073
(254)
86,426

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net book value

96,691
–
96,691

87,156
(730)
86,426

–
–
–

–
–
–

100,958

91,119

4,267

4,693

18. INTANGIBLES

Total net book value
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19. IMPAIRMENT TESTS FOR GOODWILL
In accordance with FRS 103, the carrying value of the group’s goodwill on acquisition of subsidiary companies as at
30 September 2005 were assessed for impairment.
As at
30 Sep 2005
($’000)

Basis on which
recoverable values
are determined

Terminal
growth
rate

Pre-tax
discount
rate

83,969
4,353
8,369
96,691

Value-in-use
Value-in-use
Value-in-use

2%
2%
2%

11.0%
11.9%
11.1%

Carrying value of capitalised goodwill based on cash generating units
Subsidiary companies:
— DB Breweries Limited
— Hatay Brewery Limited
— United Breweries Lanka Limited (“UBL”)

Goodwill is allocated for impairment testing purposes to the individual entity which is also the cash generating unit. The valuein-use calculations apply a discounted cash flow model using cash flow projections based on financial budgets and forecasts
approved by management covering a three-year period. Cash flows beyond the third year are extrapolated using the estimated
growth rates stated in the table above.
The discount rates applied to the cash flow projections are derived from the cost of capital plus a reasonable risk premium at
the date of assessment of the respective cash generating units. The terminal growth rates used does not exceed the long term
average growth rate of the respective industry and countries in which the entity operates.
Changes to the assumptions used by the management to determine the impairment required, particularly the discount rate and
terminal growth rate, can significantly affect the results.
No impairment loss was required for the financial year ended 30 September 2005 for the goodwill assessed as their recoverable
values were in excess of their carrying values.
20. INVENTORIES
The Group

Containers
Raw materials
Manufactured goods
Packaging materials
Engineering spares,
work in progress and
other inventories

At cost
($’000)

2005
At net
realisable
value
($’000)

At cost
($’000)

2004
At net
realisable
value
($’000)

Total
($’000)

Total
($’000)

17,043
8,282
28,031
6,183

–
–
–
–

17,043
8,282
28,031
6,183

17,444
7,119
23,491
5,884

–
–
–
–

17,444
7,119
23,491
5,884

31,405
90,944

164
164

31,569
91,108

23,071
77,009

1,649
1,649

24,720
78,658

The inventories of a subsidiary company is secured against its bank overdrafts (see Note 28).
21. TRADE DEBTORS
Trade debtors of the group are stated after deducting provision for doubtful debts of $1,384,000 (2004: $3,310,000).

118
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited

Annual Report 2005

Notes to the Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

The Group

The Company

2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

7,594
3,168
1,233
2,241
3,150
1,896
2,462
21,744

4,922
547
775
1,476
3,325
–
2,548
13,593

7
2,109
–
2
1,682
1,896
38
5,734

–
–
–
–
1,636
–
95
1,731

11,481

13,123

–

–

18,468
3,845
–
528
–
–
1,743
283
24,867

6,111
2,490
–
498
500
–
–
441
10,040

22. OTHER DEBTORS
Prepayments
Deposits
Tax recoverable
Interest receivable
Staff loans
Receivable on disposal of investments
Other receivables

23. SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS
Unquoted non-equity investments, at cost

The unquoted non-equity investments carry interest rates of 8.5% to 14% (2004: 1.5% to 14%) per annum.
24. BANK FIXED DEPOSITS
The bank fixed deposits carry average interest rate of 5.3% (2004: 4.0%) per annum.
25. OTHER CREDITORS
Accrued expenses
Accrued staff costs
Deposits
Provision for unconsumed leave
Amount due to minority shareholders of subsidiary companies
Amount due to a joint venture partner
Accrued professional fees
Other payables

60,098
21,194
34
4,981
–
134
7,494
4,377
98,312

37,058
16,573
936
5,072
1,423
279
2,140
3,109
66,590

26. AMOUNTS DUE FROM SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
The amounts due from subsidiary companies are trade related, unsecured, interest-free and with no fixed terms of repayment.
27. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO JOINT VENTURE, RELATED AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
The amounts due from/to joint venture, related and associated companies are trade related, unsecured, interest-free and with
no fixed terms of repayment.
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The Group
2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

28. BANK BORROWINGS
Repayable within one year
Unsecured:
Bank borrowings
Bank overdrafts

(a)
(b)

36,276
429

34,831
1,614

Secured:
Bank borrowings
Bank overdrafts

(c)
(d)

1,071
253
38,029

–
–
36,445

Repayable after one year
Secured:
Bank borrowings

(e)

1,995

–

(a) The unsecured bank borrowings bear interest at the average rate of 7.1% (2004: 6.6%) per annum.
(b) The unsecured bank overdrafts bear interest at 11.0% (2004: 10.5%) per annum.
(c) The secured bank borrowings bear interest at the average rate of 13.0% per annum. These borrowings are secured on the fixed assets of a subsidiary
company.
(d) The secured bank overdrafts bear interest at 14.9% per annum. Overdraft of $180,000 and $73,000 are secured on the inventories and fixed assets of a
subsidiary company respectively.
(e) The secured bank borrowings repayable after one year bear interest at the average rate of 12.5% per annum. These are secured on the fixed assets of a
subsidiary company.

The carrying value of bank borrowings approximates fair value as they bear interest at rates which approximate the current
incremental borrowing rates for similar types of lending and borrowing arrangements.
29. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets at the end of the financial year relate to the following:
Differences in depreciation/others
Provision, expenses and income taken in a different period

(2,108)
3,309
1,201

(4,698)
6,834
2,136

Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities at the end of the financial year relate to the following:
Differences in depreciation
Expenses taken in a different period
Gross deferred tax liabilities

18,738
6,539
25,277

17,284
5,796
23,080

Employee benefits
Provisions taken in a different period
Gross deferred tax assets

(261)
(1,116)
(1,377)

(224)
(1,173)
(1,397)

Net deferred tax liabilities

23,900

21,683

Deferred tax liabilities of $2,413,000 (2004: $2,393,000) have not been established for the withholding and other taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of the Company as such amounts are permanently reinvested; such unremitted earnings
amounted to $12,066,000 at 30 September 2005 (2004: $11,964,000).
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30. PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Long service leave/severance allowance/gratuity
Long service leave, severance allowance and gratuity benefits are provided by subsidiary companies based on the number
of years of service that employees have rendered at the end of each financial year as required by local legislation in Vietnam,
Cambodia, Sri Lanka and Papua New Guinea.
The Group

Balance at beginning of year
Currency realignment
Provision for the year
Acquisition of subsidiary company
Payments made during the year
Balance at end of year

2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

2,214
(12)
889
69
(193)
2,967

2,056
14
385
–
(241)
2,214

Share options
At the balance sheet date, 1,892,999 (2004: 2,878,769) unissued ordinary shares of the Company were under options granted
pursuant to the Company’s Executives’ Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”). Details of the Scheme are disclosed under
paragraph 5 (a) of the Directors’ Report. The Scheme expired in July 2004 and was succeeded by the Phantom Share Option Plan.
Options

Offer date

1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004

23.12.1998
22.12.1999
20.12.2000
08.10.2001
15.10.2002
08.10.2003

Balance at
beginning of year

Lapsed

Exercised

Balance at
end of year

Exercise
price

12,879
103,460
184,730
532,700
1,003,050
1,041,950
2,878,769

–
–
–
–
(20,750)
(10,425)
(31,175)

(500)
(85,640)
(131,030)
(392,075)
(345,350)
–
(954,595)

12,379
17,820
53,700
140,625
636,950
1,031,525
1,892,999

$3.61
$4.28
$3.91
$3.79
$4.79
$6.29

Phantom Share Option Plan (“PSOP”)
The PSOP succeeds the Scheme. No shares will be issued and participants of the plan are not entitled to, and have no right or
interest in the shares of the Company. Grantees are granted options, at a specified exercise price which has been calculated as
the average of the closing market price for the thirty market days immediately before the grant (“Exercise Price”). The total number
of phantom shares that may be granted under options in any one year shall not exceed 1% of the Company’s issued share capital
at the time of the grant.
Grantees may exercise the options at any time during a 24-month exercise period (which commences 33 months after the
effective date of the grant of the option). Upon exercise of the options, an amount in cash equal to the excess (if any) of the
average of the closing market price for the thirty days immediately preceding the date the options are exercised of the phantom
shares over their Exercise Price would be paid to the grantee. In the event the excess exceeds the Exercise Price, the amount
payable by the Company to the grantee shall not exceed the Exercise Price. Options expire at the end of 57 months after the offer
date unless an option has previously lapsed by reason of the cessation of the employment of the grantee after the grant of an
option and before its exercise.
Defined benefit plan
The group makes contributions to a defined post employment benefit scheme in New Zealand. The scheme is registered under
the Superannuation Schemes Act 1989 and the funds are held in a separate trustee-administered fund. Based on an independent
qualified actuarial review, the financials of the plan are as follow:
The Group

Major assumptions used by the qualified actuary:
Rate of increase in salaries
Expected rate of return on assets
Discount rate

2005

2004

3.5%
5.0%
4.1%

3.5%
5.0%
3.9%
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The Group

The Company

2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

(20,704)
25,116
4,412
(1,080)
3,332

(17,785)
22,455
4,670
(686)
3,984

If the above assets are recognised, the defined benefit cost
for the year ended 30 September would be as follows:
Current service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Net expenses before deduction for tax

1,367
755
(1,163)
959

1,272
675
(1,077)
870

Movements in the net assets:
Opening net assets
Currency realignment
Expense as above
Contributions paid
Closing net assets

3,984
142
(959)
165
3,332

4,291
392
(870)
171
3,984

Actual return on plan assets:
Expected return on plan assets
Actuarial gain on plan assets
Actual return on plan assets

1,163
852
2,015

1,077
690
1,767

62,752
1,681
64,433

30,550
3,696
34,246

26,588
91,021

14,212
48,458

6,737
14,280
59,951
80,968

5,947
13,079
56,355
75,381

8,467

8,041

2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

792

741

30. PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
Defined benefit plan (continued)
The following table summarises the components of
net benefit (liabilities)/assets and expenses:
Present value of the obligation
Fair value of plan assets
Unrecognised actuarial gain
Assets not recognised in balance sheet

31. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Capital commitments not provided for in the financial statements:
(a) Commitments in respect of contracts placed
— Fixed assets
— Share of joint venture companies’ commitments
(b) Other amounts approved by directors but not committed
— Fixed assets

32. LEASE COMMITMENTS
Lease commitments under non-cancellable operating leases:
Payable within 1 year
Payable between 1 and 5 years
Payable after 5 years

Rental expenses (principally for offices, land and equipment)
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The Group
2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

5,250

5,029

585
5,835

565
5,594

(3,446)

(3,326)

Fraser and Neave, Limited and its subsidiaries
Management fees received
Purchase of bottles
Office rental paid
Management fees paid

741
(16,340)
(1,045)
(918)

584
(17,661)
(1,114)
(918)

Heineken N.V. and its subsidiaries
Sale of beer
Technical fees received
Royalties paid
Purchase of raw materials/beer
Technical fees paid

14,487
459
(10,744)
(5,909)
(2,188)

14,445
472
(11,549)
(5,935)
(5,082)

Joint venture companies
Sale of beer
Service fees received
Royalties received
Sale of spares
Purchase of beer

33,217
3,784
2,011
426
(5,907)

31,915
3,796
2,019
487
(3,686)

33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Contingent liabilities not provided for in the financial
statements are in respect of:
(a) guarantees given to lessors for the granting of leases
on properties
(b) guarantee given to bank on overdraft of an
associated company

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Significant related party transactions entered into by the group are:
Holding company
Management fees paid

The transactions are based on agreed fees or terms determined on a commercial basis.
35. RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company and the group are exposed to market risk, including primarily changes in currency exchange rates and interest rates
and use derivatives and other instruments in connection with its risk management activities. The Company and the group
do not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
The group has established processes to monitor and control hedging transactions in a timely and accurate manner. These policies
are reviewed regularly by the Audit and Executive Committees to ensure that the group’s policies and guidelines are adhered to.
The group’s accounting policies in relation to derivatives are set out in Note 2.
Foreign currency risk
The group has exposure to foreign exchange risk as a result of transactions denominated in foreign currencies, arising from normal
trading and investment activities. Where exposures are certain, it is the group’s policy to hedge these risks as they arise. For those
exposures less certain in their timing and extent, it is the group’s policy to cover 50% to 90% of anticipated exposure for a maximum
period of 12 months forward. The group uses foreign currency forward exchange contracts to manage these exposures.
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35. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
At 30 September 2005, the group had entered into forward foreign currency exchange buy contracts amounting to $65,040,000
(2004: $75,897,000) and forward foreign currency exchange sell contracts amounting to $26,417,000 (2004: $17,122,000). The fair
value adjustment of the buy and sell contracts (which is the difference between the notional principal amount and market value of
the contracts) is a loss of $1,920,000 (2004: $239,000) and $338,000 (2004: gain of $31,000) respectively.
Liquidity risk
The Company’s and the group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises in the general funding of the Company’s and the group’s business
activities. It includes the risk of being able to fund business activities in a timely manner.
The group manages its liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding through
a diverse source of uncommitted credit facilities from various banks and the ability to close market positions.
Credit risk
The Company’s and the group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that the counterparties fail to perform their
obligations as of 30 September 2005 in relation to each class of recognised financial assets, other than derivatives, is the carrying
amount of those assets as indicated in the balance sheet.
With respect to derivative financial instruments, credit risk arises from the potential failure of counterparties to meet their
obligations under the contract or arrangement. The group’s maximum credit risk exposure for foreign exchange contracts is
limited to the fair value gain adjustments of the foreign currency contracts, which is nil as of 30 September 2005 (2004: $351,000).
It is the Company’s and the group’s policy to enter into financial instruments with a diversity of creditworthy counterparties.
The Company and the group do not expect to incur material credit losses on its financial assets or other financial instruments.
Concentrations of credit risk exist when changes in economic, industry or geographical factors similarly affect the group of
counterparties whose aggregate credit exposure is significant in relation to the group’s total credit exposure. The group’s portfolio
of financial instruments is broadly diversified along geographic lines, and transactions are entered into with diverse creditworthy
counterparties, thereby mitigating any significant concentration of credit risk.
Interest rate risk
The Company’s and the group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to its investment portfolio in
fixed deposits and bonds and its debt obligations with financial institutions. The Company’s and the group’s policy is to manage
its interest cost using a mix of fixed and variable rate debts. The group is in a net interest income position for the financial years
ended 30 September 2005 and 2004.
Market risk
The Company and the group are exposed to market risk and risk of impairment in the value of investments held. The Company
and the group manage the risk of impairment by evaluation of investment opportunities, continuously monitoring the performance
of investments held and assessing the market risk relevant to the investments.
Fair values
The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments for which it is
practicable to estimate that value:
Cash and bank balances, other receivables and other payables
The carrying amounts of these balances approximate fair value due to their short term nature.
Trade receivables and trade payables
The carrying amounts of trade receivables and trade payables approximate fair value because these are subject to normal trade
credit terms.
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35. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Amounts due from/to related companies
The carrying amounts of amounts due from/to related companies in current assets and current liabilities approximate fair value
due to their short term nature.
No disclosure of fair value is made for non-current amounts due from/to related companies, as it is not practicable to determine
their fair values with sufficient reliability since these balances have no fixed terms of repayment.
Other quoted investments
The aggregate fair value of other quoted investments in Note 17 which are not carried at fair value in the balance sheet is
presented below. The fair value of the quoted investments is determined by reference to market value.
The Group

Carrying amount
Aggregate net fair value

2005
($’000)

2004
($’000)

564
2,422

1,002
1,891

36. UNUSUAL ITEM
As previously announced in September 2003, the former Finance Manager of wholly-owned subsidiary, Asia Pacific Breweries
(S) Pte Ltd (“APBS”), Chia Teck Leng (“CTL”), was arrested by the police and subsequently charged in Court and convicted on
multiple charges for cheating and using forged documents to obtain and operate unauthorised bank accounts in the name of
APBS with CTL as the sole signatory.
In September 2004, four banks, Bayerische Hypo-und Vereinsbank Aktiengesellschaft, Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken, Mizuho
Corporate Bank Ltd and Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, commenced separate actions against APBS for a total sum
amounting to approximately $117.1 million.
Drew & Napier LLC has been instructed to defend APBS in each of these actions. Parties are in the midst of discovery and the
trials are expected to take place early next year. Our lawyers have advised that based on the existing documents and instructions,
APBS has good arguable defences and will be vigorously defending the claims. Consequently, no provision in the financial
statements is considered necessary.
37. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.
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38. SUBSIDIARY, JOINT VENTURE AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
Percentage of Equity Held
2005
2004

Name of Company

Principal Activities

Country of
Incorporation/
Place of Business

Subsidiary Companies
Held By Parent Company

Asia Pacific Breweries (Singapore) Pte Ltd

100.0

100.0

Brewing and
distribution of
beer and stout

Singapore

Tiger Export Pte Ltd

100.0

100.0

Export of beer and
stout

Singapore

Archipelago Brewery Co. (1941) Pte Ltd

100.0

100.0

Dormant

Singapore

Asia Pacific Breweries (India) Private Limited **

100.0

100.0

Dormant

India

Tiger Marketing Pte Ltd

100.0

100.0

Investment holding

Singapore

75.8

75.8

Brewing and
distribution of beer

Papua New Guinea

100.0

99.5

Investment holding
and brewing and
distribution of beer

New Zealand

80.0

80.0

Brewing and
distribution of beer

Cambodia

100.0

100.0

Brewing and
distribution of beer

Vietnam

Vietnam Brewery Limited *

60.0

60.0

Brewing and
distribution of beer

Vietnam

United Breweries Lanka Limited *

60.0

–

Brewing and
distribution of beer

Sri Lanka

South Pacific Brewery Limited ###
DB Breweries Limited *

Cambodia Brewery Ltd ***
Hatay Brewery Limited *
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38. SUBSIDIARY, JOINT VENTURE AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES (continued)
Percentage of Equity Held
2005
2004

Name of Company

Principal Activities

Other Subsidiary Companies

Country of incorporation & place of business: USA
Tiger Beer USA Inc. ****
Tiger Beer UK Ltd @
(incorporated on 6 May 2005)

100.0
100.0

100.0
–

Distribution of beer
Distribution of beer and stout

100.0
55.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

99.5
54.7
99.5
99.5
99.5
99.5
99.5
99.5
99.5
99.5
99.5

Trustee company
Brewing and distribution of beer
Insurance company
Franchise company
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant

GAPL Pte Ltd ##

50.0

50.0

Heineken-APB (China) Pte. Ltd.

50.0

50.0

Investment holding and
distribution of stout
Investment holding

Country of incorporation & place of business: Thailand
Thai Asia Pacific Brewery Co Ltd ##

35.0

35.0

Brewing and distribution of beer

35.0

35.0

Distribution of beer

50.0

49.7

Hire of returnable beer bottles

Country of incorporation & place of business: New Zealand
DB Nominees Limited *
DB South Island Brewery Limited *
DBG Insurances Limited *
Liquorland Limited *
Monteith’s Brewing Company Limited*
Robbie Burns Limited *
Tui Brewery Limited *
Black Dog Brewery Limited *
O Pure Water Limited *
Mainland Brewery Limited *
Waitemata Brewery Limited *
Joint Venture Companies
Held By Parent Company
Country of incorporation & place of business: Singapore

Held by Subsidiary Company

Country of incorporation & place of business: Thailand
Thai Asia Pacific Trading Co Ltd ##
Associated Companies
Held By Subsidiary Company

Country of incorporation & place of business: New Zealand
The Associated Bottlers Company Ltd *

# Financial year ends on 31 December
* Audited by Ernst & Young in the respective countries
** Audited by Sushmita Chowdhury & Co.
*** Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
**** Audited by Metis Group CPA’s LLC
## Audited by KPMG in the respective countries
### Audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
@ No audit is required at 30 September 2005 for Tiger Beer UK as it is less than 18 months from date of its incorporation
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As at 8 December 2005

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS (as shown in the Register of Members)
No.

Shareholder’s Name

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.

Asia Pacific Investment Pte Ltd
Heineken International B.V.
Fraser and Neave, Limited
The Great Eastern Life Assurance Co Ltd
Oversea-Chinese Bank Nominees Pte Ltd
HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd
United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd
The Overseas Assurance Corporation Ltd
The Asia Life Assurance Society Ltd
Lee Foundation
DBS Nominees Pte Ltd
National University of Singapore
Raffles Investments (Singapore) Pte Limited
Asia General Holdings Limited
Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd
Raffles Nominees Pte Ltd
Koh Pi Wen
Selat Pte Limited
Thia Cheng Song
Estate of Tan Eng Ho @ Tan Eng Hoe, Deceased

Size of Holding

1–999
1,000–10,000
10,001–1,000,000
1,000,001 and above

Number of
Shares

%

167,333,732
23,880,560
12,238,058
9,466,906
8,683,884
3,182,685
2,599,368
2,330,932
1,456,654
1,129,192
949,094
698,904
632,812
585,394
492,610
486,660
444,000
411,466
317,000
269,000
237,588,911

65.24
9.31
4.77
3.69
3.39
1.24
1.01
0.91
0.57
0.44
0.37
0.27
0.25
0.23
0.19
0.19
0.17
0.16
0.12
0.11
92.63

Number of
Shareholders

%

Number of
Shares

%

158
1,499
358
10
2,025

7.80
74.03
17.68
0.49
100.00

58,699
4,897,771
19,216,583
232,301,971
256,475,024

0.02
1.91
7.49
90.58
100.00

Direct Interest
(Number of shares)

Deemed Interest
(Number of shares)

167,333,732
23,880,560
12,238,058
7,810,842

–
167,333,732
167,333,732
12,638,630

Substantial Shareholders (as shown in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

Asia Pacific Investment Pte Ltd
Heineken International B.V.
Fraser and Neave, Limited
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited

Based on the Register of Substantial Shareholders, the percentage of shareholding of the Company held in the hands of the
public is more than 10 percent, and this complies with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual.
Note:
* ‘Substantial Shareholders’ are those shareholders who own at least 5% of the equity of the Company.
* ‘Deemed Interest’ in shares arise, for example, when a person (including a company) owns at least 20% of another company which in turn owns shares
in Asia Pacific Breweries Limited. The person is “deemed” to have an interest in the Asia Pacific Breweries Limited shares owned by that other company.
It is, therefore, possible for several persons to be deemed interested in the same shares.
This note is merely illustrative. For a full understanding of the scope of the regulations, it is necessary to refer to the Singapore Companies Act.
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Particulars of Group Properties
The properties included in land and buildings (Note 13 of the Notes to the Financial Statements) at 30 September 2005 and their
net book values are indicated below:
Land
($’000)

Buildings
($’000)

768

1,244

New Zealand
17.4 hectares industrial property for Waitemata Brewery at Auckland
9.1 hectares industrial property for Mainland Brewery – Timaru
10.8 hectares industrial property for Tui Brewery – Pahiatua

7,864
335
685

42,382
6,030
–

Total Freehold

9,652

49,656

–
2,370

39,573
3,000

1,295

8,309

614

313

286

298

–

–

4,881

17,611

–

21,200

Sri Lanka
2.3
hectares industrial property at Mawathagama
(Lease expires yr 2027)

48

843

Cambodia
11.3 hectares industrial property at Kandal Province
(Land rights expires yr 2065)

–

16,761

9,494

107,908

19,146

157,564

Freehold

Singapore
Residential properties

Leasehold

Singapore
8.8
hectares industrial property at Jurong (Lease expires yr 2046)
Residential properties (Lease expires yr 2877)
Papua New Guinea
2.2
hectares industrial property at Port Moresby
(Lease expires yr 2067)
7.7
hectares industrial property at Lae and Goroka
(Lease expires yr 2057/2067)
1.0
hectare residential properties (Leases expire yr 2057/2071)
New Zealand
8.0
hectares industrial property for Monteith’s Brewery – Greymouth
(Lease expires yr 2020)
Vietnam
13.0 hectares industrial property at Ho Chi Minh City
(Lease expires yr 2021)
30.0 hectares industrial property at Van Tao Village – Hatay Province
(Lease expires yr 2046)

Total Leasehold
Total
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Interested Person Transactions
Particulars of interested person transactions for the period from 1 October 2004 to 30 September 2005 as required under
Rule 907 of the SGX Listing Manual.

Name of interested person

Heineken Group of Companies
(“Heineken”)
Fraser and Neave, Limited
(“F&NL”)
Fraser & Neave Holdings Bhd
#
*

Aggregate value of all interested person
transactions (excluding transactions less than
$100,000 and transactions conducted under
shareholders’ mandate pursuant to Rule 920)

Aggregate value of all interested person
transactions conducted under shareholders’
mandate pursuant to Rule 920 (excluding
transactions less than $100,000)

$4,788,191#

$36,654,114*

$742,423

$31,935,077*

–

$18,118,368

This relates to royalties paid/payable to Heineken for two trade mark licence agreements entered into in 2004, set out in the Circular to the Shareholders
dated 9 February 2004, and approved by the shareholders on 27 February 2004.
Value of Interested Person Transactions amounting to $31,935,077 each for both Heineken and F&NL are in respect of transactions between HeinekenAPB (China) Pte Ltd as the interested person, and the Asia Pacific Breweries Limited Group as the entity at risk. The full value of the transactions has been
aggregated in each interested person group of Heineken and F&NL.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited
(Company Registration No. 193100007K)
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
Date:
Place:

Tuesday 24 January 2006
Level 2, Alexandra Point, 438 Alexandra Road, Singapore 119958

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 72nd Annual General Meeting of ASIA PACIFIC BREWERIES LIMITED will be held at Level 2,
Alexandra Point, 438 Alexandra Road, Singapore 119958 on Tuesday 24 January 2006 at 10.00am for the following purposes:
ROUTINE BUSINESS
1. To receive and adopt the report of the directors and audited financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2005.
2. To approve a final dividend of 16 cents per share (comprising 14 cents after deduction of Singapore income tax at 20% and a
special dividend of 2 cents after deducting Malaysian income tax at 28%) in respect of the year ended 30 September 2005.
3. To pass the following resolutions in respect of appointment of Directors:
(a) “That pursuant to Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, Dr Michael Fam be and is hereby re-appointed as a
Director of the Company to hold such office until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.”
(b) “That pursuant to Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, Mr Lee Yong Siang be and is hereby re-appointed as a
Director of the Company to hold such office until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.”
Subject to his re-appointment, Mr Lee who is considered an independent director, will be re-appointed as Chairman of the
Audit and Remuneration Committees and a Member of the Nominating Committee.
(c) “That Mr Goh Yong Hong who retires by rotation be and is hereby re-appointed as a Director of the Company.”
Subject to his re-appointment, Mr Goh who is considered an independent director, will be re-appointed as Chairman of the
Nominating Committee and a Member of the Audit and Remuneration Committees.
(d) “That Mr Siep Hiemstra, who was appointed during the year, be and is hereby re-appointed as a Director of the Company.”
Subject to his re-appointment, Mr Hiemstra will be re-appointed as a Member of the Executive Committee and appointed
as a Member of the Nominating Committee.
4. To approve directors’ fees of $434,000 payable by the Company for the year ending 30 September 2006 (2005: $237,000).
5. To appoint auditors for the ensuing year and authorise the directors to fix their remuneration.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting (continued)

SPECIAL BUSINESS
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following Resolutions which will be proposed as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without any
modifications:
6. “That approval be and is hereby given to the Directors to allot and issue from time to time such number of ordinary shares in
the capital of the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to the exercise of options under the Asia Pacific
Breweries Limited Executives’ Share Option Scheme.”
7. “That:
(a) approval be and is hereby given, for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (“Chapter 9”), for the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies that are entities at risk (as that
term is used in Chapter 9), or any of them, to enter into any of the transactions falling within the types of interested person
transactions described in the Appendix of the Letter to Shareholders dated 3 January 2006 (the “Letter”) with any party
who is of the class of interested persons described in the Appendix to the Letter, provided that such transactions are made
on normal commercial terms and in accordance with the review procedures for such interested person transactions;
(b) the approval given in paragraph (a) above (the “Shareholders Mandate”) shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in
general meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company; and
the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts and things (including executing
all such documents as may be required) as they may consider expedient or necessary or in the interests of the Company to
give effect to the New Shareholders Mandate and/or this Resolution.”
OTHER
8. To transact any other business which may properly be brought forward.
By Order of the Board
Anthony Cheong Fook Seng
Company Secretary

Singapore, 3 January 2006

A member of the Company entitled to attend the meeting and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote instead of him; a proxy need not be a
member of the Company. The instrument appointing a proxy (a form is enclosed) must be deposited with the company secretary at the registered office not
less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting.

Statement pursuant to Article 60 of the Company’s Articles of Association
The effects of the resolutions under the heading “Special Business” in the Notice of the forthcoming Annual General Meeting are:
(a) Ordinary Resolution No. 6 is to authorise the Directors to allot and issue from time to time such number of ordinary shares in
the capital of the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to the exercise of options under the Asia Pacific
Breweries Limited Executives’ Share Option Scheme.
(b) Ordinary Resolution No. 7 is to renew the mandate to permit the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies that are
entities at risk (as that term is used in Chapter 9), or any of them, to enter into any of the transactions falling within the types of
interested person transactions described in the Appendix of the Letter.

132
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited

Annual Report 2005

Notice of Annual General Meeting

Proxy Form –
Annual General Meeting
Asia Pacific Breweries Limited
(Company Registration No. 193100007K)
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

IMPORTANT:
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy Asia Pacific Breweries Limited
shares, this Annual Report is forwarded to them at the request of their CPF
Approved Nominees and is sent FOR INFORMATION ONLY.
2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be ineffective for all
intents and purposes if used, or purported to be used, by them.
3. CPF Investors who wish to attend the Annual General Meeting as OBSERVERS
have to submit their requests through their respective Agent Banks so that their
Agent Banks may register, in the required format, with the Company Secretary, Asia
Pacific Breweries Limited. (Agent Banks: please see note No. 9 on required format).

I/We
being a member/members of ASIA PACIFIC BREWERIES LIMITED
hereby appoint Michael Fam, whom failing Goh Yong Hong, whom failing Han Cheng Fong, whom failing D R Hazelwood, whom
failing Siep Hiemstra, whom failing Koh Poh Tiong, whom failing Lee Yong Siang, each being a Director of the Company or (Note 2)
Name

Address

NRIC/
Passport No.

Proportion of Shareholdings
(Note 3)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on
Tuesday 24 January 2006 and at any adjournment thereof. The proxy is to vote on the business before the meeting as indicated
below (if no indication is given the proxy may vote or abstain from voting at his discretion, as he may on any other matter arising
at the meeting):
(Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided, whether you wish your vote(s) to be cast for or against the Resolutions as set
out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting.)
No. Resolutions relating to:
Routine Business
1.
To receive and adopt the report of the directors and audited financial statements for the year ended
30 September 2005.
2.
To approve a final dividend of 16 Singapore cents per share (comprising 14 cents per share after
deduction of Singapore income tax at 20% and a special dividend of 2 cents per share after
deducting Malaysian income tax at 28%) in respect of the year ended 30 September 2005.
3.
(a) To re-appoint director: Dr Michael Fam
(b) To re-appoint director: Mr Lee Yong Siang
(c) To re-appoint director: Mr Goh Yong Hong
(d) To re-appoint director: Mr Siep Hiemstra
4.
To approve directors’ fees of $434,000 payable by the Company for the year ending
30 September 2006.
5.
To appoint auditors for the ensuing year and authorise the directors to fix their remuneration.
Special Business
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following Resolution which will be proposed as Ordinary
Resolution, with or without any modifications:
6.
“That approval be and is hereby given to the Directors to allot and issue from time to time such
number of ordinary shares in the capital of the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to
the exercise of options under the Asia Pacific Breweries Limited Executives’ Share Option Scheme.”
7.
Renewal of the Shareholders Mandate.

For

Against

As witness my/our hand this __________day of _____________________ 2006.
Total Number of
Shares in
CDP Register
Register of Members

Signature/Common Seal of Member(s)
IMPORTANT – PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF
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No. of Shares
(Note 5)

Proxy Form (continued)

NOTES TO PROXY FORM
1. A member of the Company entitled to attend the meeting and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote instead of him; a proxy need not be a
member of the Company. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited with the Company Secretary at the registered office not less than 48 hours
before the time appointed for holding the meeting.
2. If any other proxy is preferred, strike out the names of the directors mentioned and add the name and address of the proxy desired in the blank
boxes provided.
3. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his holding (expressed as a percentage
of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.
4. Completion and return of this instrument appointing a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and voting at the meeting. Any appointment of a
proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a member attends the meeting in person, and in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to
admit any person or persons appointed under this instrument of proxy, to the meeting.
5. If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Cap.50 of Singapore), he
should insert that number of shares. If the member has shares registered in his name in the Register of Members of the Company, he should insert that number
of shares. If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository Register and registered in his name in the Register of Members, he should
insert the number of shares entered against his name in the Depository Register and registered in his name in the Register of Members. If no number is
inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to relate to all shares held by the member.
6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the instrument
appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its common seal or under the hand of its attorney or a duly
authorised officer.
7. Where an instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must
(failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.
8. The Company shall be entitled to reject a Proxy Form which is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not
ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified on and/or attached to the Proxy Form. In addition, in the case of a member whose shares are
entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject a Proxy Form if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his
name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the
Company.
9. Agent Banks acting on the request of CPF Investors who wish to attend the meeting as Observers are required to submit in writing, a list with details of the
investors' name, NRIC/Passport numbers, addresses and numbers of shares held. The list, signed by an authorised signatory of the agent bank, should reach
the Company Secretary, at the registered office of the Company not later than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting.
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